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wATEr
Kemira’s vision is to become a leading water

chemistry company, focused on serving customers

in water intensive industries.

cuSTOMEr-OrIENTED
customers can increasingly benefit from Kemira’s broad

water-related expertise. All of Kemira’s operations are centered

on the customer, and the profound understanding of their water

treatment needs.

GLOBAL
The company operates in about 40 countries

and has nearly 8,500 employees.

SuccESfuL
Kemira’s operating profit in 2009, excluding non-recurring

items, was Eur 175 million. The operating profit percent,

excluding non-recurring items, increased from 4.7 percent

to 7 percent, while gearing decreased from 107 percent

to 53 percent.
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SHANGHAI, cHINA

wHAT GOES 
ArOuND, 
cOMES ArOuND
The most important raw material in the 
pulp and paper industry is used paper. 
Recovered printing and writing paper, 
brown grades and mixed wastepaper grades 
can be turned into � ber and used to produce 
printing paper. Kemira offers a broad range 
of chemicals to provide solutions that 
help produce quality recycled � ber in an 
ef� cient, cost effective, and environmentally 
responsible manner. One of the company’s 
important market areas, China, is the 
world’s biggest user of recycled � ber.

The movie classic Giant portrays a freshly 
found oil source, gushing black gold to 
the sky. When the greatest pressure has 
evened out, the oil will need to be retrieved 
from the caves by using pressurized water. 
The problem with using water lies in its 
friction-proneness. Kemira has succeeded 
in developing a line of friction-reducing 
chemicals remarkably more ef� cient than 
average. These products combine ef� cient 
friction reduction properties and excellent 
dissolutions rates. 

cHArLOTTE, NOrTH cArOLINA, uNITED STATES

GOOD-BYE TO SMELLIES
In 2007, a paper mill in North Carolina was in trouble. 
Some of its neighbors had complained to the Charlotte 
County Environmental Agency about the industrial 
odors, and the factory faced the risk of having to shut 
down. To determine an effective and economical way of 
eliminating the odor caused by volatile fatty acids (VFAs), 
the manufacturer turned to Kemira for help. The chlorine 
dioxide program chosen as the solution yielded dramatic 
and permanent results. The smell was dispelled and 
neighborliness returned.

MOScOw, ruSSIA

THE POwEr 

Of ATTrAcTION 

Interested in a whole new dimension 

for home or of� ce décor? Tikkurila’s 

convenient magnetic special paint 

turns a wall into a surface that allows 

you to use magnets to put up posters, 

drawings, memos or, say, recipes.

is the average daily per capita 

consumption of domestic water 

in India. The corresponding 

fi gure for france is 287 liters 

and 594 liters for uSA.

SOurcE: HOEKSTrA & cHAPAGAIN (2008)
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the year 2009 was exceptional. Kemira, like 
many other companies, felt the impacts of 
global recession. In these challenging con-
ditions, we kept our focus on ensuring a 

strong cash flow and on bringing the planned cost 
savings and streamlining programs to completion. 
We exceeded our targets: Kemira’s result increased, 
as did the operative profitability of all our seg-
ments. Kemira’s revenue in 2009 was EUR 2.5 bil-
lion and the operating profit EUR 157.4 million. 
Our most important achievement was the signifi-
cant reduction of gearing ratio to 53 percent. 

Tikkurila, Kemira’s paints and coatings business, 
also performed well despite the challenging busi-
ness environment. Tikkurila has been managed in-
dependently since 2008. During 2009, Tikkurila’s 
strategy was sharpened, its operational efficiency 
was improved and company values were defined. 
In February 2010, the Kemira Board proposed to 
the AGM that 86 percent of Tikkurila shares be 
distributed as dividends to Kemira’s sharehold-
ers. Tikkurila’s shares are expected to be listed 
on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd in March 2010. 

These improvements show that we are clearly 
getting closer to our vision – being a leading wa-
ter chemistry company. Meeting that target also re-
quires profitable growth which we are now seek-
ing from the emerging markets and through our 
strong water chemistry know-how. We are concen-
trating our efforts on serving water-intensive in-
dustries, which need efficient means for manag-
ing the quality and quantity of water. 

In 2009, the discussion on the global water is-
sue intensified. When it comes to creating alterna-
tives to recycling and more efficient use of water, 
chemistry plays a key role. The accelerating wa-
ter scarcity, stricter legislation and customer-driv-
en streamlining of operations open up opportuni-
ties for creating new water applications. Processing 
fresh water from sea water is one example of our 
newest research areas. 

For Kemira, the year 2009 was very good, con-
sidering the weakened global economy. Success  
required from us determination, hard work and  
a positive attitude. These guidelines show the  
way to a promising future. 

I wish you a pleasant reading experience  
with Kemira’s renewed annual report. 

Harri Kerminen 
president and ceo of kemira

dear 
reader,

producer: Sanoma magazineS Finland 

cuStom publiSHing printer: erweKo
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chemical maRket Related tO wateR 
tReatment, pROcess efficiency and 
stability in wateR intensive industRies. 
maRket size appROximately euR 25 billiOn.

pÖyRy, mcilvaine and kemiRa management estimatepÖyRy, mcilvaine and kemiRa management estimate

maRket by 
RegiOns

maRket by 
segments 

papeR

municipal & industRial

Oil & mining

35%

40%

25%

euROpe, middle east and afRica

nORth ameRica

emeRging maRkets

(apac & sOuth ameRica)

30%

30%

40%

our planet has only one water mass, 

which we use continuously. fortunately, 

water chemistry offers means to 

effectively recycle and treat water. 

intro
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The greater the need for water in an 
industry, the more pressing the need for 
optimizing water use. For example, the 
paper and pulp industry is highly prone 
to disturbances in water availability and 
quality. The oil industry needs more wa-
ter in order to pump petroleum from ma-
turing drilling areas. The mining industry 
is highly dependent on water availability 
in deposit areas.

Solving these problems requires diverse 
expertise in water treatment. This pres-
ents incredible business opportunities for 
Kemira, who aims to become a leader in 
water chemistry. The company estimates 
that the global chemical market related 
to water treatment, process efficiency and 
stability in water intensive industries is 
worth approximately EUR 25 billion.

oil price fluctuations set the 
pace for the world economy  
in both the short and the  
long term. In the future, wa-

ter may replace oil as the primary 
economic indicator. 

Due to population growth, our most 
necessary natural resource is becom-
ing ever more scarce in most parts of 
the world. Only one percent of the 
world’s water is easily available for use. 
In other words, most of the water we 
use has been recycled. 

Urbanization presents a tough chal-
lenge for municipal wastewater treat-
ment. The industry struggles to rise to 
the challenges presented by strict envi-
ronmental regulations and increased  
water price. 

a vitally important business
text Kati HeiKinHeimo photo iStocKpHoto

water

intro

intro
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kemira will take part in 
World Expo 2010 in 
Shanghai as a partner in 

Finpro’s EXPO 2010 project. 
The event, opening in May, 
is expected to attract over 70 
million visitors. Kemira has 
been active in China for years, 
and all the company’s business 
segments are present in the 
Chinese market through their 
sales organizations. 

Kemira also operates an 
R&D center in China. Opened 
in 2007, the center develops 
solutions especially for Asian 
customers.  

new r&d center in atlanta
In September 2009, Kemira opened its North Ameri-
can R&D center in Atlanta. This is the fourth of five 
centers in the company’s new R&D organization. The 
Atlanta center is globally responsible for research re-
lated to tissue and recycled fiber, to the oil and mining 
industries and to defoaming and polymer chemistry. 

reinForced operationS in india
The Indian market is growing despite the current state 
of the global economy – also for many of Kemira’s 
business segments. In fall 2009, Kemira established an 
office and a warehouse in the state of Andhra Pradesh. 
Located in the city of Hyderabad, this office serves 
customers in the water management and the paper in-
dustries, both directly and through distributors. 

new logiSticS center near moScow
Tikkurila, Kemira’s paints and coatings business, 
opened a new logistics and customer service center  
in Mytish, near Moscow, in April 2009. This center  
integrates all of Tikkurila’s operations – sales, mar-
keting and warehousing – into a highly effective 
supply chain. 
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awards showcase
a Selection oF awardS For Kemira

kemira at 
world expo 
2010 in 
shanghai

in brief

recognition the nordic ecolabel

“the Swan”

gold industrial 

wastewater pretreatment 

compliance award

contribution to 

Sustainable development

Safe on asphalt

iSSued to exterior paints, alcro-

beckers ab, a subsidiary of 

tikkurila, kemira’s paints 

and coatings business

kemira municipal & 

industrial, st. louis

kemira’s patented waste 

effluent technology 

in nordalu’s plant in 

neümunster, germany

kemira’s formates 

(on which clearway and 

meltium are based)

granted by ecolabelling sweden ab   

read more:  

www.svanen.nu and  

www.ymparistomerkki.fi/en

missouri water 

environment association 

(mwea)

the association for studies 

and the promotion of the 

economy of schleswig-

holstein 

finnish environment 

institute

more 

inFormation

alcro-beckers is the first 

company to display the 

swan ecolabel on exterior 

paints.

kemira’s silver award in 

2007 was followed by  

gold in 2008.  

kemira’s technology  

helped reduce the amount  

of aluminum waste  

by 85 percent.

unlike traditional de-icers, 

kemira’s products do not 

affect groundwater quality.

in brief
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kemira’s new DesinFix technology is 
a chlorine-free disinfection system 
that requires minimal space and 

features easy installation and excellent 
cost-effi ciency. Based on a mixture of 
formic acid and hydrogen peroxide, 
DesinFix kills the bacteria in water 
in 10 minutes. 

Intended primarily for municipal 
wastewater treatment, the DesinFix tech-
nology can also be applied to industrial 
process waters and many other uses. 

desinfix disinfects safely

for a 
healthier 
baltic sea

in August 2009, Kemira 
organized the Baltic Sea 
Summit for experts and 

decision-makers. The event 
focused on wastewater 
treatment in the Baltic Sea 
basin area. 

general manager aiJa Jantunen 

From Kemira’S municipal & induStrial 

Segment: wHat waS 

tHe purpoSe oF tHe event?

Kemira’s goal is to be a signifi cant player 
in securing a brighter future for the Baltic 
Sea. During the event, Kemira signed the 
Baltic Sea Commitment to Act, promising 
to invest expertise and considerable re-
search in preventing eutrophication.

How do Kemira’S SolutionS 

worK againSt eutropHication?

The sludge treatment services Kemira 
provides its customers are guided by safe 
and effi cient recycling of nutrients. In the 
Nordic countries, where heavy metals 

have long since ceased to be a problem, 
Kemira disinfects the sludge and seeks to 
redirect it to be used as nutrients and soil 
conditioners in plant production.

wHat concrete meaSureS 

will be taKen in 2010?

Kemira and its partners will launch an 
extensive research project on recycling 
nutrients, with the goal of further re-
fi ning nutrients from municipal sludge 
and other organic materials for plant 
production.

wHy iS Kemira inveSting in tHe 

protection oF tHe baltic Sea?

The Baltic Sea is one of the most polluted 
waters in the world, eutrophicated main-
ly by phosphorus and nitrogen. Kemira 
operates in all countries surrounding 
the Baltic Sea. The company has active-
ly used its expertise in water treatment 
and guided its clients in implementing 
chemical precipitation of phosphorus 
in the area. 

1u
sd

an investment of 1 usd in 
water management saves 4 
to 12 usd in healthcare costs. 
source: world health organiZation

kemira plays an 
active role in 
securing a better 
future for the 
baltic sea, the 
most polluted sea 
in the world. 

aiJa Jantunen is responsible 

for the municipal & industrial 

segment’s business operations 

in finland and the baltic states. 

did you Know?

in brief
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strategy  – ceo’s interview

text matti remeS photos getty imageS and SuSanna KeKKonen 

“We have made excellent progress on 
implementing our water-focused strategy, and 
Kemira is well-poised to continue this work. The 
focus will now be on profitable growth,” says 
Harri Kerminen, Kemira’s President and CEO. 

kemira sets its sights on

profitable
growth

kemira is focused on serving customer groups 

that operate in water-intensive industries and 

thus require efficient means for water quality 

and quantity management. kemira’s vision is to 

become a leading water chemistry company.

kemira’s strategy

strategy – ceo's interview
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Revenue 
by segment

OpeRating pROfit 
by segment

shaRe Of capital  
emplOyed by segment

papeR

municipal & industRial

Oil & mining

tikkuRila

OtheRs (including e.g. chemsOlutiOns)

36%

24%

9%

21%

9%

papeR

municipal & industRial

Oil & mining

tikkuRila

OtheRs (including e.g. chemsOlutiOns)

26%

38%

8%

29%

0%

papeR

municipal & industRial

Oil & mining

tikkuRila

OtheRs (including e.g. chemsOlutiOns)

40%

18%

8%

15%

19%

w
Hat waS tHe buSineSS 

environment liKe For 

Kemira in 2009?

Kemira operates on a 
global level. We serve 

customers on every continent, in a com-
petitive and international business envi-
ronment. Last year, no company escaped 
the effects of the recession. In some of 
our customer groups, such as the con-
struction and the mining industries, de-
mand decreased substantially. On the 
other hand, demand in municipal wa-
ter treatment, for example, remained sta-
ble. All in all, decrease in total sales was 
moderate compared to year 2008. We 
saw positive development especially in 
the Chinese and Brazilian markets, where 
capacity utilization rates in our custom-
er companies began to rise in the spring. 
This was one of the first signs of econom-
ic recovery. 

wHat were Kemira’S greateSt 

acHievementS in 2009?

All things considered, Kemira weathered 
the difficult year extremely well. Our 
main goals were to maintain a positive 
cash flow and complete the cost savings 
and efficiency measures we had agreed on 
earlier. We exceeded these targets. In ad-
dition, the Group’s result as well as prof-
itability of all the segments improved.

We were able to reduce gearing con-
siderably, which was one of our biggest 
accomplishments. At the beginning of 
2009, Kemira’s gearing was 107 percent, 
but it decreased to 53 percent toward the 
end of the year, owing to very strong cash 
flow and the rights issue. Our target level 
for gearing is between 40 and 80 percent. 

In February 2008, due to the general 
economy, we decided to defer listing Tik-
kurila, our paints and coatings business, 
on the Helsinki Stock Exchange. In Feb-
ruary 2010, the Kemira Board proposed 
to the AGM that 86 percent of Tikkurila 
shares be distributed as dividends to Ke-
mira’s shareholders. Tikkurila’s shares are 
expected to be listed on NASDAQ OMX 
Helsinki Ltd in March 2010.

Kemira iSSued new SHareS in december 

2009, collecting Some eur 200 million 

From itS current ownerS. How will 

tHeSe FundS be uSed?

The funds from issuing new shares will 
be used to support our growth strate-
gy and our vision to be a leading water 
chemistry company, and enable us to sep-
arate Tikkurila from the parent company 
and lists its shares. The rights offering al-
so strengthened our balance sheet.

Kemira adopted a new, 

water-FocuSed Strategy in 2008. 

wHat doeS tHiS mean in practice?

Above all, it means that we are focused 
in serving customer groups which utilize 
large volumes of water in their produc-
tion. These customers require effective 
methods for managing water quantity 
and quality. Our customers will increas-
ingly benefit from our broad and deep 
water-related expertise. In addition we 
will concentrate on the products, solu-
tions and geographical areas in which we 
have a definite competitive edge.

Tikkurila’s strategy was also fine-tuned 
in 2009. The key elements of the com-
pany’s strategy are customer focus, prof-
itable growth, geographic focus, strong 
brands and one unified Tikkurila. The 
company has been managed as an oper-
ationally independent Group company 
with a separate appointed board.

How iS tHe new Strategy 

reFlected in management?

Kemira’s new organization and new gov-
ernance system were introduced in late 
2008. Tikkurila underwent a similar 
change during 2009.

Moving from a product-oriented to a 
customer-oriented organizational struc-
ture is a major change. All of our opera-
tions are now centered on the customer. 

We further strengthened Kemira’s strat-
egy in 2009, integrating it into everyday 
work throughout the Kemira Group. All 
of our employees are now familiar with 
what the new strategy means and how it 
affects their specific tasks. The new strat-

strategy – ceo's interview
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egy harmonizes on a group level our 
ways of working, processes and for ex-
ample our goal-setting procedures and 
the defi ning of key indicators for moni-
toring performance. 

The benefi ts became evident already in 
2009. In addition to strengthening our 
cash fl ow, the new management and gov-
ernance systems helped us manage our 
working capital more effectively: we 
were able to reduce our working capi-
tal by more than EUR 70 million. This 
was achieved by individual goal setting 
throughout Kemira’s organization. 

wHat SynergieS doeS internal 

collaboration bring to 

tHe Kemira group?

The synergies are many and signifi cant. 
Kemira was fairly fragmented, but it is 
fast becoming a unifi ed company that 
takes full advantage of the opportunities 
created by its focus on water-related ex-
pertise. 

In practice, this means, for example, 
linking sales and sales predictions direct-
ly to raw material purchases throughout 
the global supply chain. Kemira has some 
100 production facilities in some 40 
countries, so effective supply chain man-
agement requires close collaboration and 
effi cient governance systems. 

Solid collaboration among Kemira’s 
business segments and different opera-
tions offers us excellent opportunities to 
increase water chemicals sales and know-
how with cross-selling.  

wHat are Kemira’S 

main FocuSeS For 2010?

Our key goals include further improv-
ing our profi tability, maintaining a posi-
tive cash fl ow and creating growth. The 
programs for reducing fi xed costs will be 
completed by the end of the year, as will 
group-wide integration and governance 
system projects. 

Business development, however, does 
not end here. We need to fi ne-tune our 
processes continually in order to secure 
our competitiveness and be succesful in 
the future as well. 

Our new strategy, customer-orient-
ed organization and consistent modes of 
operation lay a solid foundation for the 
next phase, which is growth. The starting 
points are the growth of global markets 
and on the other hand our expertise in 
water quality and quantity management. 
We have an exceptionally wide product 
portfolio designed to meet our custom-
ers’ needs. The increasingly severe water 
shortage, tightening legislation and cus-
tomers’ need to enhance their processes 
provides us opportunities to develop new 
water-related applications, for new and  
existing customers. 

We will also look for growth in new 
geographical areas, especially from South 
America and Asia. The utilization of bio-
mass and production of fresh water from 
sea water will offer new opportunities 
for us. 

organic revenue growth 

> 5% per year

earnings before interest 

and taxes, % of revenue 

> 10%

cash fl ow after investments 

and dividents: 

positive

return on capital employed (roce), %: 

continuous improvement

gearing: 

targeted level 40–80%

financial targets
revenue

operating profi t excluding non-recurring items

operating profi t

operating profi t excluding non-recurring items, %

operating profi t, % 

profi t before tax

net profi t

eps, eur

roce, %*

cash fl ows after investments

equity ratio, % at period-end 

gearing, % at period-end

personnel at period-end
* 12 month rolling average

2009

 2,500.1

175.0

157.4

7.0

6.3

102.9

85.5

0.61

7.8

202.2

45

53

8,493

2008

2,832.7

132.6

74.0

4.7

2.6

1.8

1.8

–0.01

3.5

2.7

34

107

9,405

key figures 2009
eur million

strategy – ceo's interview
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Strong growth also requires sufficient 
investment in research and product devel-
opment. In addition, we can seek growth 
through acquisitions in the future. 

wHat do cuStomerS, ownerS 

and inveStorS tHinK about 

Kemira’S new Strategy?

I have met many customers, owners, in-
vestors and members of other interest 
groups, and I have yet to hear a voice 
of doubt. On the contrary, it seems 
that this is unanimously regarded as 
a great opportunity and an excellent 
strategic choice.

Both customers and investors have wel-
comed our water-focused strategy. The 
pulp and paper industry, for example, 
seeks more comprehensive water man-
agement solutions. This requires a pro-
found understanding of customer needs.

Owners have also shown their support 
to the strategy. Kemira has a good and 
healthy owner base which enables long-
term company development. In December 
2009, when Kemira issued new shares, its 
current owners invested EUR 200 million 
to the company.

wHat iS your meSSage  

to Kemira’S employeeS?

The historically deep recession and ma-
jor changes in the company have set high 
requirements for our personnel. I would 
like to take this opportunity to thank our 
employees for their great determination 
in carrying out the required efficiency 
measures on a tight schedule. 

The fact that we improved our results 
clearly shows that we have gained tre-
mendous momentum and we are on our 
way to making Kemira a leading wa-
ter chemistry company, as the com-
pany’s vision suggests. This has im-
proved our team spirit and boosted 
our self-confidence. 

I am particularly pleased with the ma-
jor change in our corporate culture. Ke-
mira’s employees understand that we 
achieve great things together: it is an 

honor to be part of a company that 
works to provide the world with  
clean water. 

In the summer of 2009, we launched 
an extensive value process to strengthen 
the new strategy. Kemira has acquired 
companies that represent diverse corpo-
rate cultures, and we need a common 
value base as a foundation for our work. 
Some 1,300 employees contributed to 
this process during the fall, and our new 
corporate values were introduced in Jan-
uary 2010. These values fully support 
our shift from product-oriented to cus-
tomer-oriented operating models. 

”we are on our way to making 
kemira a leading water 

chemistry company.”

read more about Kemira’S valueS:
www.kemira.com > about us > strategy > values

strategy – ceo's interview
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one of kemira’s r&d-centers is 

located in espoo, finland. the 

center focuses on developing 

solutions for water-intensive 

industries.

research and development
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A thriving business needs rigorous and 
productive research and development.  
This is especially true for Kemira, now  
that the company seeks profitable growth. 

everything stems from innovation
eureka! 
ter will be opened in São Paulo, Bra-
zil during 2010. The company strives 
for greater synergy benefits, which will 
further improve the high-quality re-
search and development the company 
has pursued for years. Now all client seg-
ments will benefit from this work more 
effectively than ever. 

“We will bring our competence clos-
er to the markets and client needs. Each 
R&D center offers expertise that is in 
high demand in the local and surround-
ing markets,” Grön says. 

The Espoo R&D center, for example, 
provides high-quality know-how on wa-
ter quality and quantity management 
(WQQM) solutions for municipal water-
works and industries with water intensive 
operations. The Leverkusen R&D center 
specializes in recyclable fibers and pro-
vides high-quality service to the custom-
ers in Central Europe. 

The R&D center in Atlanta focuses on 
chemistry solutions for tissue manufac-
turing as well as for mining and oil in-
dustrial applications. The Shanghai R&D 
center focuses on technology scouting in 
the Asia and Pacific region and transfer 
of Kemira’s technology platform to serve 
regional customers. 

tailORed tO client needs
Those operating closest to customers are 
sales, technical customer service and lo-
cal production. The R&D centers’ task is 

to support these in addition to produc-
ing innovations that can be employed 
globally.

“Based on Kemira’s global product se-
lection, the R&D centers offer expert so-
lutions suited for local needs and circum-
stances. The research and development 
network also benefits the company by 
providing client feedback and extensive 
information on special market needs.”

According to Grön, the consistent pro-
cesses and modes of operation intro-
duced with the new organizational model 
create an excellent framework for inno-
vation across the Kemira Group: “The 
network’s global reach ensures that our 

text matti remeS photos rami lappalainen

a
gile, effec-
tive, eager to 
find new so-
lutions – this 
is how Johan 
Grön, Execu-
tive Vice Presi-
dent of R&D 
and Technology, 

describes research and development oper-
ations at Kemira. These operations have 
undergone a thorough reform in the past 
18 months; research and development is 
centralized globally to five units instead 
of the former 17. 

Toward the end of 2009, the focus of 
the research and development activities 
was directed for sustainable growth to 
serve the renewed strategic direction.

“The new organization effectively sup-
ports our overall strategy and organic 
growth. Our goal is to focus on products, 
concepts and business models that help 
our clients increase the efficiency of their 
water intensive operations,” Grön says.

In 2009, Kemira’s R&D employed 452 
professionals. Kemira spent EUR 47 mil-
lion on research and development, ac-
counting for two percent of its revenue.

glObal netwORk, lOcal expeRtise
Kemira’s R&D centers are located in 
Espoo, Finland; Leverkusen, Germany; 
Atlanta, Georgia in the United States; 
and Shanghai, China. The fifth cen-

research and development

research and development
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H2S-guard™

kemira has developed h2s-guard to provide 

a reliable, proactive way of dealing with 

odor and corrosion problems related to h2s. 

measurement, monitoring, and control ca-

pabilities in real-time are packed into a sin-

gle easy-to-use, yet very powerful solution.

deSinFiX®

desinfix is a complete disinfection 

technology including chemicals, equipment 

and related services. it is based on a 

mixture of formic acid and hydrogen 

peroxide, which when accurately mixed 

forms a highly effi cient biocide, dex-135®. 

the environmentally friendly biocide breaks 

down into carbon dioxide and water.

lumiKem®

kemira’s lumikem monitoring process 

helps paper mills to optimize their waste-

water treatment. the innovation can be de-

scribed as a hybrid of new technology of bi-

ological health monitoring and information 

management tools, combining the highest 

expertise of both fi elds.

Fennoclean d

kemira’s new comprehensive approach for 

controlling biofi lm oxidizing biocides while 

minimizing corrosion concerns to paper 

making equipment.

clients will benefi t from innovations and 
new technologies without delay.”

sepaRate the wheat fROm the chaff
The innovation process within Kemira 
ensures involvement and commitment of 
the entire organization towards success-
fully delivering new products and con-
cepts for the use in water intensive op-
erations. In this process the initial stage 
is boosted by Kemira’s R&D activities. 
Grön says it is particularly important to 
distinguish between viable innovations 
and unprofi table ideas as early on in the 
process as possible. 

The R&D centers will continue to de-
velop individual products, but the focus 
will increasingly be on Kemira’s prod-
uct and service platform offer as a whole: 
“The benefi ts of closer collaboration in-
clude more effective use of our wide 
product portfolio. R&D will, for its part, 
create opportunities for our old clients 
to benefi t from our new products and 
for our new clients to gain from our old 
products – beyond industry sectors and 
client segments.”

Kemira has strengthened its manage-
ment processes by increasing collabora-
tion between all individual organization-
al parts involved such as R&D and sales, 
production and marketing. 

“It is of primary importance to in-
volve different operations and depart-
ments in product development at its early 
stages. Collaboration is particularly im-
portant when we are developing entire 
business concepts.”

The direction is clear, according to 
Grön. Kemira will increasingly specialize 
in providing comprehensive solutions for 
clients. In addition to in-house expertise, 
these solutions require close collabora-
tion with equipment manufacturers and 
companies supplying automation and 
control systems. 

“Understanding client needs requires a 
vision that reaches wider than our own 
industry,” Grön emphasizes. 

star products
of kemira’s r&d

Kemguard® tagged 

and Kem-eguard® 

biodegradable polymerS

the kemguard brand covers the broad 

range of kemira’s antiscalant technology. 

the newest technology includes tagged 

kemguard polymers designed for optimal 

dosage control in oilfi eld operations and 

biodegradable technology developed to 

meet the most stringent environmental 

requirements, sold under the kemeguard 

brand.

kemira’s proprietary kemguard tech-

nology controls scaling encountered in se-

vere conditions of industrial environments 

– from oilfi eld to mining operations. the ke-

meguard antiscalant product line meets the 

stringent regulatory standards as well as 

harsh environments of the north sea.

provian® 

this new product is aimed at extending 

shelf life and ensuring food safety of 

meat products. it acts as an effi cient 

safeguard against pathogenic bacteria. its 

powder form makes it easy to handle and 

logistically economical. in addition, provian 

has been shown to enhance the fl avor of 

cooked meat products.

research and development
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“water used to be a relatively 
inexpensive and accessible 
commodity. In the future, the 
cost and availability of wa-

ter will present greater problems; it is a strategic 
raw material. We are working on fi nding new so-
lutions to these challenges.” 

In recent years, different industry sectors have 
enhanced water effi ciency through major leaps in 
improving the technical processes. According to 
Grön, however, a further improvement of the to-
tal processes aiming at further cost, quality and 
quantity optimization requires a true integration 
of the chemistry as a part of the solution. Tech-
nical challenges related to sustainable recycling 
and reuse will most probably be manifold in the 
near future. 

Kemira is pursuing research into making pro-
cesses related to “solid/water” control even more 
effi cient. This means, in effect, that water is the 
transport vehicle in all processes the company is 
serving. One example is Kemira’s goal to empha-
size strongly developing areas that utilize mem-
brane technology: 

“Salt removal in desalination processes in-
volves microporous fi lters known as membranes. 
The scale forming on membranes reduces the 
throughput and cost effi ciency of this process, but 
we have the expertise to prevent organic and in-
organic matter from scaling.” says Grön. 

Kemira’s research and development focus 
points also include environmental matters, such 
as solutions for recycling and reusing parts of 
waste streams. For example, Kemira offers new 
solutions for exploiting the sludge from water 
treatment into raw materials and more effi cient 
energy production. 

“The sludge can be dried more effectively by 
employing chemical processes, which reduc-
es transportation costs. In addition, the sludge 
contains nutrients and other usable constituents 
that can be collected if the sludge is processed 
correctly. The remainder can be used in energy 
production.”

Reusing waste from different industries has 
long been on Kemira’s R&D agenda. Calcium 
sulphate, a by-product of the mining industry, 
can be used to make high-quality fi lling materials 
for the paper industry. Ferrous wastewaters from 
steelworks can be used to make fl occulants for 
water treatment. 

Long-term research subjects include the 
degradability of materials. 

“In this area, we would like to explore if resi-
dues have an impact on the treatment of recycled 
water streams. This is an important future re-
search area since there is a need to recycle even 
more effectively,” Grön summarizes.  

Johan Grön points 
out that rationalizing 

water use requires 
innovations in all 

stakeholder groups 
around the world. 

towards 
new 

growth 
areas 

research and development
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The Paper segment’s updated, customizable business model 
has been developed to improve the productivity and cost-
effectiveness of customers everywhere in the world. The model 
also ensures flexibility in the changing market situation.

profitability

text Jorma leppänen photos iStocKpHoto, getty imageS and SuSanna KeKKonen

segments – paper
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above all

“k
emira’s Paper 
segment focus-
es on such prod-
ucts that improve 
our key custom-
ers’ profitability. 

In this way we can achieve the best finan-
cial results ourselves, as well,” says Petri 
Helsky, President of Paper.

The new, focused business operation 
is designed to serve first and foremost 
those customers who strive for continu-
ous improvement of process productiv-
ity. The ability to adapt to the changing 
market conditions ensures profitability 
for both parties.

“Our customers’ success secures the 
continuity of our business. Our own prof-
itability, in its part, secures the necessary 
resources for developing innovations.”

Previously, Kemira grew by building a 
comprehensive product portfolio with a 
global reach. Now, the company aims at 
adjusting its product range locally in a 
manner that corresponds to both custom-
er needs and Kemira’s own strengths.

“Our philosophy puts more empha-
sis on profitability than growth,” Helsky 
illustrates.

segments – paper
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try – these issues concern the environ-
ment, ef� cient production, pro� tability 
and product quality. Effective water use 
is critical in terms of total cost in paper 
production. The paper slurry coming into 
the headbox of a paper machine contains 
over 99 percent water.

“Among other things, our responsi-
bility is to make sure that microbes and 
impurities are removed from the water 
cycle. They weaken paper quality and 
interfere with the production process,” 
Helsky says.

FORWARDS FROM DOWNTURN
The key strength of Kemira’s Paper 
segment lies in the versatility of its busi-
ness operations. The company serves 
all sectors of the pulp and paper indus-
try. When the demand for forest industry 
products varies across markets, the pres-
ence in markets at various stages of de-
velopment balances the demand for prod-
ucts and related services. Year 2009 was, 
however, exceptional: the economic re-
cession was global.

Production in the pulp and paper in-
dustry decreased in 2009, thus result-
ing in reduced sales for the Paper seg-
ment. The segment’s revenue decreased 
by about 10 percent. However, the op-
erating pro� t increased. Pro� tability im-
proved as the operating pro� t percentage 
excluding non-recurring items increased 
to 5 percent.

“After the recession the situation seems 
to be normalizing and there are some 
signs of recovery. The demand for pack-
aging board began to strengthen in Asia 
in the spring and later in 2009 in mature 
markets,” Helsky says. 

CLOSE TO THE CUSTOMER
The growth in paper products is stron-
gest in the Asian and Eastern European 
emerging markets. Many of Kemira’s cli-
ents are moving production to these ar-
eas, reducing their capacity to some de-
gree in mature markets elsewhere in 
Europe and in North America. The avail-
ability of raw materials and the price of 
energy also affect decisions about pro-
duction locations. 

The development trends in pulp pro-
duction differ from those in paper pro-
duction. Growth in the production of 
chemical pulp is concentrated in South 
America, where conditions are favorable 

KNOW-HOW IS CORE
Helsky emphasizes that when optimizing 
product families Kemira gains know-how 
that can be used to improve the custom-
er’s entire production process. Another 
key issue in focused business operations 
is that competencies are � netuned based 
on the needs of the customer segment in 
question.

“After all, the customer is speci� cally 
interested in our expertise; our capacity 
to offer cost-effective alternatives.”

The essential issue is tailored know-
how that � ts the needs of each custom-
er segment. For instance, manufacturers 
of printing paper, packaging board and 
tissue paper each have their own quality 
criterias and in consequence also differ-
ent needs for the use of chemicals.

WATER CHEMISTRY IS CRUCIAL
All of Kemira’s segments share the same 
expertise and product portfolio. Helsky 
sees this as an important competitive as-
set. For instance, water chemicals are an 
essential part of the product and service 
range offered to the pulp and paper in-
dustry.

“Our clients appreciate our profound 
understanding of their water treatment 
needs. The management of water quality 
and quantity is one of our core compe-
tencies. With the right mix of chemicals 
we can improve our customers’ water 
and energy ef� ciency.”

Water and energy consumption is in-
creasingly important for the forest indus-
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the paper slurry 
coming in to the 
headbox of a 
paper machine 
contains over 99 
percent water.

for tree growth. Paper manufacturing 
takes place closer to consumers. This ex-
plains why paper production is concen-
trated in populous areas such as Asia.

“We have to be where our custom-
ers are. This applies to research, prod-
uct development and production,” 
Helsky stresses.

Customers needs vary by region. A 
similar product can be produced in var-
ious manners in different parts of the 
world; there are also great differences 
between plants.

“Kemira has focused its research and 
development functions to strong units in 
our main market areas. As we are selling 
know-how, it is important that the dis-
tance between product development and 
sales is minimal. This enables quick reac-
tions and flexible service.”

in with the change
Kemira responds to the revolution in 
its customer industries by adapting its 
know-how and production to market de-
mands. Even though demand for differ-
ent paper grades varies across the world, 
in long term the global demand for paper 
products is estimated to grow.

“The big picture has changed. Prior to 
the current downturn, growth in gross 

domestic product was reflected rather di-
rectly in the demand for paper products. 
This has changed. The only area follow-
ing the general development of the stan-
dard of living seems to be demand for tis-
sue paper. To some extent, digital media 
has replaced the printed word. Advertis-
ing, which decreased during the reces-
sion, temporarily cut down the demand 
for printing paper. Then again, advertis-
ing tends to over-react to economic cy-
cles. Packaging board is in demand in 
places of brisk industrial production.”

did you Know?

in a large publication paper machine, 

60 million cubic meters of water 

is circulated per year – the amount 

found in an average finnish lake.

30 seconds
•	the paper segment’s new focused 

business operation model is designed 

to serve key customers who strive at 

continuous improvement of process 

productivity.

•	 instead of building a comprehensive, 

global product portfolio, kemira aims to 

adapt its offering to fit local needs. the 

goal is to meet customer needs and at the 

same time optimally utilize the company’s 

own strengths.

•	the paper segment’s strength lies in its 

versatile business. the company serves all 

the different sectors of the pulp and paper 

industry. 

•	the role of water and energy consumption 

within the pulp and paper industry will 

grow more important in the future. in this 

scenario, kemira’s role as one of the leading 

water chemistry specialists will grow.

•	although the demand for different paper 

grades varies in different parts of the world, 

the global demand for paper products is 

expected to increase in the long term.

segments – paper
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in otHer wordS, 

r&d alSo SupportS SaleS.

Yes. R&D, product development, sales 
and application experts operate in close 
collaboration. In addition to ensuring 
high-quality service, this guarantees that 
our innovators are aware of our clients’ 
needs. Our new sales organization sup-
ports cross-sales more effectively, en-
abling us to offer our clients more diver-
sified and versatile product and service 
packages.

tHe paper buSineSS iS undergoing 

a maJor Structural cHange. wHat 

doeS tHiS mean For Kemira?

We need to be agile, yet stable at the 
same time. In addition to products and 
know-how, our competitive assets include 
commitment to this business. 

will paper Hold 

itS ground in tHe Future?

If we look beyond the current recession, 
paper consumption is estimated to grow 
globally. Paper is an excellent product. 
It has many uses, and it can be recycled 
many times to make pulp and paper be-
fore it is finally used to produce energy, 
for example.

Petri Helsky, President of 
Kemira’s Paper segment, 
emphasizes that water is an 
important raw material in 
papermaking.

water makes
paper

wHy HaS tHe importance oF 

water treatment increaSed 

in your buSineSS operationS?

Surface water is scarce in many parts of 
the world, which makes the water issue 
even more critical. Factories in dense-
ly populated areas have a pressing need 
to treat raw water, use it as effectively as 
possible and, of course, treat wastewater 
before returning it to nature.

How do reSearcH and 

development Serve your clientS?

We have many interesting products in the 
commercialization stage. These products 
will help our clients improve profitability. 
Our regional focus guides research and 
development, too. Our product develop-
ers perform test runs at our clients’ loca-
tions around the world.

”as a product, 
paper is 
exceptional: 
it has many 
applications 
and good 
recyclability.”

Segment leader on tHe Spot

key figures 2009

revenue

operating profit 

excluding non-recurring items

operating profit

operating profit, %, 

excluding non-recurring items

operating profit, %

capital employed* 

roce, %*

capital expenditure, 

exluding acquisitions

cash flow after investments, 

excluding interest and taxes
* 12 month rolling average

customers:

pulp and paper industry

market position:

one of the three biggest in the world

market area:

global

markets:

the market relevant to paper segment is 

about eur 13 billion (kemira’s estimate).

products and Services:

chemical solutions for the entire process 

from pulp manufacture to paper coating to 

water treatment

906.4

44.9

40.1

5.0

4.4

782.6

5.1

37.8

75.6

eur million

segments – paper
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lowering production costs is a strong 
trend in the paper industry. Paper 
mills can achieve savings of 10 to 15 

percent in energy and water consumption 
by using Kemira’s Kemform retention 
system. In addition, research shows that 
the system allows for increasing the min-
eral pigment (filler) content in fine papers 
by 2 percent, which reduces the amount 
of fiber needed. 

As part of its customer-oriented busi-
ness, Kemira offers its expertise to paper 
industry companies in research, develop-
ment and applications. 

In the papermaking process, fibers in 
the furnish are joined together by using 
special chemicals. The Kemform reten-
tion system was originally developed for 
fine paper production, but some of Ke-
mira’s clients tested the system in their 
board machines, with good results. This 
encouraged Kemira’s product developers 
to extend Kemform’s use to board manu-

kemform: considerable 
savings to paper producers

success story

facturing. Many of the world’s leading pa-
per and board manufacturers are now cus-
tomers. 

High-quality paper products can be man-
ufactured more cost-effectively by synchro-
nizing paper machine technology and the 
chemistry at the wet end of a paper ma-
chine. Kemira is strengthening its collab-
oration with Metso, a global supplier of 
sustainable technology and services, in re-
search and development.

“Kemira will assume responsibility for 
the chemical management of pilot paper 
machines at the Metso Paper Technology 
Center in Jyväskylä, Finland. By combin-
ing Kemira’s know-how in water and fiber 
chemistry with Metso’s leading expertise in 
processes, automation and technology re-
lated to paper and board machines, we can 
offer the pulp and paper industry the best 
comprehensive solutions in the world,” 
says Hannu Korhonen, Vice President of 
Research and Development at Metso Paper.

segments – paper
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Increased water use and a growing need for clean water 
facilitate municipal and industrial investments in water 
treatment. This has proven to be a signifi cant business 
opportunity for Kemira’s Municipal & Industrial segment. 

trends promise growth

text riSto pennanen photos iStocKpHoto, getty imageS, SuSanna KeKKonen, JuKKa rapo and Jari laine

mega-

segments – municipal & industrial
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trends promise growth

segments – municipal & industrial
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numbers from last year reflect this devel-
opment: even though the global recession 
decreased operations in many industry 
sectors, Kemira’s Municipal & Industri-
al segment recorded improved revenues 
from 2008 levels.

“Investments in the infrastructure re-
lated to water treatment have contin-
ued and even increased in some coun-
tries,” says Pekka Ojanpää, President of 
Kemira’s Municipal & Industrial seg-
ment. 

uRbanizatiOn bOOsts gROwth
More than half of the segment’s revenue 
comes from Europe; approximately one-
third comes from North America. 

The sector’s growth rate, however, is 
highest in Latin America, where big cit-
ies will be making investments in wa-
ter treatment in the next decade. Mexico 
City and Rio de Janeiro, for example, 
will both invest hundreds of millions of 
euros for this purpose. 

Brazil leads the development. The meg-
alopolis of São Paulo alone is responsible 
for providing water treatment for 20 mil-
lion people. These investments are like-
ly to increase in the coming few years as 
Brazil prepares to host the 2014 World 
Cup in soccer and the 2016 Summer 
Olympics. 

size is a stRength
Kemira’s position as the world’s lead-
ing supplier of coagulants is a signifi-
cant competitive asset in a market where 
many clients operate internationally. Big 
multinational companies are involved not 
only in industry, but also in municipal 
water treatment. 

“When we know a multinational cli-
ent’s business and modes of operation 
and take part in product development in 
one country, chances are that this collab-
oration will continue in other countries 
as well,” Ojanpää says. 

As a large company, Kemira is better 
equipped to invest in products and ser-
vice packages than smaller, local busi-
nesses. This is an advantage when mu-
nicipal clients select water chemical 
suppliers through competitive bidding. To 
be eligible for bidding, potential suppli-
ers need to prove their experience and re-

h
ousehold and in-
dustrial water use 
increases as the 
population grows 
and the standard 
of living rises. 
More water means 
more wastewater. 

Clean water is no longer a given – peo-
ple around the world are increasingly 
aware that this vital necessity is becom-
ing scarce, and water bodies are becom-
ing polluted. People are also aware of 
their right to clean drinking water, and 
they are willing to make a commitment 
to water protection. 

This global awareness presents new 
business opportunities for Kemira, the 
world’s leading supplier of coagulants 
for municipal and industrial water treat-
ment. The company is also known as a 
major manufacturer of polymers. 

The global chemical market related to 
water treatment, process efficiency and 
stability in water intensive industries is 
worth nearly EUR 25 billion. Kemira’s 
Municipal & Industrial segment operates 
in product groups whose markets are 
worth EUR 5 billion (municipal water 
treatment) and EUR 3 billion (industri-
al water treatment). Boosted by a strong 
megatrend, these markets are growing 
faster than national economies. Kemira’s 

key figures 2009

customers:

municipalities and industries

market position:

#1 in coagulants and  

#5 in flocculants worldwide

market area:

global

markets:

the market relevant to municipal & industrial 

segment is approximately 8 billion 

(kemira’s estimate).

products and Services:

water treatment and purification, 

sludge treatment solutions

revenue

operating profit 

excluding non-recurring items

operating profit

operating profit, %, 

excluding non-recurring items

operating profit, %

capital employed* 

roce, %*

capital expenditure, 

exluding acquisitions

cash flow after investments, 

excluding interest and taxes
* 12 month rolling average

607.5

66.4

59.8

10.9

9.8

349.4

17.1

21.0

93.5

eur million

segments – municipal & industrial
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wastewater treatment is an investment 
trend in Mexico. Currently, some 40 per-
cent of municipal wastewater is treated, 
but the government seeks to raise this 

proportion to 60 percent by 2012. 
The government fines municipalities that ne-

glect wastewater treatment and supports the ones 
that meet their responsibilities. The issue is impor-
tant not only for Mexicans, but also for the coun-
try’s tourism industry. 

One of the largest water treatment projects in the 
world was launched recently in Mexico City, the capi-
tal. Wastewater from 20 million people and industry 
goes through the city’s sewer system, as does rainwater. 

The project is urgent, because some 90 percent of 
Mexico City’s wastewater ends up in fields, untreat-
ed. After the investment, this water will be treated. The 
metropolis will recycle water, which is crucial: Mexico 
City Valley suffers from a shortage of clean water. 

Replenishing the capital’s dwindling groundwater re-
serves is another huge project. The city sinks as much 
as four inches every year because of groundwater over-
use. This project involves building plants that will 
pump treated wastewater into groundwater sources. 

Kemira has been operating in Mexico for ten years. 
It is the leading supplier of coagulants in the country. 
The company has two production plants, which supply 
products to Central America and the Caribbean. Ke-
mira has a strong position in drinking water treatment, 
but the greatest growth potential is in wastewater man-
agement. Processing sludge to produce biogas is anoth-
er area with future potential for Kemira in Mexico. 

being the leading  
global supplier 
is a significant 

asset for kemira 
in the competitive 

coagulants market. 

success story

mexico makes 
great advances 
in wastewater 
treatment

segments – municipal & industrial
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liability in delivering solutions and fulfill-
ing other obligations. 

“Clean water is a basic human need, 
which makes reliability and a broad 
product range immensely important.”

big playeRs must  
find theiR fOcus, tOO 
Even though Kemira is a large company 
and a major international player, it needs 
to focus on the sectors that offer the most 
business opportunities. The Group has 
decided to concentrate its strength and 
expertise on certain sectors, and cater to 
them in the best possible way. 

On the industrial side, Kemira will fo-
cus on water-intensive industry sectors 
with strong growth potential. Focus is  
also important in terms of customer ser-
vice and applications. The better Ke-
mira knows a client’s industrial process-
es, the better it can help the client with 
more efficient use of water, energy and 
raw materials. 

Kemira’s special strengths include the 
treatment of industrial raw water and 
wastewater. The company offers a com-

prehensive selection of chemicals and ap-
plication support for this purpose. 

Kemira’s selective approach also ap-
plies to geographical expansion. The 
company has numerous growth opportu-
nities in the strongly developing markets 
of Asia, for example. 

“We will focus on certain countries and 
products in the vast Asian market. We 
definitely want to strengthen our business 
operations in this area, but we will not 
make compromises in finding a profitable 
business model,” Pekka Ojanpää adds. 

effective distRibutiOn is essential
An effective distribution network is key 
in serving industrial clients. Each distri-
bution partner has its own role—in pack-
aging and logistics services, application 
support or, increasingly, in water treat-
ment in industrial plants. Kemira sup-
plements its expertise and broadens its 

read more

kemira actively takes part in the 

protection of the baltic sea. (see p. 7)

One of kemira’s goals is adopting 

a significant role in ensuring the 

availability and sufficiency of clean 

water around the world. (see p. 4 in 

this annual Report and in kemira’s 

2009 environmental Report)

customer service by collaborating with 
carefully selected distribution partners. 

“We are continually developing and 
fine-tuning our network of distributors. 
Our goal is to make Kemira’s operations 
more comprehensive. We also want to 
ensure that our industrial clients receive 
their products in the way that best serves 
their specific needs. Distribution man-
agement and development are among the 
most important success factors especial-
ly in the Industrial customer segment,” 
Ojanpää says. 

Further developing the logistics net-
work is important in growth markets as 
well. For example, Kemira is in the pro-
cess of creating a new, nationwide distri-
bution network in Russia.

segments – municipal & industrial
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•	kemira operates in product groups that 

correspond to approximately one-fifth of the 

markets for municipal and industrial wastewater 

treatment, which are worth eur 5 billion and 

eur 3 billion, respectively. 

•	although kemira is a major player, it needs to 

focus on sectors that offer diversified business 

opportunities. this improves customer service 

and helps kemira maximize the efficiency of 

investments as well as their benefits.  

•	large size and close collaboration among 

segments offer many competitive assets to 

kemira in purchasing, product development and 

customer service, to name but a few examples.

altHougH Kemira’S diFFerent buSineSS 

SegmentS Have Joint production, tHey 

Seem independent to an outSider. 

are tHere SigniFicant opportunitieS 

For collaboration among 

tHe buSineSS SegmentS?

There are significant synergies. It would 
be much more difficult for us to seek 
growth in Asia, for example, if the 
Paper segment were not involved in 
its current business operations there. 
Moreover, we benefit from common re-
sources with other segments in purchas-
ing and logistics, which clearly enhanc-
es our operations. Business operations 
serving both the paper industry and 
the municipal and industrial sectors 
have long been strong in Latin Ameri-
ca, which partly explains our good po-
sition there. 

Why is Kemira investing, more 
than ever, in collaboration within 
and beyond the Kemira Group? 
Pekka Ojanpää, President of 
Kemira’s Municipal & Industrial 
segment, explains.  

collaboration is 
a competitive advantage

Segment leader on tHe Spot 

30 seconds
•	population growth and the rising standard of 

living increase water use in households and 

industries around the world. together with 

a growing awareness of the need for water 

protection, these factors boost investments 

in water treatment. this means new business 

opportunities for kemira. 

•	kemira is the world’s largest supplier of 

coagulants for municipal and industrial water 

treatment. 

•	the global chemical market related to 

water treatment, process efficiency and 

stability in water intensive industries is 

worth about eur 25 billion.

do you acHieve SometHing 

tHrougH collaboration tHat you 

would not acHieve alone?

Many big investments might turn out to 
be unprofitable, but joint projects make 
them feasible.

are growtH and collaboration witHin 

Kemira So Strong tHat tHe need to 

collaborate witH outSiderS decreaSeS?

Quite the contrary. Development in the 
water sector is so wide-reaching that we 
need more networking. But we are al-
ready creating numerous products and 
concepts in collaboration with others. 
Cleantech Finland, a development pro-
gram in environmental technology, is one 
example of this. 

segments – municipal & industrial
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As growth rekindles and the quality of resources 
decreases, the extraction industries need surging 
volumes of water – and chemistry to control it 
sustainably. Kemira’s Oil & Mining segment has 
quickly established itself as an essential partner 
in this equation. 

a growing thirst for 
water chemicals

text wiF Stenger photos iStocKpHoto and SuSanna KeKKonen

segments – oil & mining
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e
ver since gold prospec-
tors began panning for 
gold in streams, water 
has played a crucial role 
in collection. Randy Ow-
ens, President of the Oil 
& Mining segment, sees 
Kemira’s water strategy 

as a natural fit for the business sector. 
“Both of our customer industries, oil 

and mining, use intense amounts of water 
in processing,” Owens comments. “When 
drilling for or producing oil and gas, 
the bulk of the fluids is water. This leads 
to issues on how to separate the wa-
ter from the oil or gas, how to deal with 
scaling, foam control, microbial growth 
and so on.” They are all areas in which 
Kemira excels. 

As the quality of reserves and oil fields 
decreases, the volume of water used has 
to be increased. In the oil and gas sectors, 
water use is expected to have double-dig-
it growth per year. The pressure to reduce 
water consumption and optimize water 
recycling is on the rise. 

“In Chile, they must pump salt water 
to the mines because of a lack of fresh 
water for processing. In the North Sea,  

a growing thirst for 
water chemicals

30 seconds
•	kemira’s oil & mining segment was 

launched in late 2008, combining parts 

of the municipal & industrial and paper 

segments.

•	 in its first year, oil & mining 

outperformed 2008 earnings,  

despite the recession.

•	kemira’s water strategy is a natural fit 

for water-intensive sectors. water use is 

rising sharply in the mining, and oil and 

gas industries as reserves degrade. there 

is increasing pressure to make water use 

more efficient and sustainable – an area 

where kemira excels.

•	the segment has continued to boost 

its activities through an ‘i3 strategy’ of 

intimacy, innovation and immediacy. 

•	the business segment foresees 

growth in south america, china and 

russia, alongside steady growth 

in its established markets.

segments – oil & mining
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as production degrades, they have to in-
ject more salt water into the formations. 
Anytime you co-mingle waters, you get 
the propensity for water quality and wa-
ter quantity problems, which we are ex-
perts at dealing with.” 

pOised fOR gROwth 
Owens was appointed head of this new 

business segment in late 2008, combining 
parts of Kemira’s Municipal & Industrial 
and Paper segments. Change can be diffi-
cult, but it has also brought opportunities 
and enthusiasm. 

“We hit a bump in the road with the 
recession, but we were still able to out-
perform earnings versus the previous 
year, when the global economy was still 
strong. The new Oil & Mining team real-
ly delivered in very trying times.” 

Prior to bringing these businesses to-
gether, the focus was primarily on in-
dividual products and applications. 
Through the new segment strategy, Ke-
mira has fused its knowledge in products, 
water applications, and customers’ pro-
cesses to offer a more complete approach. 

The main focus in 2009 was cashflow. 
“Kemira had one of its best years for per-
formance. When you align the organiza-
tion and focus on a common target, you 
can truly attain your objectives.” 

The company set aggressive fixed cost 
reduction targets, and as a result, re-
duced its manufacturing costs during the 
recession. “We are now properly sized 
and have the flexibility to compete with 
volume today, but we are also poised 
to capture the growth of tomorrow,” 
says Owens. 

“we are now 
properly sized 
for competing 
with volume and 
capturing future 
growth.”

eyes On the thRee i’s
The main focus has been boosting 
Kemira’s water chemistries with the 
‘I3 strategy’ of Intimacy, Innovation 
and Immediacy. 

“Intimacy means we have to be close 
to the customer to really understand their 
needs – both geographically and in the 
sense that we understand their business 
processes, how they make money as well 
as the issues they face,” Owens states. 
“Then we are able to address their needs 
with the R&D community and use that 
to drive our innovation. The last compo-
nent, immediacy, is crucial as the markets 
we operate in are very fast and dynamic. 
A relevant example is seen with oil prices 
and their daily fluctuation. When our cus-
tomers have needs, time is of the essence. 
So speed is built into our work process-
es. We feel that we have a better chance 
with our size, versus the larger bulk com-
petitors.” 

fOcus On wateR  
and the enviROnment
Kemira’s focus on water and the environ-
ment has paid off. In 2009, KemEguard, 
a low molecular- weight antiscalant was 
introduced for sustainable applications in 
the North Sea. 

In addition to the North Sea, Owens 
foresees growth in Canada’s oil sands, the 
European and North American metals 
markets as well as in South America. 

Growth opportunities exist in mature 
markets, where more water will be uti-
lized as the traditional production de-
grades. On the other hand that is likely to 
push Kemira’s customers to new areas of 
the world, bringing them unanticipated 
challenges. For instance, deeper offshore 
drilling requires polymers that can han-
dle higher temperatures and pressures. 
Another interesting business opportunity 
is in desalination.

“Approximately 97 percent of the 
world’s surface water comes from the  
sea. So the growing pressure for fresh  
water will demand new ways of purify-
ing and utilizing sea water. In the long 
term, we intend to be a key partner to 
our customers in the global shift to make 
better use of this vital natural resource,” 
summarizes Owens.

segments – oil & mining
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are emerging marKetS  

tHe main cHallenge For  

oil & mining in tHe Future? 

Yes, for a segment that has principal 
market shares in North America and 
Europe, becoming a global force is in-
deed a challenge. But we have the op-
portunity to capture new markets, 
taking our technologies and expertise 
and then tailoring them to local ap-
plications. 

wHicH areaS are you FocuSing on? 

South America is a priority for us. We 
will continue to invest there in order 
to speed the growth in this important 
region. 

wHicH countrieS in particular?

Brazil represents significant growth 
opportunities with a huge discovery 
of a large pre-salt oil deposit deep off 
the coast of Rio. There are also de-
posits of metals such as iron and alu-

looking south, looking east

Randy Owens, President of 
the Oil & Mining segment, 
points out that in 2009 the 

segment began investing 
in the South American and 
APAC regions to position 

these areas for potential 
growth.

Segment leader on tHe Spot

minum, and white minerals like ka-
olin. Chile, the world’s largest copper 
producer, and Colombia are also of 
interest for all of Kemira’s three busi-
ness segments. 

wHat about otHer regionS? 

We are beginning to lay the ground-
work for faster and more material 
growth in China and Russia. China 
is clearly important because of their 
oil and gas, metals and white miner-
als such as clay and carbonate used 
as filler for paper whitening. Russia 
presents some interesting opportuni-
ties in iron, nickel, oil and gas. Ke-
mira’s coatings business, Tikkurila, 
has been one of the most successful 
Western businesses in Russia, and we 
are studying how we can better fol-
low their example. Russia is a coun-
try that has ample areas for all of Oil 
& Mining’s three customer segments 
to grow long-term. 

did you Know?

prehistoric miners would use water power 

to propel gold-bearing sand over the hide of 

a sheep. these tiny, but heavy flakes of gold 

would absorb into the fleece. when dry, it 

would be beaten to produce grains of gold.

this primitive form of hydraulic mining was 

still being used by some miners during the 

1849 california gold rush. 

key figures 2009
customers: 

oil and mining industries 

market position: 

#1 in coagulants and #3 in 

flocculants worldwide 

markets: 

the market relevant to oil & mining  

is about eur 6 billion (kemira’s estimate).

products and Services:

products for the oil and mining industries

and customized manufacture

revenue

operating profit 

excluding non-recurring items

operating profit

operating profit, %, 

excluding non-recurring items

operating profit, %

capital employed* 

roce, %*

capital expenditure, 

exluding acquisitions

cash flow after investments, 

excluding interest and taxes
* 12 month rolling average

235.0

14.2

19.9

6.0

8.5

148.9

13.4

4.7

20.8

eur million
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the pipelines used for oil produc-
tion in the North Sea run for doz-
ens of miles, crisscrossing the bot-

tom of the ocean nearly 10,000 feet deep 
at places. The oil, however, does not al-
ways flow smoothly, as salt ions settle in 
layers on the pipes, equipment and rock 
formation. When seawater is injected in-
to the formations to move oil toward the 
production tubing, it comes into contact 
with formation water. The co-mingling 
of the two types of water leads to condi-
tions prone to scale formation that can 
plug pipelines and halt production.

Kemira has developed effective scale 
inhibitors to prevent this problem, and 
the North Sea, with its challenging con-
ditions, serves as an important reference 
case for the company. The strict environ-
mental requirements in the area set two 
main criteria for scale inhibitors: biode-
gradability within a tightly specified peri-
od and as little bioaccumulation as possi-

text: tim bird photo: iStocKpHoto

scale inhibitors  
of the north sea

ble in fish and other marine organisms. 
Kemira supplies scale inhibitors to oil 

industry service companies for use in dif-
ferent production processes. The com-
pany’s biodegradable scale inhibitors 
respond well to the need for environmen-
tally responsible products and comply 
with guidelines of the Convention for the 
Protection of the Marine Environment 
of the North-East Atlantic, known as the 
OSPAR Convention. Kemira’s scale in-
hibition product line also includes ad-
vanced “tagged” polymers, which allow 
companies to accurately monitor and as-
sess the optimal doses and intervals be-
tween applications, resulting in greater 
cost efficiency for oil producers. 

The demand for scale inhibitors is 
growing around the world. Kemira pre-
dicts that its products will be used in-
creasingly in the Gulf of Mexico and in 
the offshore fields in Brazil, Africa, and 
China, to name but a few examples.

success story

segments – oil & mining
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safe solutions, 
best quality
Serving a diverse client base, ChemSolutions steered clear  
of the pitfalls of the current economy. The unit’s success  
was enhanced especially by changes in consumer habits and 
a normalization of key raw material availability and pricing, 
improving the sales of solutions provided to the food and 
feed industries. 

The world’s leading manufacturer of 
organic acids and salts, ChemSolutions 
also offers a wide selection of products 
for feed solutions. The growing need 
for food increases the demand for ani-
mal feed. As a response to these customer 
needs, Kemira focuses on feed safety and 
efficiency.

“We pride ourselves in being a reli-
able company that focuses on high qual-
ity and following sector-specific stan-
dards. Our modes of operation support 
sustainable development. The main stra-
tegic goals for us in 2009 were opera-
tional excellence and the best products, 
and our course remains unchanged,” 
Wegener says.

The technology platform provided by 
the Kemira Group, along with collabora-
tion among different business segments 
in application development is an impor-
tant support to ChemSolutions. Many of 
the innovations related to formic acid, 
for example, resulted from collaboration 
among experts in different fields. 

“Our formic acid products are wide-
ly used in the leather, textile, rubber, 
and chemical industries. We also of-
fer products for the pharmaceutical in-
dustry. Our formate and acetate prod-
ucts are used at airports to remove ice 
and snow from runways. Indeed, chemis-
try is everywhere!” 

i
n addition to solutions related to 
water use, Kemira offers a compre-
hensive selection of products and 
services for the food, feed, pharma-
ceutical, and chemical industries. 
The success of ChemSolutions is 

and will be based on the megatrends of 
population growth and prosperity.

“The world consumption of food will 
continue to increase, as will the require-
ments set for foodstuffs. Our solutions 
for inhibiting the growth of micro-organ-
isms improve the safety, preservability, 
taste, and quality of food,” says  
Frank Wegener, Head of ChemSolutions.

chemsolutions

chemsolutions
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“tikkurila recorded a rela-
tively strong performance 
in 2009, despite the ex-
tremely challenging busi-

ness environment. Our revenue decreased 
by about 18 percent and our operat-
ing profit margin rose from the previous 
year’s 9.1 percent to 9.5 percent. We have 
been preparing for growth after the re-
cession by increasing operational efficien-
cy and creating new operating models,” 
says Erkki Järvinen, President and CEO 
of Tikkurila. 

Decorative paints constitute slightly 
over 80 percent of Tikkurila’s sales val-
ue. Wood and metal coatings make up 
the rest.

“Strong brands are important in times 
of economic uncertainty. We are market 
leaders in Finland, Sweden and Russia, 
especially in decorative paints for con-
sumers.” 

The recession has had the strongest ef-
fect on Tikkurila’s industrial customer 
group. Production has decreased in the 
wood and metal industries, resulting in a 
reduced demand for coatings. 

Järvinen believes that growth in de-
mand will continue after the recession. 

“The downturn in consumption is on-
ly temporary. The need for our products 
and services in the market has not van-
ished.”

Russia hOlds gROwth pOtential
Russia is Tikkurila’s most significant 
growth market. Paint consumption per 

of success
the colors
tikkurila

tikkurila
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30 seconds
•	tikkurila’s revenue in 2009 decreased by 

18 percent. operating profi t margin rose 

from the previous year’s 9.1 percent to 9.5 

percent (excluding non-recurring items).

•	decorative paints represent four-fi fths 

of tikkurila’s total production. wood and 

metal industry coatings constitute the rest. 

•	russia is tikkurila’s most important 

growth market, but the company seeks to 

increase sales in all of its market areas. 

•	sensitivity to trends is a vital necessity for 

a company in construction and decoration. 

strong brands bring consistency, especially 

in times of economic uncertainty. 

•	 in february 2010, the kemira board 

proposed to the agm that 86 percent of 

tikkurila shares be distributed as dividends 

to kemira’s shareholders. tikkurila’s shares 

are expected to be listed on nasdaq omx 

helsinki ltd in march 2010.

Kemira’s paints and coatings business recorded a strong 
performance, considering the challenging economic 
conditions. Tikkurila expects growth in the coming 
years, especially in Russia. 

capita in Russia is only one-third of that 
in the Nordic countries. 

“The Russian paint market holds im-
mense potential for growth. The coun-
try and its environs already represent al-
most one-third of Tikkurila’s total sales. 
One of our goals is to, in time, locally 
manufacture a larger share of the prod-
ucts intended for the Russian market. Lo-
cal production offered great benefi ts last 
year because of the low value of the Rus-
sian ruble.”

Russia’s large size, its different infra-
structure and varied climate conditions 
present great challenges for logistics. 
Tikkurila seeks to ensure effective stock 
rotation and high-quality customer ser-
vice by situating logistics centers near cli-
ents’ locations.

In spring 2009, Tikkurila’s new lo-
gistics and customer service center was 
opened in Mytish, near Moscow. The 
center provides excellent facilities for cus-
tomer training and many other services. 

Tikkurila seeks to increase sales in all 
of its market areas. In Sweden, for ex-
ample, where organic growth is slow, the 

company has worked on creating new 
service concepts. 

“Hiring professional painters is clearly 
a trend among Swedish consumers. For 
this reason, we must further increase our 
offering in products and expertise tai-
lored for professionals.”

seRvices aRe tikkuRila’s tRumpcaRd
Tikkurila will divide its customers into 
three target groups: consumers, profes-
sionals and industrial customers.

“We have decided to create a new seg-
ment for professionals, because their im-
portance as decision-makers is on the 
increase. We offer training and expert 
services for contractors, construction 
companies, architectural fi rms and other 
related businesses,” Järvinen says. 

The new customer classifi cation allows 
for enhanced and more precisely target-
ed products and services. In addition to 
strong brands, a comprehensive range 
of services is a key competitive asset for 
Tikkurila. A broad selection of services 
helps provide faster solutions to custom-
ers’ needs and wishes, be they related to 

tikkurila
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its business with great resolve, creating 
jobs in the process. A good corporate citi-
zen, Tikkurila has won the trust of local 
customers, which is also reflected in the 
popularity of our brands. 

How well-Known iS tiKKurila in ruSSia?

According to a survey published in St. 
Petersburg in November 2009, Tikkurila 
is among the 10 best-known brands in 
Russia. The company has been stead-
fast in strengthening its brand particular-
ly in Russia, and the images associated 
with Tikkurila are very positive. This has 
helped our sales in economically trying 
times. 

wHat are tiKKurila’S  

growtH marKetS beSideS ruSSia?

The Central Eastern Europe is an inter-
esting growth market. For example, the 
Czech Republic, Romania, Poland and 
Hungary offer new opportunities for 
Tikkurila. In addition, we are researching  
the Balkans.

wHy doeSn’t tiKKurila  

SeeK Stronger growtH in aSia?

Our strategic goal is to be a strong local 
player. To do that in China, for example, 
we would need to be a considerably larg-
er company than we currently are. We 
do sell high-quality specialty products to 
consumers there and serve international 
industrial customers.

Erkki Järvinen, President 
and CEO of Tikkurila, tells 
why the company has been 
succesful in Russia. 

leader on tHe Spot How did tiKKurila beneFit  

From itS Strong brandS in 2009?

Consumers are cautious in economi-
cally challenging times, favoring strong 
and well-known brands. Our manage-
ment believes this is one of the rea-
sons why Tikkurila has maintained a 
strong market position in its principal 
markets. 

wHat are tHe FactorS beHind  

tiKKurila’S SucceSS in ruSSia?

Tikkurila has proven its commitment to 
Russia by investing in the country con-
sistently. It is easy for local decision-
makers to see that Tikkurila is building 

russia: 
a promising 
coatings 
market

creating ideas, selecting the right color or 
paint, or performing the actual work. 

“We have established pools of profes-
sionals to help people find the right de-
signers, painting companies and con-
tractors for their home improvement 
projects. For professionals, we offer ser-
vice packages based on our products.”

When it comes to retailers, Tikkurila 
serves them by providing sales support-
ing brand advertisement, training servic-
es and planning help with product selec-
tion. In the industrial customer segment, 
Tikkurila increasingly deals directly with 
subcontractors. 

“Many of our industrial customers use 
subcontractors for painting, in which 
case we sell these subcontractors com-
prehensive service packages that include 
products. Our product development sup-

tikkurila
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alongside 
strong brands, a 
comprehensive 
range of services 
is tikkurila’s key 
competitive asset.

ports our sales department in creating 
solutions and applications for industrial 
customers.”

a cRystallized stRategy
Tikkurila fi ne-tuned its strategy in 2009. 
According to Järvinen, this was es-
sential to enhancing the company’s 
competitive strength. 

The key elements of Tikkurila’s strate-
gy are customer focus, profi table growth, 
geographic focus, strong brands and one 
unifi ed Tikkurila. To improve customer 
service and effi ciency, Tikkurila changed 
its organization as of December 31, 
2009 to refl ect the geographical division. 
The four new strategic business units 
are East, Finland, Scandinavia and Cen-
tral Eastern Europe.

“This structural adjustment is based 
on strategy work carried out in 2009. 
We defi ned where we want to be geo-
graphically, what our customer seg-
ments are and what products and servic-
es we shall offer.”

Customers will also benefi t from this 
structural change. Tikkurila seeks to col-
lect best practices from subsidiaries in 
different countries and to create shared 
operating models. This will simultaneous-
ly result in a more unifi ed company that 
is easier to steer. 

“We also defi ned four strategic brands 
that we would use in more than one 
country. In addition, we have local tacti-
cal brands. We continually monitor the 
development of our brands and invest 
in them in the long term.”

cOnsOlidatiOn is a tRend
According to Järvinen, the current con-
solidation trend in Tikkurila’s line of 
business generally supports the compa-
ny’s business operations. 

“Raw material suppliers are consoli-
dating, and the paint industry is under-
going structural changes, as is retail. Fur-
ther growth of major players is a general 
trend in the value chain. Tikkurila profi ts 
from this development, for big companies 
usually prefer leading suppliers.” 

In addition to consolidation, major 
trends affecting Tikkurila include height-
ened environmental awareness and strict-
er environmental laws.

“We benefi t from stricter environmen-
tal legislation in that we have the re-
sources to carry out the required changes. 
It is impossible to compete successfully 
without active product development and 
environmentally sustainable products.”

key figures 2009
customers:

consumers, professional painters, 

industrial customers

market position:

#1 in decorative paints in finland, 

sweden and russia

market area:

northern europe, central eastern europe, 

russia and other cis countries

products and services:

decorative paints, wood and metal 

coatings, and advisory services

revenue

operating profi t 

excluding non-recurring items

operating profi t

operating profi t, %, 

excluding non-recurring items

operating profi t, %

capital employed* 

roce, %*

capital expenditure, 

exluding acquisitions

cash fl ow after investments, 

excluding interest and taxes
* 12 month rolling average

530.2

50.1

47.7

9.5

9.0

304.0

15.7

13.5

61.4

eur million
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Kemira 
code oF conduct

economic  
reSponSibility

consistent accounting policies, reliability, veracity

responsibility for the protection of company assets

prohibition of the use and disclosure  

of any insider information

compliance with applicable competition  

laws, ethical competition

Social reSponSibility

equal treatment and nondiscrimination

confidentiality

fair partnership and respect for multi-culturalism

avoidance of personal conflicts  

of interest and personal benefits

prohibition of offering and accepting bribes

transaction with reliable partners

environmental  
reSponSibility
prevention and minimization of harmful effects

efficient use of natural resources

development of environmentally  

preferable products and services

development of the environmental business

three-fold 
responsibility
Kemira’s updated strategy establishes 
sustainable development as a significant 
objective in the Group’s activity. A focus 
on offering water treatment solutions 
is an important alignment. It facilitates 
the setting of both economic, social and 
environmental targets.

photo: istockphoto
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w
hether a small 
household or a 
large economy, it 
is clear that more 
cash should fl ow 
in than out in the 

long term. A negative cash fl ow may be 
justifi able for a period of time – as in 
Kemira’s case between 2005 and 2007 
when the company made major invest-
ments and acquisitions. In 2008, the 
company decided to reverse the direction. 
Kemira’s cash fl ow after investments in 
2009 was EUR 202.2 million. 

“We are especially proud of this devel-
opment. It is a result of the entire com-
pany working consistently toward a com-
mon goal,” says Jyrki Mäki-Kala, CFO 
of Kemira. 

keeping cOsts in check
Careful working-capital management 
was one of the main reasons behind 
the improved cash fl ow. 

“The better we know the demand from 
our customers, the better we are able to 
optimize our production and to reduce 
our stock,” Mäki-Kala says. 

He expects these principles to reap 
benefi ts for Kemira in the long term. 
He anticipates the same from Kemira’s 
global cost-savings program, which 
was launched in 2008. The program in-
creased Kemira’s earnings – before inter-
est, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
– by over EUR 30 million in 2009. Ke-
mira’s ultimate goal is to save a total of 
EUR 85 million by the end of 2010, with 

goals reached:  
a solid financial foundation

Tikkurila constituting EUR 25 million 
of these savings. Kemira also improved 
its cash fl ow by decreasing investments – 
without compromising its operational ac-
tivities in any way. 

gROwing pROfitably
Kemira achieved another important goal 
when its gearing fell to 53 percent. This 
was done by improving cash fl ow and the 
rights issue. 

“We were determined to reach our tar-
get level of 40 to 80 percent,” Mäki-Ka-
la says. According to him, a lower gear-
ing ratio supports Kemira’s target of an 
annual organic growth of fi ve percent in 
revenue. “Funds received from share is-
sues, for example, will primarily be in-
vested in research and development and 
in the company’s expansion to new geo-
graphical areas.”

The lower the gearing ratio, the easi-
er it will be for Kemira to negotiate good 

terms for loans in refi nancing situations. 
A strong balance sheet also adds fl exibil-
ity to the company’s water strategy im-
plementation. In addition, it facilitates 
organic growth as well as growth by ac-
quisitions.

Mäki-Kala believes that, combined 
with the achieved cost savings, the de-
sired revenue growth will in 3 to 5 years 
result in an operating profi t that meets 
the company’s goal: at least 10 percent 
of revenue. Combined with a constantly 
improving operating profi t, the positive 
cash fl ow inevitably leads to an improved 
return on capital employed. 

He emphasizes that economic respon-
sibility presupposes profi table business 
operations. As a profi table company, Ke-
mira improves its clients’ productivity, 
serves as a reliable partner, increases the 
value of investments in its shares and of-
fers an inspiring working environment 
for its employees. 

Kemira achieved two 
important economic 
goals in 2009: the 
company’s cash fl ow 
improved, and its 
gearing ratio decreased 
to the target level. 

corporate responsibility – economic responsibility

eur million

customers

 income from customers on the basis of products 

 and services sold, and fi nancial income

suppliers

 payments to suppliers of raw materials, 

 goods and services

employees

 wages and salaries and social expenses

investors

 interest paid and fi nancial 

 expenses, dividends

taxes

capital expenditure on maintenance and improvement

defect/surplus

income from divesting assets

capital expenditure on expansion and acquisitions

repayment of capital

 repayment of loans (–) and new loans (+)

capital injections

 additional equity from owners

net change in cash

2009

2,607.3

–1,842.1

–390.3

–94.3

–26.3

–54.5

199.8

0.3

–31.3

–216.4

200.0

152.4

2008

2,866.7

–2,208.1

–469.2

–139.5

–23.9

–94.3

–68.3

254.3

–247.5

128.2

0.0

66.7

Kemira’S economic impact

corporate responsibility – economic responsibility
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a common 
strategy 
needs a 
shared 
corporate 
culture

In 2009, Kemira created shared 
operating models for working 
in a global organization and for 
managing this work. Crystallized 
goals now guide Kemira’s 
employees as they bring the 
company’s strategy to life. 

corporate responsibility – human resources
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peRsOnnel by RegiOn, 
yeaR-end

euROpe, middle east and afRica

asia pacific

nORth ameRica

sOuth ameRica

76%

4%

15%

5%

that strategy. At the end of the year, this 
global and multidimensional organiza-
tion was already working at full capacity. 

“During that time, we wanted to make 
sure that all employees understood how 
their work was related to our strategy. It 
is important, especially in a global ma-
trix organization, that everyone knows 
his or her role and the related goals and 
development needs,” says Eeva Salonen, 
Executive Vice President for Human 
Resources.

All units adopted shared models for 
discussing personal goals and develop-
ment needs as part of general work man-
agement. The company was able to fa-
miliarize nearly all supervisors with this 
performance management model during 
2009. “We will continue on this course, 
while developing the model further,” 
Salonen says. 

new ways Of leaRning
In addition to clearly defined roles, a 
global organization requires shared ways 
of working. For this reason, Kemira’s em-

ployees worked together on the compa-
ny’s values and way of working in 2009. 
At the same time, the company created 
practical means for communication be-
tween different countries and business 
units, allowing for effortless communi-
cation among teams. Kemira increas-a

t year-end 2009, Ke-
mira employed 8,493 
persons. 76 percent 
were located in Eu-
rope, Middle East 
and Africa, 15 per-
cent in North Amer-

ica, 5 percent in South America and 4 
percent in the Asia and Pacific region. 
Tikkurila’s portion of the personnel 
was 3,538 persons.

Kemira is committed to creating ide-
al working conditions for its person-
nel. Everyone is entitled to contribute in 
the development of both their work en-
vironment and individual competencies. 
Leadership development is important as 
well, for supervisors bear an important 
responsibility: personnel management. 

In the wake of the strategy’s renewal 
also Kemira’s corporate values and ways 
of working were discussed and renewed 
together with the personnel. At the be-
ginning of 2009, Kemira had a recently 
renewed strategy and a restructured or-
ganization that had been aligned to fulfill 
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yeaR-end

aveRage 
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peR milliOn wORking 
hOuRs
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peRmanent peRsOnnel 

wOmen

men

2,695

5,798

ingly used video conferences and on-
line learning. 

Supervisors received additional support 
in managing teams with members in dif-
ferent countries or offices. Training for 
leading remote teams took place online. 
E-learning also proved to be an excellent 
tool in, for example, product training. 
Kemira’s leadership development pro-
gram was revised in 2009.

Salonen emphasizes, however, that 
learning methods changed more than the 
tools. “People learn mostly through work 
and through teaching others.”

a stRategy fOR eveRyOne
Employees discussed Kemira’s fine-tuned 
strategy at local events with local man-

agement. The introductory event was 
held at company headquarters, resulting 
in an information kit for other locations. 
The strategy was also shared within the 
company when clarifying personal roles 
and goals. 

“We wanted to ensure that the main 
points of the strategy were communicat-
ed around the world. Our annual person-
nel survey, among other things, showed 
that our employees wanted a better un-
derstanding of the company’s direction. 
After all, this is the first time we have a 
common strategy.” 

emplOyees speak theiR mind
Kemira’s annual personnel survey was 
carried out in the spring 2009. Employ-
ees’ opinions and feelings about the com-
pany’s new direction were also monitored 
via three quick surveys. 

“Regular feedback from employees 
helps us to identify and address issues 
that cause concern during change,” Sa-
lonen says. 

Kemira’s global savings program in 
2008 included personnel reductions in 
Finland, Sweden, the United States and 
Germany. Some of these reductions were 
implemented in early 2009, when Tik-
kurila’s change and savings program re-
sulted in lay-offs in Finland. In addition, 

most employees started off the year in 
new roles in the upgraded organization. 

“Major change nearly always weak-
ens things such as trust. These can be re-
stored through supportive communica-
tion and managerial work. All in all, the 
results of our annual personnel survey in-
dicate that our employees trust their su-
pervisors. This is one of our strengths.”

kemiRa has safety at heaRt
Kemira invests a great deal in work safe-
ty. The company’s long-term investments 
reap results: in 2009, the Kemira’s lost 
time accident (LTA1) incident rate was 
3.5, compared to 4.4 in the previous year. 
The LTA1 indicates the number of occu-
pational accidents that resulted in one or 
more lost work days per million hours 
worked. Kemira had no major industrial 
accidents or fatalities in 2009. 

Excluding Tikkurila, the Kemira 
Group’s LTA1 was 3.3, compared to 3.8 
in the previous year. 

“In several months, we recorded an 
LTA1 of less than 2 which was our goal,” 
says Aarno Salminen, Vice President for 
Environment and Safety. Only leading 
chemical companies in the world achieve 
this level constantly. 

photo: istockphoto
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fifth of Kemira’s personnel contributed to 
this process. These topics were also dis-
cussed on the company’s intranet.

Toward the end of 2009, representa-
tives of business segments and functional 
units summarized the results of these dis-
cussions, first regionally and then global-
ly. The employees’ thoughts on Kemira’s 
strengths were strikingly similar in differ-
ent parts of the company, as were their 
future hopes.

These results were refined into values 
and operating principles that were pub-
lished in January 2010. Kemira intends 
to integrate them into discussions about 
employees’ personal goals and develop-
ment needs before the end of the year. 
Moreover, Kemira’s employees can apply 

values and shared ways  
of working build company culture

1. what do you find most inspiring in Kemira’s strategy? 

2. How does this translate to your job?

we asked kemira employees 
about the updated strategy

kemira’s personnel includes many 
employees from companies ac-
quired by Kemira. Each of them 

has brought a piece of their own compa-
ny’s culture into Kemira. In 2009, Kemira 
decided to collect thoughts on company 
culture from its employees. 

The company explored what the em-
ployees list as Kemira’s current strengths 
and what Kemira is known for. Kemira’s 
leadership participated in the value pro-
cess and defined the starting points and 
objectives of this work.

Kemira nominated 50 employees to 
serve as facilitators who discussed the 
company’s strengths locally with other 
employees. They also discussed their fu-
ture hopes and expectations. Nearly one-

these values to their everyday work.
It was observed that the mere process 

of defining values had a positive impact 
on collaboration within the company. 
Employees were delighted at the oppor-
tunity to contribute and to get to know 
one another better. Experts from different 
functions, for example, reported to have 
gained new perspectives from each oth-
er. The process also showed how having 
a common direction can improve the new 
organisation’s speed and flexibility. 

Juha Lindfors

research Scientist, Finland

1. a focus on water management and wa-

ter intensive industries means a significant 

growth potential for our business as the avail-

ability of natural resources, such as water, 

will get scarcer. clear commitment to select-

ed customer groups and customer-orientation 

enables us to concentrate on developing prod-

ucts and concepts that are really needed.

2. in r&d, we have a chance not only to par-

ticipate in building successful business but also 

to influence future technological solutions that 

use natural resources and energy efficiently.

ioLanda Lima

customer Services coordinator, brasil

1. the strategy’s focus on saving water and 

energy is very important to me at a personal 

level. i can feel i am part of something bigger, 

that helps not only the company and its cus-

tomers, but also the environment and the so-

ciety on a global scale.

2. being aware about customer needs is an 

important part of my job as a customer ser-

vices coordinator. kemira is as aware of these 

needs as i am, striving to help them save wa-

ter and energy.

Wang Ye

Hr manager, china

1. we now have a strong strategy; it will gen-

erate a set of systematic activities which will 

facilitate the achievement of our targets. it en-

courages kemira employees to bring strategic 

objectives to an operational level. 

2. it affects global and regional human re-

sources projects much more. our processes 

and tools are effectively linked to the strategy. 

i enjoy being part of a team formed by moti-

vated people who share a common approach 

to the work we do.

read more about Kemira’S valueS:
www.kemira.com > about us > strategy > values

corporate responsibility – human resources
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two routes 
to a healthier 
environment
Kemira further decreased its environmental 
impact in 2009. The amount of waste and 
emissions was succesfully decreased, and the 
level of safety improved. The company also 
seeks to reduce environmental burdens by 
offering its customers products and expertise 
in water management. 

the baltic sea’s enviROnmental distRess is mOstly 

caused by eutROphicatiOn. kemiRa is actively invOlved 

in pROmOting the adOptiOn Of betteR wastewateR 

tReatment methOds in all suRROunding cOuntRies.

corporate responsibility – environmental responsibility
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k
emira’s waste and emis-
sions to water and air 
have decreased more than 
80 percent over the past 
12 years. These decreas-
es result from the compa-

ny’s long-term commitment to reducing 
its environmental impact. During 2009, 
Kemira’s waste and emissions lessened 
by 27 percent. According to Aarno Sal-
minen, Vice President for Environment 
and Safety, this is partly explained by 
the decrease in demand and, conse-
quently, in production. 

“This was also the fi rst year with-
out pigments business operations, 
which generated a large proportion of 
our environmental fi gures, although 
these operations were run with utmost 
environmental care.”

For the same reasons, environmen-
tal operating costs fell by 50 percent 
to EUR 14.8 million during 2009. En-
vironmental investments decreased by 
67 percent to EUR 2.4 million. In 2009 
Kemira launched two long-term envi-
ronmental remedial projects in Finland. 

saving wateR and eneRgy
According to Salminen, most of Ke-
mira’s production plants recycle water 
effectively, and the company has no sig-
nifi cant wastewater issues. Through its 
products, Kemira increasingly affects 
how effectively its customer companies 
treat and save water. 

Kemira monitors its impact on water 
use by comparing wastewater discharg-
es from its production plants to wa-
ter volumes treated with its products in 
customers’ production plants. 

“The results indicate the direction in 
which we are headed, although the cal-
culation does not take into account the 
full product life cycle,” says Salminen. 

The tool used to assess freshwater us-
age is commonly referred to as the wa-
ter footprint. This method is currently 
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being standardized on an internation-
al level. After the process is completed, 
Kemira will seek to determine the wa-
ter footprints of its key products.  

In 2008, Kemira committed to a vol-
untary energy effi ciency initiative in 
Finland. As part of this commitment, 
the company began to integrate en-
ergy effi ciency improvements into its 
global management systems during 
2009. Elina Engman, Vice President for 
Energy, expects these measures to bring 
savings and to further reduce Kemira’s 
direct and indirect greenhouse gas 
emissions. Kemira uses primarily CO2 
freely generated electricity, and its heat 
energy originates progressively more 
from renewable and recycled fuels. 

“We are making efforts to in-
crease our self-suffi ciency in electricity 
through affi liates,” Engman says. 

haRmOnized management
Environmental, health, safety and qual-
ity (EHSQ) management systems aim 
at establishing comprehensive certifi ca-
tion and consistent operating and re-
porting practices at all company sites. 
A more detailed internal standard for 
Kemira’s production plants was estab-
lished in 2009. 

“This model will be implemented 
throughout the Kemira Group during 
2010. A shared operating model helps 
us improve work safety in particular,” 
Aarno Salminen says.  

No signifi cant process accidents oc-
curred in 2009. Preventive technical 
audits and risk assessments were in-
creased and a new IT application for 
process hazard analyses was intro-
duced. Several sites conducted or initi-
ated infrastructure improvement pro-
grams which promote process safety.

read more:
on work safety: p. 42

on reach registration and the water footprint: 

kemira’s 2009 environmental report

corporate responsibility – environment

the environmental index 
consists of seven different 
releases, and of non-
haZardous and haZardous 
waste. in year 1997 
the index was 100.
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 peKKa paaSiKivi
chairman of the board, b. 1944, b.sc. (eng.)

member of the kemira oyj  

board of directors since 2007 

kemira shares: 988,382

positions of trust: varma mutual pension in-

surance company, chairman of the supervisory 

board since 2005 | oras invest ltd, chairman of 

the board since 2004 | foundation of economic 

education, member of the board since 2003 

past positions of trust: east office of finnish 

industries, member of the board 15.4.2008–

14.10.2009 | raute oyj, member of the board, 

2002–2008 | erkki paasikivi foundation, chair-

man of the board, 1997–2008 | okmetic oyj, 

member of the board, 1996–2008 | uponor oyj, 

chairman of the board, 1999–2008 | hollm-

ing oy, vice chairman of the board, 1993–2005 

| the central of commerce of finland, mem-

ber of the board, 1996–1998 | yrittäjäin fennia, 

member of the board, 1987–1998

recent career history: oras companies, various 

positions since 1966, including managing direc-

tor, president and ceo, chairman of the board

kemira board of directors
for full resumé details, please see kemira website:

www.kemira.com > about us > corporate governance > group management > board of directors

 JuKKa viinanen
vice-chairman, b. 1948, m.sc. (tech.)

member of the kemira oyj  

board of directors since 2008

kemira shares: 1,250

positions of trust: metso oyj, member of the 

board since 2008, chairman of the board since 

2009 | lahti regional development compa-

ny, lakes, chairman of the board since 2009 | 

past positions of trust: rautaruukki oyj, chair-

man of the board,  2001–2009 | huhtama-

ki oyj, member of the board, 1999–2005 | up-

onor oyj (former asko oyj), member of the 

board, 1993–2001 | lassila & tikanoja group 

oyj, member of the board, 1993–2001 | state 

research institute, chaiman of the board, 1994–

2002 | neste oyj, vice chairman of the board, 

1996–1999 | neste oyj, member of the board, 

1990–1996

recent career history: president and ceo of 

orion oyj 2000–2007 | president and ceo of 

neste oyj 1997–1999 | executive and board po-

sitions in neste oyj 1983–1999 

 elizabetH armStrong
b. 1947, ph.d. 

member of the kemira oyj  

board of directors since 2003

kemira shares: 0

past positions of trust: image polymers, 

chairman of the board, 1996–2005

recent career history: neoresins, president, 

1996–2005 | avencia, senior vice president, 

1999–2005 | cytec industries, vice president, 

1993–1996 | cyanamid, several positions includ-

ing ceo, 1976–1993

 wolFgang bücHele
b. 1959, dr. rer. nat.

member of the kemira oyj  

board of directors since 2009 

kemira shares:  0

positions of trust: member of the supervisory 

board of merck kgaa, as of July 1, 2009 | mem-

ber of the board of partners e. merck kg, as of 

July 1, 2009

recent career history: chairman of the board 

and ceo of borsodchem Zrt. | senior advisor 

kemira board of directors
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of permira beteiligungsberatung gmbh. | proj-

ect advisor, blackstone group llp, 2008 | basf 

ag, various positions, including president fine 

chemicals division, 2005 – 2007, president per-

formance chemicals division, 2003 – 2005  

 JuHa laaKSonen
b. 1952, b.sc. (econ.)

member of the kemira oyj  

board of directors since 2007

kemira shares: 0

positions of trust: oao fortum, member of 

the board since 2008 | sato oyj, chairman of 

the board since 2007 | the fortum art founda-

tion, chairman of the board since 2005 | teol-

lisuuden voima oy, member of the board since 

2003 | kemijoki oy, member of the supervisory 

board since 2002 

past positions of trust: tapiola mutual insur-

ance company, member of the supervisory 

board, 2002–2007 | neste oil oyj, member of 

the board, 2005–2007  

recent career history: ceo of fortum corpo-

ration since 2000 | fortum oyj, corporate vice 

president, mergers &acquisitions, 2000 | 

fortum oil & gas oy, executive vice president, 

finance & planning, 1999. | neste oyj, chief 

financial officer, 1998. | neste oyj, corporate 

controller, 1997

 KaiJa peHu-leHtonen
b. 1962, m.sc. (eng.)

member of the kemira oyj  

board of directors since 2004 

kemira shares: 0

positions of trust: forestcluster ltd, member of 

the board since 2008 | mittaportti oy, chairman 

of the board since 2007 | oy silva shipping ab, 

member of the board since 2009 | vtt techni-

cal research centre of finland, member of the 

board since 2010

recent career history: oy metsä-botnia ab, 

vice president, new businesses in the business 

development competence centre since 2008 

| site manager of the rauma pulp mill of oy 

metsä-botnia ab 2001–2008 | expert and man-

agerial positions with kymmene oy and metsä-

botnia since 1986

 Jarmo väiSänen
b. 1951, lic.pol.sc

member of the kemira oyj  

board of directors since 2008 

kemira shares: 0

positions of trust: finnair oyj, chairman of the 

nomination committee since 2008 | edita oyj, 

vice chairman of the board since 2006 

past positions of trust: neste oil oyj, chair-

man of the nomination committee 

2007–2009 | outokumpu oyj, chairman of the 

nomination committee 2007–2009 | sponda 

oyj, vice chairman of the board, 1996–2008 

| kapiteeli oyj, vice chairman of the board, 

2003–2006 | solidium oy, vice chairman of the 

board, 1996–2004 | finnish export credit oy, 

vice chairman of the board, 2003–2004 re-

cent career history: ownership steering de-

partment of the prime minister’s office, senior 

financial counsellor since 2007 | ministry of fi-

nance: head of the ownership steering unit 

2000–2007, head of the market stability unit 

1997–1999 and head of the ggf group 1996–

1997 | government guarantee fund, deputy 

director and m&a specialist 1993–1996 

kemira board of directors

photos: susanna kekkonen
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 Harri Kerminen 
b. 1951, m.sc. (eng.), mba

chairman of the board,  

president and ceo since January 1, 2008 

with kemira since 1985

kemira shares: 158,252

recent career history: kemira oyj, president 

of the kemira pulp&paper business area, 2006–

2007 | kemira oyj, president of the kemira spe-

cialty business area, 2000–2006 | kemira chem-

icals oy, vice president, human resources, 

1996–2000 

“kemira’s strategy has never been as clear, nor 

the business opportunities as promising.”

 petri boman
b. 1966, m.sc. (tech.)

executive vice president,  

supply chain management since 2007 

with kemira since 2005 | kemira shares: 1,297

recent career history: kemira oyj, group vice 

president, supply chain the kemira coatings 

business area, 2005–2006 | nokia corporation, 

senior slm manager, 2002–2005 | nokia corpo-

ration, designer and new technology purchas-

ing manager in denmark and the uk,  

1997–2002 

“well-managed supply chains bring added value 

to both customers and kemira.”

 Hilton caSaS de almeida
b. 1961, b.sc. (chemistry)

region head for south america since 2008 

with kemira since 2007 | kemira shares: 57,325

recent career history: basf sa, function-

al polymers unit, regional business director, 

2004–2007 | basf ag, functional polymers divi-

sion, sales manager (europe), 2001–2004 | basf 

sa, specialty chemicals division, regional sales 

& marketing manager, product manager

“south america is the place to do business: 

it offers numerous opportunities for all of 

kemira’s core segments.”

kemira management boards
for full resumé details, please see kemira website:

www.kemira.com > about us > corporate governance 

> group management > group management boards

 JoHan grön
b. 1966, d.sc. (chem.eng.) 

executive vice president, 

r&d and technology since 2008 

with kemira since 2006 | kemira shares: 42,587

recent career history: kemira oyj, vice presi-

dent, r&d, business area pulp & paper, 2006–

2008 | stora enso publication papers oy, r&d 

manager, 2004–2005 | metso paper inc., vice 

president, process chemistry and technology, 

2002–2004 | Åbo akademi university, adjunct 

professor since 1998 

“kemira is now striving for organic growth. 

therefore, efficient r&d plays a key role.”

 JuKKa HaKKila
b. 1960, ll.m.

executice vice president, 

group general counsel since 2005 

with kemira since 2005 | kemira shares: 46,102

recent career history: elcoteq network corpo-

ration, general counsel, 2002–2005 | finnish ex-

port credit ltd., senior vice president, lending 

and legal affairs, 2002 | sampo bank in new 

york, chief representative, 2001–2002 

“we are committed to good governance. to-

gether with kemira’s code of conduct it forms 

the principals for our operation.”

 petri HelSKy
b. 1966, m.sc. (chem. eng.), m.sc. (econ.)

president, paper segment since 2008 

with kemira since 2007 | kemira shares: 54,652

recent career history: kemira chemsolutions, 

senior vice president, sbu manager, 2007–2008 

| kemira chemsolutions b.v., managing direc-

tor, 2007–2008 | solvay sa, business manager 

h2o2 emea, 2002–2007 

“kemira has a long-term commitment to serv-

ing the paper industry – after all, papermaking 

depends on water chemistry.”

 päivi JoKinen
b. 1968, m.sc. (econ.)

executive vice president,  

marketing and communications since 2008 

with kemira since 2008 | kemira shares: 20,425

career history: international paper europe, 

strategic planning manager, 2006–2008 | inter-

national paper european papers, marketing 

director, 2004–2006 | specialty minerals europe, 

marketing and strategic planner, 2003–2003

“at kemira we are dedicated 

to customer success.”

 ronald Kwan
b. 1957, ba chemistry

region head for asia pacific since 2008 

with kemira since 2007 | kemira shares: 53,125

recent career history: kemira oyj, kemira 

chemicals (shanghai) co. ltd., managing di-

rector, pulp and paper, china, 2007–2008 | ciba 

specialty chemicals, head of segment coating 

effects, asia pacific, 2005–2007 | ciba specialty 

chemicals, director of business development, 

asia pacific, 2002–2005 

“china will make substantial investments in wa-

ter treatment in the coming years. kemira must  

be a part of this development.”

 HåKan Kylander
b. 1953, studies for m.sc. (econ.)

region head for emea since 2008 

with kemira since 1988 | kemira shares: 18,732

recent career history: kemira pulp&paper, 

vice president, human resources, 2004–2008 

| kemira oyj, kemira chemicals oy, vice pres-

ident, human resources, 2000–2003 | ke-

mira pigments oy, vice president, finance & it, 

1997–1999 

“there are plenty of business opportunities 

even in established markets. ”

kemira management boards
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 Hannu melarti
b. 1953, ll.b

region head for north america since 2008 

with kemira since 2005 | kemira shares: 60,400

recent career history: kemira chemicals 

inc., president, 2005–2007 | metso inc., presi-

dent, 2001–2004 | metso paper inc., president, 

1999–2000 

“every employee – regardless of their title – has 

an important role in business development.”

 JyrKi mäKi-Kala
b. 1961, m.sc. (econ.)

chief financial officer since 2008 

deputy ceo since september 1, 2009 

with kemira since 2005 | kemira shares: 61,529

recent career history: kemira oyj, president 

of the kemira pulp&paper business area, 

february 6, 2008 – september 30, 2008 | ke-

mira oyj, kemira pulp&paper, vice president, fi-

nance & control, 2006–2007 | kemira oyj, ke-

mira pulp&paper, vice president, lanxess paper 

chemicals integration, 2005–2007 

“we achieved important economic goals in 

2009. kemira employees can be proud of this.”

 peKKa oJanpää
b. 1966, m.sc. (econ.)

president, 

municipal & industrial segment since 2008 

with kemira since 2005 | kemira shares: 60,587

recent career history: kemira oyj, president of 

the kemira specialty business area, 2006–2008 | 

kemira oyj, executive vice president of procure-

ment & logistics, 2005–2006 | nokia oyj, vice 

president, electromechanics supply line man-

agement, 2001–2004 

“water is the oil of the future. global trends 

point to water chemistry as a big business 

opportunity for top producers.”

 randy owenS
b. 1964, b.sc. (petroleum engineer), mba

president, oil and mining segment since 2008 

with kemira since 2002 | kemira shares: 59,444

recent career history: kemira oyj, kemira 

pulp&paper, vice president, strategic busi-

ness unit additives, 2002–2008 | vinings indus-

tries, business manager, sales/product manage-

ment/marketing management, 1991–2002 

“water is an essential element for the oil and 

mining industries. kemira has extensive applica-

tion knowledge in these industries to meet our 

customers’ needs.”

 eeva Salonen
b. 1960, m.a.

executive vice president,  

human resources since 2008 

with kemira since 2008 | kemira shares: 13,579

recent career history: nokia oyj, vice presi-

dent, human resources, devices research and 

development, January 1, 2008 – June 8, 2008 

| nokia oyj, vice president, human resourc-

es, mobile phones business group, 2004–2007 

| nokia oyj, director, business hr, nokia mobile 

phones, global operations, logistics and sourc-

ing 2002–2004 

“shared strategy and new company values 

unites kemira employees around the world. 

we are all going in the same direction.”

kemira management boards
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 Harri Kerminen, 
b. 1951, m.sc. (eng.), mba

chairman of the tikkurila board since 2008. 

kemira’s president and ceo.

positions of trust: east office, member of the 

board since 2009 | chemical industry federa-

tion, vice chairman of the board since 2009 | 

cefic, member of the board since 2008 | tikku-

rila oy, chairman of the board since 2008 re-

cent career history: kemira oyj, president of 

the kemira pulp&paper business area, 2006–

2007 | kemira oyj, president of the kemira spe-

cialty business area, 2000–2006 | kemira chem-

icals oy, vice president, human resources, 

1996–2000 

 eeva aHdeKivi
b. 1966, m.sc. (econ.)

member of tikkurila’s board since 2009.

positions of trust: patria oyj, member of the 

board 2008-2009 | young enterprise finland, au-

ditor since 2006 recent career history: solidi-

um oy, investment director, since 2009 | prime 

minister’s office, ownership steering depart-

ment, financial specialist 2007-2009 | pohjola 

asset management ltd., director, 2004–2006 | 

conventum oyj, partner, 1997–2003

 ove mattSSon 
b. 1940, ph.d.

member of tikkurila’s board since 2009. 

positions of trust: fabryo corporation srl, 

member of the board since 2008 | biotage ab, 

chairman of the board since 2007 and board 

member since 2003 | geveko ab, chairman of 

the board since 2006 recent career history: 

akzo nobel nv, member of management board 

and coo of akzo nobel coatings,1994–2000 | 

nobel industries ab, president and ceo, 1991–

1994 | casco nobel ab, president, 1978–1991

 Jari paaSiKivi 
b. 1954, m.sc. (econ.)

vice chairman of tikkurila’s board since 2008.

positions of trust: uponor corporation, chair-

man of the board since 2008 | finland cen-

tral chamber of commerce, vice chairman of 

the board since 2007 | technology industries 

of finland, member of the board since 2006 

recent career history: oras invest limited, 

president and ceo since 2006 | oras ltd, presi-

dent and ceo, 2002–2007 | oras ltd, manag-

ing director, 1994–2001

 pia rudengren 
b. 1965, m.sc. (ba and econ.)

member of tikkurila’s board since 2009.

positions of trust: metso oyj, member of the 

board since 2009 | swedbank ab, member of 

the board since 2009 | duni ab, member of 

the board since 2007 recent career histo-

ry: w capital management ab, executive vice 

president, 2001–2005 | investor ab, cfo and 

member of the management group, 1998–

2001, deputy | cfo 1996–1998, head of cor-

porate finance and equity trading, 1994–1996

 petteri walldén 
b. 1948, m.sc. (eng.)

member of tikkurila’s board since 2008.

positions of trust: comptel oyj, member 

of the board since 2009 | teleste oyj, mem-

ber of the board since 2009 | empower oy, 

member of the board since 2007 recent ca-

reer history:alteams oy, managing direc-

tor since 2007 | onninen oy, managing direc-

tor, 2001−2005 | ensto oy, managing director, 

1996−2001

 erKKi Järvinen
b. 1960, m.sc. (econ.)

tikkurila’s president and ceo since 2009.

positions of trust: association of finnish ad-

vertisers, member of the board since 2009 

| sannäsin kartano oy, vice chairman of the 

board since 2008 recent career history: rau-

takirja oy, president and ceo, 2001–2008 | 

rautakirja oy, senior vice president, kiosk op-

erations, 1997–2001 | siljans knäcke ab, man-

aging director, 1995–1996

tikkurila’s board 
of directors and ceo

for full resumé details, please see tik-

kurila website: tikkurilagroup.com > 

about us > management and organi-

Zation > board of directors

tikkurila's 

board of 

directors 

and ceo 
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corporate governance

general
Kemira Oyj’s corporate governance is 
based on the Articles of Association, the 
Finnish Companies Act and NASDAQ 
OMX Helsinki Ltd’s rules and regula-
tions on listed companies.

Furthermore, the Company complies 
with the Finnish Corporate Governance 
Code, with the exception that the Nomi-
nation Committee primarily consists of 
members outside the Company’s Board 
of Directors which is not in line with the 
Governance Code’s recommendation 22. 
According to the view of the Company’s 
Board of Directors, it is in the best inter-
est of the Company and its shareholders 
that the biggest shareholders participate 
in preparing nomination and compen-
sation issues related to the Board of 
Directors. 

The Finnish Corporate Governance 
Code is publicly available at www.cgfin-
land.fi.

Kemira’s Corporate Governance State-
ment has been published as a separate re-
port at the same time as the report by the 
Board of Directors.

management bodieS
The Shareholders’ Meeting, the Board 
of Directors and the Managing Director 
are responsible for Kemira’s management 
and operations. Their tasks are defined 
based on the Finnish Companies Act and 
Kemira’s Articles of Association.

SHareHolderS’ meeting
Kemira Oyj’s shareholders’ meeting, 
the Company’s highest decision-making 
body, is held at least once a year. The An-
nual General Meeting (AGM) must be 
held each year by the end of May.

The AGM makes decisions on tasks 
within its competence under the Com-
panies Act and the Articles of Associa-
tion, such as the adoption of the financial 
statements and dividend payout, the dis-
charge of Board members and the Man-
aging Director and his Deputy from lia-
bility, the election of the Chairman, Vice 
Chairman and other members of the 
Board of Directors and their emoluments, 
and the election of the auditor and the 
auditor’s fees.

A notice of a shareholders’ meeting 
must be published in at least two nation-
al newspapers, specified by the Board of 
Directors, no earlier than 2 months and 
no later than 21 days prior to the meet-
ing. Kemira also publishes the notice of 
a shareholders’ meeting as a stock ex-
change release and on its web pages.

Kemira Oyj’s Annual General Meeting 
was held in Helsinki on April 8, 2009. 
The meeting was attended by 394 share-
holders either in person or by proxy, to-
gether representing around 64% of the 
shareholders’ votes. The documents relat-
ed to the AGM are available on Kemira’s 
website www.kemira.com > About us > 
Corporate Governance > Annual Gener-
al Meeting.

board oF directorS

cOmpOsitiOn
The AGM elects the Chairman, Vice 
Chairman and other members of the 
Board of Directors. In accordance with 
the Articles of Association, the Board 
of Directors comprises 4–8 members. 
On April 8, 2009, the AGM elected sev-
en Board members. The AGM reelect-
ed members Elizabeth Armstrong, Juha 
Laaksonen, Pekka Paasikivi, Kaija Pe-
hu-Lehtonen, Jukka Viinanen and Jarmo 
Väisänen to the Board of Directors and 
Wolfgang Büchele was elected as a new 
member. Pekka Paasikivi was elected to 
continue as the Board’s Chairman and 
Jukka Viinanen as the Vice Chairman.

All of the Board members are inde-
pendent of the Company. Of the Board 
members, Chairman of the Board, 
Pekka Paasikivi, is the Board Chair-
man of Oras Invest Oy. Jarmo Väisän-
en is employed by the Government of 
Finland in the Ownership Steering De-
partment of the Prime Minister’s Of-
fice. Oras Invest Oy and Solidium Oy, 
100% of which is owned by the Govern-
ment of Finland, each own over 10% of 
Kemira Oyj’s shares.

The personal information concern-
ing the members of the Board of Direc-
tors can be found on pages 46–47 of the 
Annual Report and their holdings can be 

found below under the heading Insiders’ 
shareholdings.

tasks and duties
According to the Articles of Associa-
tion, the Board of Directors is tasked 
with duties within its competence un-
der the Companies Act. It has drawn up 
a written Charter defining its key duties 
and procedures. The following is a de-
scription of the essential contents of the 
Charter.

The Board of Directors is in charge of 
Corporate Governance and the due or-
ganization of the Company’s operations. 
It decides on convening and prepares the 
agenda for the shareholders’ meeting and 
ensures the practical implementation of 
decisions taken thereby. In addition, the 
Board of Directors decides on authoriza-
tions for representing the Company.

The Board of Directors’ key duties in-
clude matters which, in view of the scope 
and type of the Company’s operations, 
are uncommon or involve wide-rang-
ing effects. These include establishing the 
Company’s long term goals and the strat-
egy for achieving them, approving the an-
nual business plans and budget, defining 
and approving corporate policies in key 
management control areas, approving 
the Company’s organizational structure 
and appointing the Managing Director, 
his deputy and members of the Group 
Management Boards. The Board of Di-
rectors approves the Company’s invest-
ment policy and major investments and 
divestments. It also approves the group 
treasury policy and the major long term 
loans and the guarantees issued by the 
Company.

The Boards’ duties include ensuring 
that the Company has adequate plan-
ning, information and control systems 
and resources for monitoring result and 
managing risks in operations. The Board 
of Directors monitors and evaluates the 
performance of Managing Director, his 
deputy and members of the Group Man-
agement Boards and decides upon their 
remuneration and benefits. The Boards’ 
duty is to ensure continuation of the 
business operations by succession plan-
ning for key persons. The Board defines 
and approves the main principles for 
the incentive bonus systems within the 
Company.

corporate governance 
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The Board of Directors also manages 
other tasks within its competence under 
the Companies Act. It is responsible for 
the due organization of the supervision of 
the Company’s accounting and asset-lia-
bility management. The Board of Direc-
tors sees to it that the Company’s fi nan-
cial statements give a true and fair view 
of the Company’s affairs and that the 
consolidated fi nancial statements are pre-
pared under the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the par-
ent company’s fi nancial statements under 
the acts and regulations in force in Fin-
land (FAS). The Board of Directors’ meet-
ings discuss the Company’s profi t per-
formance at monthly level. The Board of 
Directors discusses the Company’s audit 
with the auditor. The Board of Directors 
evaluates its performance and working 
methods on an annual basis.

In 2009, the Board of Directors met 13 
times. The average attendance rate at the 
meetings was 96,7%.

emOluments
Based on the decisions of the 2009 AGM, 
Board members are entitled to a monthly 
fee and a fee per meeting. Compensation 
for travel expenses is based on the Com-
pany’s Travel Policy. The monthly fee 
payable to the Board Chairman is EUR 
5,500, with EUR 3,500 payable to the 
Vice Chairman and EUR 2,800 to other 
members. In addition, members living in 
Finland are entitled to a fee of EUR 600 
per meeting, while those living elsewhere 
in Europe receive EUR 1,200 and non 
European Board members EUR 2,400. 
Those attending Board committee meet-
ings are also entitled to a fee per meeting. 
The Board members are not included in 
Kemira Oyj’s share-based incentive plan.

committeeS
Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors has ap-
pointed three committees: the Audit 
Committee, the Compensation Commit-
tee and the Nomination Committee.

audit cOmmittee
The Audit Committee works in accor-
dance with its Charter confi rmed by the 
Board of Directors. It is tasked to as-
sist the Board of Directors in fulfi lling its 
oversight responsibilities for fi nancial re-
porting process, the system of internal 
control, the audit process and Kemira’s 

management’s performance evaluation.
The Compensation Committee is 

chaired by Pekka Paasikivi and has Juk-
ka Viinanen and Kaija Pehu-Lehtonen 
as members. In 2009, the Compensation 
Committee met 3 times. The average at-
tendance rate at the meetings was 100%. 
The Committee reports to the Board of 
Directors on each meeting.

nOminatiOn cOmmittee
In accordance with the decision of the 
Board of Directors, made on April 8, 
2009, the Nomination Committee’s task 
is to prepare a proposal for the AGM 
concerning the composition and remu-
neration of the Board of Directors.

In deviation of recommendation 22 of 
the Finnish Corporate Governance Code, 
the Nomination Committee primarily 
consists of members outside the Compa-
ny’s Board of Directors. According to the 
view of the Company’s Board of Direc-
tors, it is in the best interest of the Com-
pany and its shareholders that the big-
gest shareholders participate in preparing 
nomination and compensation issues re-
lated to the Board of Directors.

The committee comprises of the repre-
sentatives of the three largest sharehold-
ers of Kemira Oyj based on the situa-
tion on May 31, 2009, and the Chairman 
of Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors acts 
as an expert member. The members of 

process for monitoring compliance with 
laws and regulations and the Kemira 
Code of Conduct.

The Audit Committee consists of mem-
bers independent of the Company, elected 
by the Board of Directors from amongst 
its members. The Audit Committee is 
chaired by Juha Laaksonen and has Jar-
mo Väisänen and Kaija Pehu-Lehtonen 
as members. The Audit Committee met 
5 times in 2009 with an attendance rate 
of 100%. The Committee reports to the 
Board of Directors on each meeting.

cOmpensatiOn cOmmittee
The Compensation Committee consists 
of members independent of the Com-
pany, elected by the Board of Directors 
from amongst its members. The Board 
of Directors has approved a Charter for 
the Committee, according to which the 
Committee assists the Board of Direc-
tors by preparation of matters related to 
compensation of Managing Director, his 
deputy and the members of the Group 
Management Boards, by preparation of 
matters pertaining to the compensation 
systems and long-term incentive plans of 
the Company, by preparation of matters 
relating to appointment of Managing Di-
rector, his deputy and the members of the 
Group Management Boards. The Com-
mittee also monitors succession planning 
of the senior management and the senior 

pekka paasikivi, chairman

Jukka viinanen, vice chairman

elizabeth armstrong 

wolfgang büchele (since april 8, 2009)

Juha laaksonen  

ove mattsson (until april 8, 2009)

kaija pehu-lehtonen  

Jarmo väisänen   

total   

73,219

40,768

66,555

-

42,905

53,355

42,305

34,174

353,281

75,000 

50,400  

60,000

34,100 

43,200 

17,640

43,800  

43,800  

367,940

emoluments to the 
board of directors

2009 2008eur
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Group Management Boards. The Busi-
ness Management Board concentrates on
the operative steering of the business and 
the Strategic Management Board is re-
sponsible for the strategy implementa-
tion.

business management bOaRd
The Business Management Board consists 
of the Managing Director, CFO, and the 
Presidents of the Paper, Municipal & In-
dustrial and Oil & Mining segments. The 
Chairman of the Board is the Managing 
Director.

The personal information and areas of 
responsibility of the Business Manage-
ment Board members are presented on 
pages 48–50 of the Annual Report and 
their holdings can be found below under 
the heading Insiders’ shareholdings.

stRategic management bOaRd
The Strategic Management Board con-
sists of the members of the Business 
Management Board, the 4 Region Heads 
(EMEA, North America, South Ameri-
ca and APAC) and the function heads of 
Supply Chain Management, R&D and 
Technology, Legal, Marketing and Com-
munications, and HR.

The personal information and areas of 
responsibility of the Strategic Manage-
ment Board members are presented on 
pages 48–50 of the Annual Report and 
their holdings can be found below under 
the heading Insiders’ shareholdings.

management compenSation
The Board of Directors determines the 
Managing Director’s and his deputy’s, 
and the Group’s management board 
members’ salaries and other remunera-
tion, and employment terms. 

Managing Director Harri Kerminen 
is entitled to retire at the age of 62 and 
his maximum pension accounts for 66% 
of his pensionable earnings. This oppor-
tunity is based on the benefits provided 
by the Company pension fund, closed to 
new members since January 1, 1991. A 
six-month period of notice applies to the 
Managing Director. The Managing Di-
rector will receive severance pay equal-
ing his 12–month salary if the Company 
terminates the employment. The emol-
ument of Kemira Oyj’s Managing Di-
rector during the financial period was 
EUR 734,730 including bonuses of EUR 

79,278. The Managing Director did not 
receive any part of bonuses as Kemira 
shares. 

Management compensation consists of 
a monthly salary, perquisites and perfor-
mance based bonuses. Performance-based 
bonuses are determined by the achieve-
ment of Group and business area spe-
cific performance targets for each finan-
cial year. The performance based bonuses 
consist of cash bonuses and Kemira Oyj 
shares.

Kemira has two share-based incen-
tive plans in use: one for key personnel 
and one for the members of the strategic 
management board. The share-based in-
centive plans are part of the Group’s in-
centive and commitment schemes. These 
plans aim at aligning the goals of the 
Group’s shareholders, management and 
key executives in order to increase the 
Company’s value, motivate key execu-
tives and provide them with competi-
tive, shareholding-based incentives. In the 
share-based incentive plans possible com-
pensations are paid as Kemira shares and 
in cash for compensating the taxes in ac-
cordance with how set targets are met. 

Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors made 
the decision in 2006 to introduce the cur-
rent share-based incentive plan for key 
personnel, which is divided into three 
one-year performance periods: 2007, 
2008 and 2009. Any bonuses earned are 
to be paid out by the end of April in the 
year following the performance peri-
od. Payment of bonuses depends on the 
achievement of the set financial targets, 
which for 2009 are gauged on the ba-
sis of the operating profit and the return 
on capital employed. On December 31, 
2009, a total of 65 key employees were 
involved in the share-based incentive 
plan. The maximum number of Kemira 
Oyj shares transferable under the incen-
tive plan is 774,000. 

In February 2009, Kemira Oyj’s Board 
of Directors decided to introduce a new 
share-based incentive plan aimed at Stra-
tegic Management Board members. The 
plan is divided into three one-year per-
formance periods: 2009, 2010 and 2011. 
Payment of bonuses is based on achiev-
ing the set operating profit target. The 
program also includes a three-year goal, 
which is tied to the development of the 
operating profit as a percentage of rev-
enue by the end of 2011. The combined 

the Nomination Committee are Jari Paa-
sikivi, President and CEO, Oras Invest 
Oy, Kari Järvinen, Managing Director of 
Solidium Oy, Risto Murto, Chief Invest-
ment Officer, Varma Mutual Pension In-
surance Company and the Chairman of 
the Board of Directors Pekka Paasikivi as 
an expert member.

The Nomination Committee met 1 
time in 2009 with an attendance rate 
of 100%. In addition, the Nomination 
Committee that was assembled by Ke-
mira Oyj’s Board of Directors on Decem-
ber 18, 2008 in order to prepare a pro-
posal for the 2009 AGM concerning the 
composition and remuneration of the 
Board of Directors, met 1 time in 2009 
with an attendance rate of 100%.

managing director
The Board of Directors appoints the 
Managing Director and the Managing 
Director’s Deputy. Under the Articles of 
Association, the Managing Director is re-
sponsible for managing and developing 
the Company in accordance with the in-
structions and regulations issued by the 
Board of Directors, ensuring that the 
Company’s interests are served by the 
subsidiaries and associated companies 
under its ownership, and puts the deci-
sions taken by the Board of Directors in-
to effect. The Managing Director reports 
to the Board on financial affairs, the 
business environment and other signifi-
cant issues. The Managing Director al-
so functions as the Chairman of Kemira’s 
Strategic Management Board and Busi-
ness Management Board. Harri Kerminen 
acts as the Managing Director of Kemira 
Oyj. The Deputy Managing Director is 
CFO Jyrki Mäki-Kala. The Managing Di-
rector and the Managing Director’s Dep-
uty, including their related parties, are 
not involved in any substantial business 
relationships with the Company.

The personal information concerning 
the Managing Director and the Deputy 
can be found on pages 48 and 50 of the 
Annual Report and their holdings can be 
found below under the heading Insiders’ 
shareholdings. The financial benefits re-
lated to the Managing Director’s employ-
ment relationship are described in the 
section Management Compensation.

group management boardS
Kemira’s management consists of two 
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value of shares and cash payments paid 
out in the course of the three-year share-
based incentive plan may not exceed the 
individual’s gross salary for the same pe-
riod. In connection with founding the 
new share-based incentive plan direct-
ed at Strategic Management Board mem-
bers, the members were excluded from 
the share-based incentive plant directed 
at key personnel.

Shares earned through the share-com-
pensation plans must be held for a mini-
mum of two years following the date of 
each payment. The shares must be re-
turned to the Company without pay-
ment if a person’s employment or service 
with the Company is terminated of his/
her own accord or by the Company with-
in two years of the payment. In addition, 
members of the Management Board must 
retain the Kemira Oyj shares obtained 
through the share-based incentive pro-
grams at least to the value of their gross 
annual salary for as long as they remain 
in the Management Board.

The shares transferable under the plan 
comprise treasury shares or Kemira Oyj 
shares available in public trading.

group Structure
Kemira Oyj has organized its business in-
to three customer based segments with 
P/L responsibilities. The Paper segment 
focuses on serving customer segments in 

the pulp and paper industry, the Munici-
pal & Industrial segment concentrates on 
serving customer segments in municipal 
and industrial water treatment and Oil & 
Mining focuses on serving customers in 
the oil, gas and mining industries.

Other businesses are developed as sep-
arate units. Kemira’s aim to separate the 
paints and coatings business Tikkurila 
Oy and list it on NASDAQ OMX Hel-
sinki Ltd once market conditions per-
mit is part of the Group’s strategic over-
haul. The ChemSolutions unit focuses on 
serving customers on food and feed mar-
kets as well as in the pharmaceutical and 
chemical industries.

Kemira Oyj’s centralized functions are 
responsible for the exploitation of inter-
nal synergies. The functions manage and 
coordinate certain company-wide func-
tions, such as human resources, legal af-
fairs, logistics, purchasing and sourcing, 
treasury, risk management, internal audit, 
fi nance, IT management, R&D, environ-
mental protection and communications. 
These functions are organized globally 
and they offer their services to all Kemira 
businesses.

Geographically Kemira’s operations are 
divided into four regions: North America, 
South America, APAC and EMEA. The 
organizations of the geographical regions 
are responsible for building joint cost ef-
fi cient infrastructures for all operations.

internal control
Kemira maintains an internal control sys-
tem to ensure the effectiveness and ef-
fi ciency of its operations, including the 
reliability of fi nancial and operational re-
porting and compliance with the appli-
cable regulations, policies and practices. 
Internal control is an integral part of all 
of Kemira’s operations and covers all lev-
els of the Group. The entire Group per-
sonnel are responsible for internal con-
trol and its effectiveness is monitored by 
managers as part of operative manage-
ment.

Kemira’s corporate values, Code of 
Conduct and Group level policies pro-
vide the basis for corporate governance 
and internal control in the Group. The 
internal policies and the Kemira Code 
of Conduct have been communicated to 
all Group staff. The Group also provides 
training concerning the main policies for 
people who need to know the policies in 
question. Every employee has the right 
and duty to report any violations of the 
law and the Code of Conduct.

The main components of internal con-
trol are the management and organiza-
tional culture, risk assessment, control 
activities, reporting and communication, 
as well as monitoring and auditing.

board of directors

armstrong elizabeth 

büchele wolfgang

laaksonen Juha

paasikivi pekka

pehu-lehtonen kaija

viinanen Jukka

väisänen Jarmo

members of the 

management boards

boman petri

casas de almeida hilton

grön Johan

hakkila Jukka

helsky petri

Jokinen päivi

kerminen harri

kwan ronald

kylander håkan

melarti hannu

mäki-kala Jyrki

ojanpää pekka

owens randy

salonen eeva

auditors

pajamo pekka

0 

not an insider

0

790,225

0

1,000

0

0 

0

0

988,382

0

1,250

0

765

4 200

1 301

4 113 

0 

0 

17 167 

0 

4 121 

5 820 

5 501 

4 748 

5 055 

0 

0

1,297

57,325

42,587

46,102

54,652

20,425

158,252

53,125

18,732

60,400

61,529

60,587

59,444

13,579

0

insiders’ shareholdings

31.12.2009  31.12.2008 31.12.2009  31.12.2008

shares
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inSiderS
As provided by the Finnish Securities 
Markets Act, Kemira Oyj’s insiders con-
sist of insiders subject to disclosure re-
quirements, permanent company-specific 
insiders and project specific insiders. On 
the basis of their position, Kemira’s in-
siders subject to disclosure requirements 
comprise Board members, the Managing 
Director and the Deputy Managing Di-
rector, members of Kemira Oyj’s Group 
Management Boards and the auditor or 
the chief auditor representing the inde-
pendent firm of public accountants. Ke-
mira Oyj’s permanent company-specif-
ic insiders comprise certain other persons 
separately specified by the Group Gener-
al Counsel.

Kemira Oyj complies with the Insider 
Guidelines issued by the NASDAQ OMX 
Helsinki Ltd, according to which insiders 
should trade in Company shares at a time 
when the marketplace has the fullest pos-
sible information on circumstances influ-
encing the value of the Company’s share. 
Accordingly, Kemira Oyj’s insiders may 
not trade in Company shares for 30 days 
prior to the disclosure of the Company’s 
interim accounts or the release of the fi-
nancial statements bulletin.

Kemira’s Legal function maintains Ke-
mira Oyj’s insider register and updates 
information on the Company’s insiders 
subject to statutory disclosure require-
ments to be entered in the public insid-
er register of Euroclear Finland Oy. Ke-
mira’s insider information is available in 
the web-based NetSire service maintained 
by Euroclear Finland Oy.

The table on the previous page shows 
insider shareholdings in Kemira Oyj on 
December 31, 2009 and on December 
31, 2008. Shareholdings include person-
al shareholdings and the related-party 
holdings as well as holdings in companies 
over which the shareholder exercises con-
trol. Up-to-date insider information as 
well as updated shareholding information 
can be found on the Company’s website 
at www.kemira.com > About us > Corpo-
rate Governance > Insiders.

internal audit
Kemira Group’s internal audit function 
provides independent appraisal and as-
surance for the review of operations 
within the Group in order to support the 
management and the Board of Directors 

in fulfilling their oversight responsibili-
ties. The purpose is to evaluate and con-
tribute to the improvement of risk man-
agement, control and governance systems 
in the Group. The purpose, authority 
and responsibilities of the unit are de-
fined in the Charter of Kemira Group 
Internal Auditing approved by Kemira 
Oyj’s Board of Directors. Internal audi-
tors have complete and unrestricted ac-
cess to all Kemira activities. The internal 
audit function reports to the Board Audit 
Committee and administratively to the 
Group General Counsel. Internal audit 
plans and findings are subject to regular 
review with the external auditors during 
the course of the year.

audit
Under the Articles of Association, the 
Shareholders’ meeting elects an audit firm 
as the Company’s auditor. The audit firm 
appoints the Principal Auditor, who is an 
Authorized Public Accountant certified 
by the Central Chamber of Commerce. 
The auditor’s term of office continues un-
til the next Annual General Meeting after 
the Auditor’s election. The 2009 Annual 
General Meeting elected KPMG Oy Ab 
as the Company’s auditor, with Pekka Pa-
jamo, Authorized Public Accountant, act-
ing as the Principal Auditor. 

In 2009, the audit fee paid to the au-
ditor (KPMG) totaled EUR 1.7 million. 
In addition, a total of EUR 1.0 million 
was paid as fees for services unrelated to 
audit.

a deScription oF tHe main FeatureS 
oF tHe internal control and riSK 
management SyStemS pertaining to 
tHe Financial reporting proceSS

geneRal 
Kemira’s Board of Directors defines the 
main principles of risk management and 
approves the Group’s risk management 
policy. The business segments and func-
tions are responsible for identifying, as-
sessing and managing risks involved in 
their activities. The Group’s Risk Man-
agement function coordinates and sup-
ports risk management.

Kemira’s internal control system covers 
all Group operations, including financial 
reporting. The internal control activities 
are carried out in all organizational levels 
as part of the Group’s daily operations.

A more detailed description of risks 
and risk management can be found on 
page 58 of the Annual Report and a gen-
eral description of Kemira’s internal con-
trol system can be found above under the 
heading Internal Control.

The following describes how Kemira’s 
risk management and internal control 
work in connection with the financial re-
porting process to ensure that the finan-
cial reports published by the Company 
give essentially correct information of the 
Company’s financial situation.

ROles and RespOnsibilities 
Kemira’s Board of Directors ensures that 
the Company has sufficient resources for 
risk management and control, and that 
the control has been arranged appropri-
ately and that the financial statements 
provide correct and sufficient informa-
tion of the Company. The Board of Di-
rectors is assisted by the Audit Commit-
tee in these tasks.

The Managing Director handles the 
Company’s everyday management in ac-
cordance with instructions and regula-
tions from the Board of Directors. The 
Managing Director is responsible for the 
Company accounting being lawful and 
that assets are managed reliably.

The Group’s CFO is responsible for 
the general control system of financial re-
porting. The areas of responsibility be-
tween financial administration of the 
segments and regions have been defined 
precisely.  Controlling in segments oper-
ates under the segments’ business man-
agement and analyzes the business pro-
cesses. Financial administration in the 
regions is responsible for the functional-
ity of the financial functions’ processes 
and correctness of figures in their region. 
Group level financial functions support, 
monitor, instruct and offer training to the 
financial organizations of the segments 
and regions.

The Group’s IT function has a signifi-
cant role both in financial reporting and 
internal control, as reporting and many 
control measures, such as process moni-
toring are based on IT solutions.

The Internal Audit function includ-
ing its tasks and areas of responsibility 
are described more specifically under the 
heading Internal Audit.
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Group Financial Manual defines in detail 
the processes of accounting and finan-
cial reporting to be applied in all Group 
companies. The purpose of the Manual 
is to ensure the reliability of financial re-
porting and it is approved by the Group’s 
financial administration management 
board.

The Group has adopted Enterprise Re-
sources Planning (ERP) systems that en-
sure fast and reliable communication. 
Subsidiaries report their figures from the 
ERP system to the Group, using a uni-
form Group reporting system. The finan-
cial organizations of the Group, segments 
and regions check the correctness of the 
figures in the Group reporting system in 
accordance with the responsibility areas 
described above.

Proper control of financial adminis-
tration, financial reporting and account-
ing processes is a basic requirement for 
the reliability of financial reporting. The 
Group financial administration deter-
mines the appropriate control functions, 
the objectives of each control function 
and how the effectiveness of the con-
trol functions is monitored and checked 
based on a risk analysis it performs. The 
control functions are described in the 
above mentioned risk documentation and 
financial administration is responsible for 
their practical implementation.

Financial reporting control functions 

are performed either continuously as 
part of the transactions of the company’s 
monitoring processes such as purchas-
ing and sales processes, or alternative-
ly monthly or annually as part of the re-
porting process.

cOmmunicatiOn
The personnel of Kemira’s financial ad-
ministration regularly arranges internal 
meetings and trainings for different per-
sonnel groups and exchanges informa-
tion and experiences concerning for in-
stance reporting and monitoring practices 
in connection with these meetings. The 
main instructions and regulations con-
cerning financial reporting, internal con-
trol and risk management are available to 
all employees on the Company intranet.

mOnitORing
The functionality of internal control, 
risk management and reporting systems 
is constantly monitored as part of daily 
management of the Company. Each seg-
ment, function and region is responsible 
for implementing internal control, its effi-
ciency and reliability of reporting within 
their area of responsibility. The Group fi-
nancial administration monitors the func-
tionality and reliability of the financial 
reporting process at Group level.  The fi-
nancial reporting processes are also mon-
itored by the Internal Audit function.

Risk assessment
The Group’s financial administration is 
responsible for managing risks related to 
financial reporting. The risks are identi-
fied, assessed and managed in connection 
with the Group’s general risk manage-
ment process and separately as part of fi-
nancial administration’s own operating 
processes.  For instance the Kemira Busi-
ness Control Manual compiled and main-
tained by the Internal Audit function is 
utilized when recognizing risks.

The Group’s financial administration 
assesses each risk it has recognized relat-
ed to financial reporting. In its risk anal-
ysis, financial administration defines to 
which function or process each risk is re-
lated and how the risk would affect the 
Group’s financial reporting if it was to 
materialize.

The risk assessment is documented and 
made available to the persons concerned. 
The Group’s financial administration is 
responsible for risk documentation being 
comprehensive and up-to-date and that 
the risks are reassessed annually in con-
nection with the Group’s strategy pro-
cess.

financial RepORting and cOntROl 
Kemira follows a uniform accounting 
and reporting principles based on the In-
ternational Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS) in all its units. Kemira 

the roles and responsibilities of 
the financial administration
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Kemira relies on Enterprise Risk Man-
agement to identify, analyze, evaluate and 
treat risks systematically and proactively. 
Kemira’s objective is to reach the desired 
aggregate risk level and ensure the conti-
nuity of operations.

Key riSK management principleS

The key principles of Kemira’s risk man-
agement are defined in the Kemira Group 
Risk Management Policy. In the policy, 
the company defines risks as potential 
events or circumstances, which, if they 
materialize, may affect Kemira’s ability to 
meet its strategic and operational goals 
in a sustainable and ethical way. In ac-
cordance with Kemira’s risk management 
process the company aims at systemat-
ic and proactive identification, analysis, 
evaluation and treatment of various risk 
categories, such as strategic, operational, 
hazard and financial risks. Kemira’s ob-
jective is to determine and maintain the 
desired aggregate risk level in relation to 
the Group’s risk tolerance, while ensuring 
business continuity.

Kemira’s risk management is based on 
the Finnish Corporate Governance Code 
and on the Kemira Code of Conduct. In 
addition, Kemira has Group guidelines 
and policies in place that specify manage-
ment objectives, responsibilities and risk 
limits in greater detail.

Kemira’s Board of Directors defines the 
main principles of Kemira’s risk manage-
ment and approves the Group’s risk man-
agement policy, and the Audit Commit-
tee assists the Board in risk management 
supervision. The business segments, func-
tions and regional areas are responsible 
for the risks involved in their activities 
and for the related risk management. The 
Group’s Risk Management function is 
in charge of supporting, developing and 
coordinating risk management and risk 
management networks within the Group.

riSK management implementation

In Kemira, each business segment, func-
tion and regional area performs its over-
all risk management according to the risk 

management framework and process de-
scribed in Kemira’s risk management 
policy and in conformity with the joint-
ly agreed risk self-assessment methodol-
ogy. The results of the risk management 
process are reported regularly both inter-
nally and as part of Kemira’s external re-
porting.

Some risk treatment measures are per-
formed centrally in order to generate cost 
benefits and ensure a sufficient level of 
protection. These include insurance cov-
er for certain risks, such as general third 
party and product liability, cargo, prop-
erty damage and business interruption 
insurance for major production sites, as 
well as the hedging of treasury risks.

about Kemira’S riSKS

A variety of risks affect Kemira’s abili-
ty to achieve its targets. Despite Kemira’s 
proactive risk management efforts, some 
of the risks may nevertheless material-
ize and significantly impact Kemira’s abil-
ity to achieve its targets. More detailed 
information on financial risks and their 
management is provided on page 118–
123 in the Notes section. A more detailed 
account of environmental and hazard 
risks is provided in Kemira’s environmen-
tal report (www.kemira.com).

effects Of geneRal
ecOnOmic develOpment
As a result of unfavorable economic de-
velopment, the demand for Kemira’s 
products may weaken. Weak econom-
ic development may also have serious 
effects on Kemira’s  customers’ liquid-
ity, which could result in increased cred-
it losses for Kemira. The prices of many 
raw materials decrease in unfavorable 
market conditions but the availability 
and price risk related to some of Kemira’s 
raw materials may also increase. As a re-
sult of general economic development, 
the serviceability of some of Kemira’s co-
operation partners, for instance logistics 
companies, can become jeopardized.

cOmpetitiOn
Kemira’s performance in the ever chang-
ing competitive arena represents a con-
siderable risk to meeting Kemira’s goals. 
New players seeking a foothold in Ke-
mira’s key business segments use aggres-
sive pricing as a competitive tool, which 
may erode Kemira’s financial results. Ke-

risk 
management

mira is seeking growth in segments that 
are less familiar, and Kemira will have to 
face a new competitive situation in these 
segments. Substitute products competing 
with Kemira’s may also undermine Ke-
mira’s competitive position.

pRice and availability Of Raw 
mateRials and cOmmOdities
As stated in Kemira’s strategy, one of the 
goals is the profitability improvement. 
Significant increases in raw material, 
commodity or logistic costs could place 
Kemira’s profitability targets at risk. For 
instance, high oil and electricity prices 
could materially weaken Kemira’s profit-
ability. Changes in the raw material sup-
plier field, for instance consolidation or 
capacity decreases, may also increase Ke-
mira’s raw material prices. Poor availabil-
ity of certain raw materials may affect 
Kemira’s production if the company fails 
to prepare for this by mapping out alter-
native suppliers or opportunities for pro-
cess changes.

human ResOuRces
Kemira’s strategy deployment might be at 
risk if the company is unable to recruit, 
induct and retain skilled and motivated 
personnel. Induction and successor train-
ing is a long-term process, which is why 
good successor planning is essential for 
business continuity and success. Human 
resources risk management is particularly 
challenging in the growth areas of South 
America, Russia and Asia.

Reach
Introduction of REACH legislation may 
decrease the available raw material op-
tions and thus increase Kemira’s raw ma-
terial costs. REACH registration of Ke-
mira’s own products may also be more 
expensive than estimated, in particular 
if Kemira is not able to divide the costs 
with other companies. Inclusion of acryl 
amide in the list of substances subject to 
authorization under REACH may, if real-
ized, increase the costs and decrease the 
revenue of Kemira.

risk management
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revenue in 2009 was eur 2,500.1 million (2008: eur 2,832.7 milli-

on). revenue from continuing business operations decreased by 7%. 

demand weakened in several customer industries. operating profit 

excluding non-recurring items rose 32% to eur 175.0 million (132.6). 

reported operating profit rose 113% to eur 157.4 million (74.0). cash 

flow after investments grew significantly to eur 202.2 million (2.7). 

strong cash flow and the rights offering completed at the end of the 

year strengthened the balance sheet and gearing fell to 53% (de-

cember 31, 2008: 107%). earnings per share were eur 0.61 (-0.01).

the Board proposes that 86% of the shares of tikkurila be distributed 

as dividend to Kemira’s shareholders. tikkurila’s shares are expected to be 

listed on nasDaQ OmX Helsinki ltd in march 2010. the Board also propos-

es that the annual General meeting authorize the Board to decide upon a 

dividend payable in cash of a maximum of eUR 0.27 per share (0.25). ac-

cording to the proposal, the authorization is valid until may 31, 2010.

Key fiGURes anD RatiOs

financial PeRfORmance in 2009

in 2009, Kemira continued its work to improve operational efficiency that 

had started in 2008. the main focus areas were improving profitability and 

strengthening cash flow and the balance sheet. 

Kemira Group’s revenue decreased by 12% in 2009 compared to 2008 

due to weaker demand in several customer industries. Revenue was eUR 

2,500.1 million (2008: eUR 2,832.7 million). acquisitions increased revenue 

by approximately eUR 57 million. the figure includes the impact of the aKD 

wax joint venture that was set up in china. Divestments decreased reve-

nue by approximately eUR 3 million. the effect from currency exchange 

lowered revenue by about eUR 73 million. establishment of the titanium di-

oxide joint venture in 2008 decreased revenue by about eUR 148 million. 

Revenue from continuing business operations decreased by 7% from 2008.

eUR million 1–12/2009

1–12/2008 
continuing busi-
ness operations 1–12/2008

Revenue 2,500.1 2,685.2 2,832.7

Operating profit excluding 
non-recurring items 175.0 126.4 132.6

Operating profit excluding 
non-recurring items, % 7.0 4.7 4.7

The impact of the titanium dioxide business transferred to a joint venture 

has been eliminated in the continuing business operations.

Geographically revenue was divided as follows: emea 65% (68%), north 

america 23% (23%), south america 6% (5%), and asia Pacific 6% (4%).

operating profit rose 113% to eUR 157.4 million (74.0). Operating prof-

it excluding non-recurring items rose 32% to eUR 175.0 million (132.6).  

the operating profit margin excluding non-recurring items rose from 4.7% 

to 7.0%. Kemira’s medium term target for the operating profit margin is 

at least 10%.

sales price increases were implemented in the second half on 2008 in 

response to the significant increase in raw material prices. this contributed 

to the increase in operating profit in 2009 compared to 2008 and compen-

sated for the impact of lower sales volumes on operating profit. Operating 

profit was also boosted by lower cost base: fixed costs were approximately 

eUR 29 million lower and variable costs approximately eUR 34 million low-

er than the year before. acquisitions increased operating profit by approxi-

mately eUR 10 million. the currency exchange effect decreased operating 

profit by about eUR 7 million. 

as of september 1, 2008, Kemira’s share of the titanium dioxide joint 

venture’s results is being reported below operating profit. in 2008, the op-

erating profit of the titanium dioxide business was approximately eUR 6 

million. in 2009, Kemira’s operating profit from continuing business opera-

tions excluding non-recurring items rose 38%.

the annual savings target of Kemira’s global cost savings program is 

more than eUR 85 million, with tikkurila accounting for eUR 25 million. the 

savings have materialized faster than planned: by the end of 2009, 80% 

of the targeted savings had been achieved. the full annual impact is ex-

pected to be felt from 2011 onwards. these savings will affect the entire 

* 12-month rolling average

eUR million 1–12/2009 1–12/2008

Revenue 2,500.1 2,832.7

eBitDa 273.7 243.3

eBitDa % 10.9 8.6

Operating profit excluding 
non-recurring items 175.0 132.6

Operating profit 157.4 74.0

Operating profit excluding  
non-recurring items, % 7.0 4.7

Operating profit, % 6.3 2.6

financial income and expenses -49.8 -69.5

Profit before tax 102.9 1.8

net profit 85.5 1.8

ePs, eUR 0.61 -0.01

capital employed* 1,963.3 2,062.8

ROce, %* 7.8 3.5

cash flow after investments 202.2 2.7

equity ratio, % at period-end 45 34

Gearing, % at period-end 53 107

Personnel at period-end 8,493 9,405

Due to the rights offering, historical per share key figures have been adjust-

ed with the following calculation formula: average number of shares x 1.1.

The new strategy announced in June 2008 resulted in some changes to 

Kemira’s business structure. Financial reporting reflects the new structure 

from the beginning of 2009. Kemira’s reporting segments are Paper, Mu-

nicipal & Industrial (previously ”Water”), Oil & Mining, Tikkurila and Other. 

The Other segment consists of specialty chemicals such as organic salts 

and acids and the Group expenses not charged to the segments (some 

research and development costs and the costs of CEO Office). 
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Group and will be achieved by streamlining the Group structure, organiza-

tion and operating models.

the share of associates’ results was eUR -4.7 million (-2.7).

Profit before tax amounted to eUR 102.9 million (1.8) and net profit to-

taled eUR 85.5 million (1.8). taxes totaled eUR -17.4 million (0.0) represent-

ing an effective tax rate of 17%. the taxes in the income statement are 

lower than according to currently valid tax rates, mainly because some de-

ferred tax assets have been recorded on tax losses from previous years. 

earnings per share were eUR 0.61 (-0.01).

financial POsitiOn anD casH flOw

the financial position and liquidity remained good.  

cash flow from operating activities in 2009 amounted to eUR 287.8 mil-

lion (90.2). cash flow after investments was eUR 202.2 million (2.7). cash 

flow increased due to higher eBitDa, effective working capital manage-

ment and smaller gross capital expenditure. the cash flow effect of expan-

sion and improvement investments was eUR -54.0 million (-124.4). cash 

flow from acquisitions was eUR -3.7 million (-180.8). the share of working 

capital of revenue was 14.5% (14.9%). Kemira Oyj’s shareholders were 

paid eUR 30.3 million (60.6) in dividends. 

at the end of 2009, the Group’s net debt stood at eUR 675.6 million (eUR 

1,049.1 million). net debt declined due to stronger cash flow (effect ap-

proximately eUR 202 million) and the rights offering arranged in the fourth 

quarter (effect approximately eUR 196 million). currency exchange rate 

fluctuations reduced net debt by approximately eUR 3 million. 

at year end, interest-bearing liabilities stood at eUR 950.2 million 

(1,168.5). fixed-rate loans accounted for 70% of total interest-bearing lia-

bilities (47%). the average interest rate on the Group’s interest-bearing li-

abilities was 4.6% (5.6%). the duration of the Group’s interest-bearing loan 

portfolio was 19 months (December 31, 2008: 17 months). 

the unused amount of the eUR 750 million revolving credit facility that 

falls due in 2012 was eUR 548.7 million at the end of December. short-

term liabilities maturing in the next 12 months amounted to eUR 437.6 

million at year end, with commercial papers issued on the finnish mar-

kets representing eUR 125.4 million and repayments of long-term loans 

representing eUR 299.1 million. cash and cash equivalents totaled eUR 

274.6 million on December 31, 2009. Based on its current structure, it 

is expected that the Group will not encounter any significant refinanc-

ing needs in 2010, since the current loan arrangements cover its financ-

ing needs. the terms of the revolving credit facility and other major bi-

lateral loan arrangements require that the Group’s equity ratio must be 

more than 25%.

at the end of the year, the equity ratio stood at 45% (December 31, 

2008: 34%), while gearing was 53% (December 31, 2008: 107%). Ke-

mira’s gearing target is 40-80%. the net impact of the rights offering on 

shareholders’ equity was approximately eUR 196 million and the net im-

pact of currencies approximately eUR 28 million. shareholder’s equity de-

clined by eUR 30.3 million due to the dividends paid out after the annual 

General meeting in april.

the Group’s net financial expenses were eUR 49.8 million (69.5). the de-

crease in net financial expenses can be attributed to smaller liabilities and 

a lower market interest level compared to 2008. currency exchange rate 

losses decreased by eUR 7 million.

in January 2010, tikkurila Oy signed a 6-year tyel repayment plan for 

eUR 40 million.

the Group’s most significant transaction currency risk arises from the 

U.s. dollar, mainly as a result of U.s. dollar denominated exports from the 

euro area to overseas. at the end of the year, the U.s. dollar denominat-

ed 12-month exchange rate risk had an equivalent value of approximately 

eUR 38 million. On average, 34% of this transaction exposure was hedged. 

in addition, Kemira is exposed to smaller transaction risks in relation to the 

canadian dollar and the swedish krona with the annual exposure in both 

of these currencies being approximately eUR 15 million.

Because Kemira’s consolidated financial statements are compiled in eu-

ros, Kemira is also subject to currency translation risk to the extent that the 

income statement and balance sheet items of subsidiaries located outside 

finland are reported in some other currency than the euro. Kemira’s main 

equity items denominated in foreign currencies are in swedish krona, Us 

dollar, Brazilian real, Polish zloty, canadian dollar and Russian ruble. a weak-

ening of the above mentioned currencies against the euro would decrease 

Kemira’s revenue and operating profit through a translation risk.

a more detailed report on the Group’s financial risks and their manage-

ment is published in the notes to the financial statements.

caPital eXPenDitURe  

Gross capital expenditure in 2009, excluding acquisitions, amounted to eUR 

82.2 million (161.0). the largest investments were the Kemira-tiancheng 

chemicals joint venture (eUR 11.1 million), the reorganization of tikkuri-

la’s production site in saint Petersburg, Russia (eUR 3.4 million) and a new 

coagulant production line in france (eUR 3.2 million). expansion invest-

ments represented around 34% of capital expenditure excluding acquisi-

tions, improvement investments around 32%, and maintenance invest-

ments around 34%. 

the Group’s depreciation, non-recurring impairment and reversals of im-

pairments were eUR 116.3 million (169.4). the figure includes non-recur-

ring impairment of eUR 5.7 million (38.6) and reversals of impairments of 

eUR 8.9 million (0.0).

cash flow from the sale of assets was eUR 2.4 million (254.3). cash flow 

from acquisitions was eUR -3.7 million (-180.8). the Group’s net capital ex-

penditure totaled eUR 85.6 million (87.5).

ReseaRcH anD DevelOPment

Research and development expenditure totaled eUR 47.0 million, account-

ing for 2.0% of all operating expenses. Research and development expen-

diture in 2008 was eUR 71.1 million, accounting for 2.5% of all operating 

expenses, and in 2007 eUR 65.9 million, accounting for 2.4% of all operat-

ing expenses. the amount of development costs recorded in balance sheet 

in the financial year was eUR 2.1 million (2008: 1.8; 2007: 3.3).

at the end of the year, the Group employed 452 persons (December 31, 

2008: 520) in R&D in 10 countries (2008: 10). 58% (2008: 62%) of the R&D 

personnel worked in finland. 

in 2009 the focus of research and development moved to organic 

growth. the aim is to develop products, concepts and business models that 

help customers improve the efficiency of their water-intensive operations. 

in addition to Kemira’s own water expertise, development of such solu-
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tions also requires cooperation with equipment manufacturers and com-

panies that supply automation and regulation systems.

more synergy benefits are sought through cooperation between the dif-

ferent parts of the organization within Kemira which also affects R&D oper-

ations. the R&D network focuses on developing and commercializing new 

innovative technologies and products to meet the needs of global and local 

customers in all customer segments. Products and solutions are offered for 

drinking and waste water treatment, and for pulp and paper, oil and min-

ing and other water intensive customer industries. 

in september 2009, Kemira opened its north american research and de-

velopment center located at technology enterprise Park on the campus of 

the Georgia institute of technology in atlanta. the atlanta facility will have 

global responsibility in Kemira’s R&D network for paper tissue and recycled 

fiber research, oil and mining research, as well as defomer and polymer 

chemistry research. Kemira’s other R&D centers are located in espoo, fin-

land; leverkusen, Germany and shanghai, china. a fifth center will be es-

tablished in são Paulo, Brazil during 2010.

 

HUman ResOURces

the number of Group employees at the end of 2009 was 8,493 (Decem-

ber 31, 2008: 9,405; December 31, 2007: 10,007). the average number of 

personnel in 2009 was 8,843 (2008: 9,954; 2007: 10,008). the cost sav-

ings program launched in 2008 continued in 2009 and the personnel was 

decreased in finland, sweden, Usa, china, Germany and france. the in-

dividuals who lost their job were supported in accordance with good lo-

cal practices.  

at the end of the year, the Group employed 1,829 persons in finland 

(December 31, 2008: 2,137), 4,615 persons elsewhere in emea (4,940), 

1,298 in north america (1,420), 405 in south america (425) and 346 in 

asia Pacific (483). the Paper segment employed 1,577 persons, munici-

pal & industrial 1,193, Oil & mining 460, tikkurila 3,538 and the segment 

Other 257 persons. a total of  1,468 persons worked for Kemira functions 

and joint operations.

total salaries and wages paid in 2009 were eUR 310.6 million (2008: 

354.6; 2007: 360.4). Kemira’s reward system is based on performance, 

the principles of internal fairness and external competitiveness. consistent 

job evaluation helps ensure compliance with these principles. Basic pay is 

supplemented by performance-based bonus schemes, which cover a large 

share of Group employees.

Kemira conducted a personnel survey in may-June. the objective of the 

survey was to assess personnel satisfaction and commitment and identify 

the organization’s strengths and development areas. the response rate of 

87% is very high, which is a positive sign of the personnel’s willingness to 

express their views on Kemira as a workplace. the overall results for Ke-

mira fell somewhat compared to the previous personnel survey in 2007. 

the survey showed that people found their work challenging and interest-

ing, and felt joy of work. the main organizational strengths were seen in 

the areas of management and leadership; especially in the fields of avail-

ability, trust, recognition and competence. according to the survey, further 

development was needed in communicating Kemira’s strategy, objectives 

and structure. the annual Group-wide personnel survey offers an impor-

tant channel for personnel participation and serves as a valuable manage-

ment tool.

the Kemira code of conduct specifies Group principles governing equal-

ity. accordingly, Kemira treats all people equally in recruitment and pro-

vides equal working conditions irrespective of race, gender, religious be-

liefs, political opinions and national and social origin. Kemira aims to achieve 

equal numbers of applications for vacancies by women and men, equal 

opportunities for competence development and career progression, equal 

placement on various organizational levels, equal pay for equal work and 

equality in other employment terms and conditions. at the end of 2009, 

men represented 68% (2008 and 2007: 71%) of Kemira’s employees and 

women 32% (2008 and 2007: 29%).

enviROnment anD safety

chemical products, their use, applications and manufacturing are governed 

by numerous international agreements, as well as regional and national 

legislation all over the world. in its financial statements, the Group treats 

its environmental liabilities and risks in accordance with ifRs. the Kemira 

code of conduct contains up-to-date environmental and health and safe-

ty guidelines, compliance with law setting the minimum requirement. the 

company performs regular internal and external audits to improve environ-

mental and safety performance. no material non-compliance conditions 

with respect to environmental and safety permits have been brought to 

the management’s attention.

in 2009, capital expenditure on environmental protection at company 

sites totaled eUR 2.4 million (eUR 7.2 million) and operating costs eUR 14.8 

million (eUR 30.0 million). the change was mainly due to the full effect of 

transferring the titanium dioxide business to a joint venture, and decreased 

production caused by the economic crisis and cost cutting. no major envi-

ronmental investment projects are in progress or are being planned.

Provisions for environmental remediation measures of eUR 21.1 million 

(eUR 19.4 million) were mainly related to a landfill closure in Pori, finland, 

and a sediment remediation project in vaasa, finland, with both re-condi-

tioning work starting in 2009. in addition a demolition project of old facto-

ry buildings began in Helsingborg, sweden. there were no acquisitions and 

divestments that altered the Group’s overall environmental liabilities sig-

nificantly. no environmental liability cases related to previous operations, 

which would have a significant effect on Kemira’s financial position, have 

been brought to the management’s attention. 

the implementation of the new eU chemicals regulation (ReacH) pro-

gressed as planned and the so-called preregistration was completed. Ke-

mira made around 3,000 preregistrations for just over 400 manufactured 

and/or imported substances. none of the substances which are candidates 

for authorization are used in Kemira’s products. However, acrylamide has 

been proposed to the candidate list and the representatives of the indus-

try have together taken the issue to the General court of european Union. 

Kemira manufactures acrylamide mainly as a raw material for non-toxic 

polymers. the implementation of ReacH is not expected to have major ef-

fects on the Group’s competitiveness, even though the registration costs 

are expected to accumulate over the next few years.

the frequency of occupational incidents (lta1) decreased significant-

ly from the previous year, to 3.5 incidents per million working hours (4.4), 

which is the best result the Group has achieved thus far. there was one in-

cident, which regrettably resulted in permanent injuries for one employee. 

there were no significant process accidents in 2009. two truck transpor-
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tation accidents happened, but environmental damage and personal inju-

ries were avoided.

Kemira publishes an annual environmental Report verified by a third par-

ty. the report is prepared in accordance with ifRs and the guidelines issued 

by the european chemical industry council (cefic). for example, the report 

deals with emissions and effluents, waste, environmental costs, safety and 

product safety as well as the use of natural resources.

seGments

paper

we offer chemical products and integrated systems that help custo-

mers in the water-intensive pulp and paper industry to improve their 

profitability as well as their water, raw material and energy efficien-

cy. our solutions support sustainable development.

eUR million 1–12/2009 1–12/2008

Revenue 906.4 1 003.3

eBitDa 87.0 69.4

eBitDa % 9.6 6.9

Operating profit excluding 
non-recurring items 44.9 41.5

Operating profit 40.1 -2.6

Operating profit excluding  
non-recurring items % 5.0 4.1

Operating profit, % 4.4 -0.3

capital employed* 782.6 826.7

ROce, %* 5.1 -0.3

capital expenditure,  
excluding acquisitions 37.8 51.7

cash flow after investments, 
excluding interest and taxes 75.6 15.5

* 12-month rolling average

the Paper segment’s revenue in 2009 declined by 10% to eUR 906.4 mil-

lion (1,003.3) as demand in customer industries decreased markedly. the 

currency exchange effect had an approximately eUR 4 million negative im-

pact on revenue. Reclassification of customer assignments between seg-

ments decreased revenue by about eUR 1 million in 2009.

the consumption of paper used in magazines and newspapers and the 

number of printed advertising material have fallen, particularly in the tra-

ditional markets in europe and north america. management estimated 

that demand has decreased by 10-25% depending on the paper grade. 

to adapt production to weaker demand, the Paper segment’s customers 

in the paper industry have cut back and shut down capacity, and cleared 

stocks. the demand for packaging boards has also weakened, although 

asia and eastern europe showed signs of recovery in demand in the sec-

ond half of the year. the high utilization rate of pulp mills in the second half 

of the year was visible as a pick-up in pulp chemical demand.

operating profit excluding non-recurring items was eUR 44.9 million 

(41.5). the operating profit margin rose to 5.0% from 4.1% a year earlier 

(excluding non-recurring items). Higher average prices and lower fixed and 
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variable costs compensated for the decline in sales volumes. variable costs 

decreased by about eUR 6 million compared to 2008.

at the beginning of the year, Kemira and the chinese company tiancheng 

ltd. set up a joint venture, Kemira-tiancheng chemicals (yanzhou) co., ltd., 

to produce aKD wax, and adhesives derived from its wax, for the paper and 

board industry. the company’s operations have started as planned, and the 

company’s home market in china shows healthy demand for the products.  

Kemira has been taking measures for over a period of several years to 

adjust its paper and pulp chemicals business to the increasingly challeng-

ing market. in addition to temporary production shut-downs, aKD wax pro-

duction in vaasa, finland was shut down in march 2009. Over the last few 

years, six north american production facilities have been closed.

municipal & industrial

we offer water treatment chemicals for municipalities and indust-

rial customers. our strengths are high-level application know-how,  

a comprehensive range of water treatment chemicals, and reliable 

customer deliveries.

eUR million 1–12/2009 1–12/2008

Revenue 607.5 583.7

eBitDa 91.7 41.0

eBitDa % 15.1 7.0

Operating profit excluding 
non-recurring items 66.4 25.0

Operating profit 59.8 5.3

Operating profit excluding  
non-recurring items, % 10.9 4.3

Operating profit, % 9.8 0.9

capital employed* 349.4 342.7

ROce, %* 17.1 1.6

capital expenditure,
excluding acquisitions 21.0 29.7

cash flow after investments,
excluding interest and taxes 93.5 -13.8

* 12-month rolling average

the municipal & industrial segment’s revenue in 2009 was eUR 607.5 mil-

lion (583.7). Reclassification of customer assignments between segments 

decreased revenue by about eUR 8 million in 2009. comparable revenue 

increased by 5% from 2008. acquisitions had an approximately eUR 22 mil-

lion positive impact on revenue while divestments had an approximate-

ly eUR 3 million negative effect on revenue. the currency exchange effect 

decreased revenue by about eUR 7 million.

Overall steady demand continued in the municipal water treatment busi-

ness despite a decrease in delivery volumes in certain market areas. in the 

industrial water treatment business, demand decreased in some custom-

er industries due to lower capacity utilization rates, but in other industries, 

such as the food industry and power production, demand for water treat-

ment chemicals was stable. total delivery volumes were lower than in 

2008, but prices were higher on average.
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Operating profit excluding non-recurring items was eUR 66.4 million 

(25.0). the operating profit margin rose to 10.9% from 4.3% in 2008 (ex-

cluding non-recurring items). Operating profit was boosted by higher sales 

prices compared to 2008, particularly in the first half of the year, and by 

lower variable and fixed costs. variable costs decreased by approximately 

eUR 26 million from 2008. there was a shortage of many recycled indus-

trial raw materials during the first half of the year in particular, which in-

creased variable and fixed costs as production had to use other raw ma-

terials. acquisitions had an approximately eUR 5 million positive impact on 

operating profit.

in september, Kemira and akzo nobel agreed that Kemira will take 

over akzo nobel’s water treatment iron coagulant business in scandinavia 

(sweden, norway and Denmark). the business deal did not involve any 

transfer of personnel or production facilities.

Kemira has revised its strategy in asia, especially in china, and divest-

ed its coagulation chemicals unit during the year. in september 2008, Ke-

mira announced its intention to acquire a water chemical company oper-

ating in the shandong province in china, but the deal fell through and will 

no longer be completed. 

the segment was renamed municipal & industrial in september. the 

name replaced the previous name “water”. the new name describes the 

segment’s customer base, which ranges from small municipalities to big 

cities and various industries.

oil & mining

we offer a large selection of innovative chemical extraction and pro-

cess solutions for the oil and mining industries, where water plays a 

central role. utilizing our expertise, we enable our customers to imp-

rove efficiency and productivity.

the Oil & mining segment’s revenue in 2009 fell by 15% to eUR 235.0 

million (275.4). the decline was result of weaker demand, particularly in 

the mining industry. the currency exchange effect had an approximately 

eUR 6 million positive impact on revenue. Reclassification of customer as-
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signments between segments increased revenue by about eUR 9 million.

in the oil and gas industry, chemical demand was weak as a conse-

quence of cuts in exploration, drilling and production services. in the min-

ing industry, customer demand and prices were also low due to the eco-

nomic recession. signs of recovery were visible in oil and gas industry in 

the last quarter as the prices for oil and gas rose. in the mining industry, the 

demand for chemicals by metal industry customers started to strengthen 

towards year end as metal demand and prices rose.

operating profit excluding non-recurring items for was eUR 14.2 mil-

lion (8.4). the operating profit margin rose to 6.0% from 3.1% last year 

(excluding non-recurring items). the decrease in sales volumes was com-

pensated by lower variable costs that decreased by about eUR 19 million 

from the previous year. 

Oil & mining segment is based on Kemira’s water competence and 

water treatment product range. its strategy is to focus on extraction and 

process solutions for oil and mining industries where water quality and 

quantity management plays a central role for the customers. Oil & mining 

implements its strategy by leveraging Kemira’s global presence, production 

footprint as well as research and development network.

tikkurila

our product range consists of decorative paints and coatings for the 

wood and metal industries. we provide consumers, professional pain-

ters and industrial customers with branded products and expert servi-

ces in approximately 40 countries. 

* 12-month rolling averageo

tikkurila’s revenue in 2009 decreased by 18% to eUR 530.2 million (648.1). 

the decrease is associated with the general economic recession, which 

caused a slowdown in both new construction and the sales of building 

materials and resulted in more sluggish housing sales in all key markets. 

the currency exchange effect had an approximately eUR 70 million nega-

tive impact on revenue, in particular due to weakening of the Russian ru-

ble, the swedish krona and the Polish zloty. acquisitions increased revenue 

by about eUR 9 million.

* 12-month rolling average

eUR million 1–12/2009 1–12/2008

Revenue 235.0 275.4

eBitDa 23.6 15.3

eBitDa % 10.1 5.6

Operating profit excluding,  
non-recurring items 14.2 8.4

Operating profit 19.9 1.9

Operating profit excluding  
non-recurring items, % 6.0 3.1

Operating profit, % 8.5 0.7

capital employed* 148.9 160.4

ROce, %* 13.4 1.2

capital expenditure,  
excluding acquisitions 4.7 8.8

cash flow after investments,
excluding interest and taxes 20.8 14.3

eUR million 1–12/2009 1–12/2008

Revenue 530.2 648.1

eBitDa 66.5 78.2

eBitDa % 12.5 12.1

Operating profit excluding  
non-recurring items 50.1 59.2

Operating profit 47.7 59.2

Operating profit excluding,  
non-recurring items, % 9.5 9.1

Operating profit, % 9.0 9.1

capital employed* 304.0 323.6

ROce, %* 15.7 18.3

capital expenditure,
excluding acquisitions 13.5 32.1

cash flow after investments,  
excluding interest and taxes 61.4 52.2
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operating profit excluding non-recurring items was eUR 50.1 million 

(59.2). the operating profit margin rose to 9.5% from 9.1% in the previ-

ous year (excluding non-recurring items). a decrease in sales volume de-

creased operating profit but on the other hand the average price of sold 

products increased from 2008. variable costs increased by about eUR 17 

million, but fixed costs decreased. the currency exchange effect had an ap-

proximately eUR 5 million negative impact on operating profit.

erkki Järvinen took over the position as the President and ceO of tikku-

rila Oy on January 1, 2009. Before taking over the post at tikkurila, Järvi- 

nen worked as President and ceO of Rautakirja corporation, which belongs 

to sanoma Oyj. 

a new Board of Directors was appointed for tikkurila in January. Harri 

Kerminen, President and ceO of Kemira Oyj, was reappointed as the chair-

man of the Board and Jari Paasikivi and Petteri walldén as members.  new 

members that were appointed were eeva ahdekivi, Ove mattsson and Pia 

Rudengren.

in January, tikkurila announced a savings program in order to secure its 

future competitiveness. the aim is to save eUR 25 million annually.  On 

april 15, 2009 the co-determination negotiations were finished in finland. 

the savings program resulted in a personnel reduction of 163 employees 

in finland. implementation of the savings program progressed according 

to plan in other operating countries as well. in connection with tikkurila’s 

savings program, eUR 2.4 million in non-recurring costs was recognized in 

the second quarter of 2009. 

the operations of the logistics and service center in mytishchi near mos-

cow, which came on stream in february, have started out well. the center 

houses all of tikkurila’s decorative paints and industrial paints operations in 

the moscow region and features facilities for customer training. the cen-

ter will further improve tikkurila’s customer services in moscow and the 

surrounding area.

in may, tikkurila purchased the remaining 30% of the shares in st Pe-

tersburg-based industrial coatings companies from the founders and pre-

vious management of the companies. OOO Gamma industrial coatings 

manufactures metal industry coatings and OOO tikkurila Powder coatings 

manufactures powder coatings. after the deal, tikkurila owns 100% of 

both companies.

in august, tikkurila announced its intentions to acquire the 50% stake 

of the slovenian JUB coatings company in the trading company tikkuri-

la JUB Romania sRl. Ownership was transferred on september 1, 2009, 

with 100% ownership now by tikkurila. the name of the company was 

changed to tikkurila sRl. tikkurila JUB Romania sRl was established in may 

2008 for marketing, selling and distributing tikkurila’s and JUB’s decorative 

paints in Romania. in addition to decorative paints, the service concept of 

tikkurila sRl will also include tikkurila’s industrial coatings. with an office 

and warehouse in Bucharest, the company employs around 10 people.

the key elements of tikkurila’s strategy are customer focus, profitable 

growth, geographic focus, strong brands, and one unified tikkurila. to im-

prove customer services and efficiency, tikkurila changed its organization 

as of December 31, 2009 to reflect the geographic division. the four new 

strategic business units are east, finland, scandinavia and central eastern 

europe.

in 2008, Kemira announced a plan to separate tikkurila and list tikkurila’s 

shares on nasDaQ OmX Helsinki ltd in early 2009. the aim of separating 

tikkurila is to increase the shareholder value for Kemira’s shareholders. Ke-

mira is focusing on water chemistry. as the capital, debt and paints mar-

kets weakened, Kemira decided in february 2009 to postpone the listing. 

the Board of Directors of Kemira proposes to the annual General meet-

ing that 86% of the shares of tikkurila be distributed as dividend to Ke-

mira’s shareholders. tikkurila intends to seek listing of its shares on nas-

DaQ OmX Helsinki ltd. as from the end of march, 2010. Kemira does not 

intend to raise cash proceeds for Kemira nor issue new shares of tikkurila 

in connection with tikkurila’s separation. Kemira will retain a 14% minor-

ity holding in tikkurila.

OtHeR

the Other segment consists of specialty chemicals such as organic salts 

and acids and the Group expenses not charged to the segments (some re-

search and development costs and the costs of ceO Office).

the demand and price level of specialty chemicals was good. Products 

are delivered for instance to the food industry, feed industry and pharma-

ceutical industry.

PaRent cOmPany’s financial PeRfORmance

the revenue of the parent company was eUR 296.9 million (285.3). Op-

erating profit was eUR 14.1 million (37.9). the parent company bears the 

cost of Group management and administration as well as a portion of re-

search costs 

the parent company’s net financial expenses came to eUR 14.9 million 

(16.9). net profit totaled eUR 23.2 million (54.7). capital expenditure to-

taled eUR 12.6 million (eUR 192.5 million, including the formation of the ti-

tanium dioxide joint venture), excluding investments in subsidiaries.

KemiRa OyJ’s sHaRes anD sHaReHOlDeRs

On December 31, 2009, Kemira Oyj’s share capital amounted to eUR 221.8 

million and the number of shares was 155,342,557. each share entitles to 

one vote at the general meeting.  

at the end of 2009, Kemira Oyj had 26,495 registered shareholders (De-

cember 31, 2008: 21,333). foreign shareholders held 10.9% of the shares 

(12.8%), including nominee registered holdings. Households owned 15.5% 

of the shares (12.4%).

at the year-end, Kemira held 3,854,711 treasury shares (3,854,465), rep-

resenting 2.5% (3.1%) of all company shares. a total of 306 shares grant-

ed as share-based incentives were returned to Kemira during the year in 

accordance with the terms of the incentive plan as employment ended.

Kemira Oyj’s share closed at eUR 10.39 at the nasDaQ OmX Helsin-

ki ltd at the end of 2009 (2008: 5.40). Due to the rights offering, nas-

DaQ OmX Helsinki has adjusted the historical prices prior to november 

24, 2009 with the following calculation formula: old price / 1.1). the share 

price rose 92% during the year while OmX Helsinki cap index rose 36%. 

shares registered a high of eUR 11.63 (eUR 13.43) and a low of eUR 3.87 

(eUR 4.93). the average share price was eUR 7.64 (7.91). the company’s 

market capitalization, excluding treasury shares, was eUR 1,574 million at 

the year-end (720 million).

in 2009, Kemira Oyj’s share trading volume on nasDaQ OmX Helsinki 

ltd totaled 77.2 million (117.4 million) and was valued at eUR 634.2 million 
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the aGm decided that article 13 of the current articles of association 

be amended to read as follows: “notices to the general meeting of share-

holders and other communications to the shareholders shall be communi-

cated by the Board of Directors by publishing an announcement in at least 

two nationwide newspapers, determined by the Board of Directors, no ear-

lier than two months and no later than 21 days before the general meet-

ing of shareholders.”

the annual General meeting authorized the Board of Directors to decide 

upon the repurchase of a maximum of 2,395,229 treasury shares (“share 

repurchases authorization”). shares will be repurchased by using unrestrict-

ed equity either through a direct offer with equal terms to all shareholder at 

a price determined by the Board of Directors or otherwise than in propor-

tion to the existing shareholdings of the company’s shareholders in public 

trading on the nasDaQ OmX Helsinki ltd (“stock exchange”) at the mar-

ket price quoted at the time of the repurchase. shares shall be acquired 

and paid for in accordance with the Rules of stock exchange and euroclear 

finland ltd. shares may be repurchased to be used in implementing or fi-

nancing mergers and acquisitions, developing the company’s capital struc-

ture, improving the liquidity of the company’s shares or implementing the 

company’s share-based incentive plans. in order to realize the aforemen-

tioned purposes the shares acquired may be retained, transferred further 

or cancelled by the company. the Board of Directors will decide upon oth-

er terms related to share repurchase. the share repurchase authorization 

is valid until the end of the next annual General meeting. the authoriza-

tion has not been exercised.

the annual General meeting authorized the Board of Directors to decide 

to issue a maximum of 12,500,000 new shares and transfer a maximum 

of 6,250,000 treasury shares held by the company (“share issue authori-

zation”). the new shares may be issued and the company’s own shares 

held by the company may be transferred either against payment or, as 

part of the implementation of the company’s share-based incentive plans, 

without payment. said new shares may be issued and said company’s 

own shares held by the company may be transferred to the company’s 

shareholders in proportion to their current shareholdings in the company, 

or through a directed share issue if the company has a weighty financial 

reason to do so, such as financing or implementing mergers and acquisi-

tions, developing its capital structure, improving the liquidity of the com-

pany’s shares or if this is justified for the purpose of implementing the 

company’s share-based incentive plans. the directed share issue may be 

carried out without payment only in connection with the implementation 

of the company’s share-based incentive plan. the subscription price of 

new shares shall be recognized under unrestricted equity capital fund. the 

consideration payable for company’s own shares shall be recognized un-

der unrestricted equity capital fund. the Board of Directors will decide up-

on other terms related to share issue. the share issue authorization is val-

id until the end of the next annual General meeting. the authorization has 

not been exercised.

the aGm elected KPmG Oy ab to serve as the company’s auditor, with 

Pekka Pajamo, authorized Public accountant, acting as the principal auditor.

extraordinary general meeting

the extraordinary General meeting held on november 23, 2009 authorized 

the Board of Directors to decide on a share issue for consideration in such a 
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(eUR 1,028.4 million). this represents 62% of the share capital. the aver-

age daily trading volume was 307,657 (464,022) shares.

rights offering

On november 23, 2009, the Board of Directors decided on a rights offering 

based on an authorization given by the extraordinary General meeting on 

the same day. Kemira’s shareholders were able to subscribe for one new 

share for every four shares held on the record date on november 26, 2009. 

the subscription price was eUR 6.60 per share and the subscription period 

was between December 1 and 18, 2009. as a result of the rights offering 

Kemira’s total number of shares rose to 155,342,557 shares. the shares 

subscribed for in the rights offering entitle to any possible dividends and 

profit distribution and generate all other shareholder rights.

trading with temporary shares corresponding with the shares subscribed 

for with the subscription rights began as its own series on December 21, 

2009. the temporary shares were combined with Kemira shares on De-

cember 30, 2009 and trading with the new shares commenced.

Kemira raised net capital of approximately eUR 196 million from the rights 

offering. the proceeds of the rights offering are to support Kemira’s growth 

strategy and vision to be a leading water chemistry company, to enable the 

separation and listing of tikkurila and to strengthen Kemira’s balance sheet.

share-Based incentive plan for  

the strategic management Board

in february, Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors decided on a new share-based 

incentive plan aimed at strategic management Board members. the plan 

is divided into three one-year performance periods: 2009, 2010 and 2011. 

Payment depends on the achievement of the set operating profit targets. 

the program also includes a three-year goal, which is tied to the develop-

ment of operating profit as a percentage of revenue by the end of 2011. 

any payments will be paid as a combination of Kemira shares and cash 

payments covering the payable taxes, in accordance with the achievement 

of set goals. the combined value of shares and cash payments paid out in 

the course of the three-year share-based incentive plan may not exceed 

the individual’s gross salary for the same period. shares transferable under 

the plan comprise treasury shares or Kemira Oyj shares available in pub-

lic trading.  

in addition to the new share-based incentive plan aimed at strategic 

management Board members, Kemira has a share-based incentive plan 

for key personnel, from which the members of the strategic management 

Board were excluded when the new plan was introduced. the share-based 

incentive plans aim at aligning the goals of the Group’s shareholders and 

key personnel in order to increase the company’s value, motivate key per-

sonnel and provide them with competitive, shareholding-based incentives.

aGm anD eGm DecisiOns

annual general meeting

Kemira Oyj’s annual General meeting, held on april 8, 2009, confirmed 

a dividend of eUR 0.25 per share for 2008. the dividend was paid out on 

april 22, 2009.
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manner that the shareholders shall be entitled to subscribe for new shares 

in proportion to their prior shareholding. more detailed information on the 

share issue can be found under “Kemira Oyj’s shares and shareholders.”

OtHeR events DURinG tHe Review PeRiOD

in august 2009, Kemira Oyj received a summons where it was stated that 

cartel Damage claims Hydrogen Peroxide sa (cDc) had filed an action 

against six hydrogen peroxide manufacturers, including Kemira, for vio-

lations of competition law applicable to the hydrogen peroxide business.  

On December 31, 2009 Kemira Oyj’s statutory employees’ pension in-

surance (tyel) was transferred from Kemira’s Pension fund to varma mu-

tual Pension insurance company. the transfer has no effect on the level of 

employees’ pension security or its coverage. Due to the transfer, Kemira 

recorded non-recurring expenses of eUR 13.7 million in its October-Decem-

ber result. Kemira Oyj also has employees’ pension insurance in ilmarinen 

mutual Pension insurance company.

cORPORate GOveRnance  
anD GROUP stRUctURe
 

Kemira Oyj’s corporate governance is based on the articles of association, 

the finnish companies act and nasDaQ OmX Helsinki ltd’s rules and reg-

ulations on listed companies. furthermore, the company complies with 

the finnish corporate Governance code, with the exception that the nom-

ination committee primarily consists of members outside the company’s 

Board of Directors which is not in line with the Governance code’s recom-

mendation 22. according to the view of the company’s Board of Directors, 

it is in the best interest of the company and its shareholders that the big-

gest shareholders participate in preparing nomination and compensation 

issues related to the Board of Directors. the company’s corporate gover-

nance is presented as a separate statement on the company’s website.

Board of directors

On april 8, 2009, the aGm reelected members elizabeth armstrong, Juha 

laaksonen, Pekka Paasikivi, Kaija Pehu-lehtonen, Jukka viinanen and Jar-

mo väisänen to the Board of Directors and wolfgang Büchele was elect-

ed as a new member. Pekka Paasikivi was re-appointed as the chairman 

of the Board and Jukka viinanen was appointed vice chairman. the remu-

neration paid to the members of the Board remained unchanged. in 2009, 

the Board of Directors met 13 times. 

Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors has appointed three committees: the au-

dit committee, the compensation committee and the nomination com-

mittee. the audit committee is chaired by Juha laaksonen and has Kaija 

Pehu-lehtonen and Jarmo väisänen as members. in 2009, the audit com-

mittee met 5 times. the compensation committee is chaired by Pekka 

Paasikivi and has Kaija Pehu-lehtonen and Jukka viinanen as members. in 

2009, the compensation committee met 3 times.

to the nomination committee the Board of Directors of Kemira Oyj in-

vited the representatives of the three largest shareholders as of may 31, 

2009, and the chairman of Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors as an expert 

member. the nomination committee prepares a proposal for the next 

annual General meeting concerning the composition and remuneration of 

the Board of Directors. the members of the nomination committee are 

Jari Paasikivi, managing Director of Oras invest Oy; Kari Järvinen, managing 

Director of solidium Oy; Risto murto, chief investment Officer, varma mu-

tual Pension insurance company; and the chairman of the Board of Direc-

tors Pekka Paasikivi as an expert member. in 2009, the nomination com-

mittee met once.

changes to company management

in august, Kemira Oyj’s cfO Jyrki mäki-Kala was appointed new Deputy ceO 

as of september 1, 2009 following the retirement of the previous Depu-

ty ceO esa tirkkonen.

structure

the acquisitions made during the year are discussed under segment in-

formation.  

sHORt-teRm RisKs anD  
UnceRtainty factORs 
 
Kemira’s key risks and uncertainty factors are related to general economic 

development and its effect on the demand for Kemira’s products.  

Powerful fluctuations in the world market prices of electricity and oil 

are reflected in Kemira’s financial results, via raw material prices and lo-

gistics costs. 

capacity cuts among raw material suppliers may affect Kemira’s produc-

tion costs. as a result of general economic development some of our co-

operation partners, for instance logistics companies, may face difficulties, 

which in turn may have a temporary effect on Kemira’s operations.

introduction of ReacH legislation may decrease the available raw ma-

terial options and suppliers and thus increase Kemira’s raw material costs. 

ReacH registration of Kemira’s own products may also be more expen-

sive than estimated, in particular if Kemira is not able to divide the costs 

with other companies. acrylamide which Kemira uses as a raw material 

for polymers has been proposed to the list of candidates for authorization. 

if acrylamide was added to the list of substances subject to authorization 

under ReacH, this would hinder its use.

changes in the exchange rates of key currencies can affect Kemira’s fi-

nancials.

a detailed account of Kemira’s risk management principles and organiza-

tion is available at the company website at www.kemira.com. an account 

of financial risks is available in the notes to the financial statements. ma-

terialized environmental and hazard risks will be handled in Kemira’s envi-

ronmental report, to be published in spring.

events afteR tHe Review PeRiOD

in January 2010, Kemira reversed the decision to shut down the polymer 

manufacturing site in columbus Georgia Usa as the demand for water 

treatment chemicals in the oil and gas industries is expected to increase. 

Previously the site was primarily serving customers in the paper industry. 

last year’s decision to shut down the columbus site was part of the refo-

cusing of Kemira’s paper chemicals business, where the offering of paper 
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chemicals is being adapted regionally to local customer needs. the opera-

tions at the site have now been retooled to offer a tailored product mix to 

meet the needs of customers in the oil and gas industry.

in January 2010, metso and Kemira entered into a three-year research 

and development partnership agreement, by which Kemira will handle 

the chemical control of metso’s pilot paper machines. the aim is to com-

bine metso’s leading competence in paper and board machine processes, 

automation and technology with Kemira’s know-how in water and fiber 

chemistry to produce optimal overall solutions for pulp and paper indus-

try customers.

DiviDenD

On December 31, 2009, Kemira Oyj’s distributable funds totaled eUR 

394,164,178 of which net profit for the period accounted for eUR 23,172,560. 

no material changes have taken place in the company’s financial position 

after the balance sheet date. 

Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors proposes to the annual General meet-

ing to be held on march 16, 2010 that dividend on the basis of the adopt-

ed balance sheet for the financial year ended December 31, 2009 shall be 

paid in tikkurila Oyj’s shares as follows:

 each four Kemira’s shares entitle their holder to receive one share of 

tikkurila Oyj as a dividend. Kemira shall distribute to its shareholders as 

dividend an aggregate of 37.933.097 shares of tikkurila, which represents 

86% of the shares in tikkurila and the number of voting rights carried by 

them.

 the dividend payable in tikkurila’s shares will be paid to each sharehold-

er who is registered in the company’s shareholder Register maintained by 

euroclear finland ltd on the record date, march 19, 2010. the Board of Di-

rectors proposes that the dividend be paid on march 26, 2010.

the distribution of the dividend is conditional upon the approval of tik-

kurila’s shares to trading on the official list of nasDaQ OmX Helsinki by 

may 31, 2010. if this condition is not fulfilled, the decision to distribute div-

idend will lapse.

Board proposal for dividend authorization 

Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors proposes to the annual General meeting 

on march 16, 2010 that the annual General meeting authorize the Board 

to decide upon a dividend payable in cash on the basis of the adopted bal-

ance sheet for the financial year ended December 31, 2009 under the fol-

lowing terms and conditions:

 

-  Under the authorization, the Board of Directors may decide upon a div-

idend payable in cash of a maximum of eUR 0.27 per share. 

-  the Board of Directors will decide upon the other terms related to the 

dividend payable in cash in accordance with the Rules of the Helsinki 

stock exchange and euroclear finland ltd. the authorization to decide 

upon a dividend payable in cash is valid until may 31, 2010.

OUtlOOK

Kemira’s vision is to be a leading water chemistry company. Kemira will 

continue to focus on improving profitability and reinforcing positive cash 

flow, but the company will increase its actions to boost growth.

Kemira’s financial targets remain unchanged. the company’s medium 

term financial targets are:

- organic revenue growth > 5% per year

- eBit, % of revenue > 10%

- positive cash flow after investments and dividends 

- return on capital employed (ROce), %:  continuous improvement, and

- targeted gearing level 40–80%.

the basis for growth are the growing water chemicals markets and Ke-

mira’s strong know-how in water quality and quantity management. in-

creasing water shortage, tightening legislation and customers’ needs to 

increase operational efficiency create opportunities for Kemira to develop 

new water applications for both new and current customers. investment 

in research and development is a central part of Kemira’s strategy. the fo-

cus of Kemira’s research and development activities is on the develop-

ment and commercialization of new innovative technologies for Kemira’s 

customers globally and locally.  

the global cost savings program started in 2008 has proceeded faster 

than planned and it will be completed by the end of the year. the full an-

nual impact is expected to be felt from 2011 onwards. 

in 2010, Kemira expects demand to develop favorably as the econom-

ic situation improves, even though there’s still uncertainty with the devel-

opment of the demand. in the first quarter of the year, Kemira’s operating 

profit excluding non-recurring items is expected to increase from the cor-

responding period in 2009.

 

Helsinki, february 8, 2010

Kemira Oyj

Board of Directors

financial key figures, definitions of key figures as well as information on 

shareholders, management shareholding and related parties’ events are 

presented in the financial statements and in the notes to the financial 

statements.

all forward-looking statements in this review are based on the man-

agement’s current expectations and beliefs about future events, and ac-

tual results may differ materially from the expectations and beliefs such 

statements contain.
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GEARING

%

Kemira’s comfort zone

Net interest-bearing liabilities divided by equity
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GROUP Key fiGURes

1) number of shares outstanding, excluding the number of shares bought back.
2) Board of Directors proposes to the annual General meeting that dividend on the basis of the financial year 2009 shall be paid in tikkurila Oyj’s shares as follows: each four 
Kemira’s shares entitle their holder to receive one share of tikkurila Oyj as a dividend. 
3) year 2006 error has been corrected.
4) Rights offering restatement

Net financial expenses  
(% share of interest-bearing net liabilities)

PER SHARE FIGURES 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

per share figures 

earnings per share, basic, eUR 1) 3) 4) 0.61 -0.01 0.48 0.82 0.67

earnings per share, diluted, eUR 1) 3) 4) 0.61 -0.01 0.48 0.82 0.66

cash flow from operations per share, eUR 1) 4) 2.13 0.68 1.29 1.63 1.17

Dividend per share, eUR 1) 2)  4) - 0.23 0.45 0.44 0.33

Dividend payout ratio, % 1) 2) 3)  4) - -1,634.2 95.2 53.4 49.1

Dividend yield 1) - 4.2 3.5 2.8 2.7

equity per share, eUR  1) 3) 8.25 7.94 8.85 8.85 8.33

Price per earnings per share (P/e ratio) 1) 3) 4) 17.14 -388.28 27.41 18.95 18.39

Price per equity per share 1) 4) 1.26 0.75 1.63 1.93 1.62

Price per cash flow per share 1) 4) 4.87 7.98 10.14 9.49 10.45

Dividend paid, eUR million 2) - 30.3 60.6 58.1 43.5

share price and turnover

share price, year high, eUR 4) 11.63 13.43 17.45 15.61 12.75

share price, year low, eUR 4) 3.87 4.93 11.92 10.06 8.96

share price, year average, eUR 4) 7.64 7.91 14.93 12.90 10.54

share price, end of year, eUR 4) 10.39 5.40 13.09 15.48 12.25

number of shares traded (1,000) 83,792 117,397 151,643 76,252 65,578

   % of number of shares 54 97 125 63 54

market capitalisation, end of year, eUR million 1,614.0 719.9 1,745.1 2,060.4 1,627.2

increase in share capital  

average number of shares, basic, (1,000) 1) 134,824 121,191 121,164 120,877 120,628

average number of shares, diluted (1,000) 1) 135,085 121,191 121,194 121,051 121,024

number of shares at end of year, basic, (1,000) 1) 151,488 121,191 121,191 120,988 120,714

number of shares at end of year, diluted (1,000) 1) 151,748 121,191 121,191 121,204 121,057

increase in number of shares (1,000) 30,298 - 203 274 408

share capital, eUR million 221.8 221.8 221.8 221.6 221.3

increase in share capital - share options, eUR million - - 0.2 0.3 0.6
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1) the share of profit or loss of associates is presented after financial expenses. 
2) year 2006 error has been corrected
3) the total research and development expenses for 2009 include eUR 3.4 million (eUR 4.7 million) of depreciations.    

FINANCIAL FIGURES 2009 2008 2007 2006 2) 2005

income statement and profitaBility

Revenue, eUR million 2,500 2,833 2,810 2,523 1,994

foreign operations, eUR million 1,984 2,109 2,370 2,159 1,642

sales in finland, % 15 15 15 17 18

exports from finland, % 6 10 12 16 21

sales generated outside finland, % 79 75 73 67 61

Operating profit, eUR million  1) 157 74 143 194 166

% of revenue 6 3 5 8 8

share of profit or loss of associates, eUR million  1) -5 -3 2 -2 -2

financial income and expenses (net), eUR million  3) 50 69 52 37 30

% of revenue 2 2 2 1 2

interest cover  1) 5 4 6 9 9

Profit before tax, eUR million 103 2 93 154 134

% of revenue 4 0 3 6 7

net profit for the period (attributable to equity holders of the parent), eUR million 82 -2 64 109 88

Return on investment (ROi), % 7 4 8 11 11

Return on equity (ROe), % 7 0 6 10 9

Return on capital employed (ROce), % 8 3 7 10 10

Research and development expenses, eUR million 47 71 66 55 43

% of revenue 2 3 2 2 2

cash flow

cash flow from operations, eUR million 288 90 172 217 156

Disposals of subsidiaries and property, plant and equipment, eUR million 2 254 - 103 132

capital expenditure, eUR million 86 342 321 462 402

% of revenue 3 12 11 18 20

cash flow after capital expenditure, eUR million 202 3 -149 -142 -115

cash flow return on capital invested (cfROi),  % 12 4 8 12 10

Balance sheet and solvency

non-current assets, eUR million 1,886 1,906 1,877 1,811 1,617

shareholders' equity (attributable to equity holders of the parent), eUR million 1,250 963 1,072 1,070 1,005

shareholders' equity including minority interest, eUR million 1,269 976 1,087 1,083 1,019

liabilities, eUR million 1,548 1,884 1,741 1,687 1,312

total assets, eUR million 2,817 2,860 2,828 2,769 2,331

interest-bearing net liabilities, eUR million 676 1,049 1,003 827 620

equity ratio, % 45 34 39 39 44

Gearing, % 53 107 92 76 61

interest-bearing net liabilities / eBitDa 2.5 4.3 3.2 2.6 2.2

personnel

Personnel (average) 8,843 9,954 10,008 9,186 7,717

of whom in finland 1,929 2,659 3,033 3,150 3,146

exchange rates

Key exchange rates (31 December)

UsD 1.441 1.392 1.472 1.317 1.180

seK 10.252 10.870 9.442 9.040 9.388

Pln 4.105 4.154 3.594 3.831 3.860

BRl 2.511 3.244 2.583 2.810 2.745

GROUP Key fiGURes
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PER SHARE FIGURES

earnings per share (eps)
net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent

average number of shares

cash flow from operations
cash flow from operations, after change in net working

capital and before investing activities

cash flow from operations per share
cash flow from operations

average number of shares

dividend per share
Dividends paid

number of shares at end of year

dividend payout ratio
Dividend per share x 100

earnings per share (ePs)

dividend yield
Dividend per share x 100

share price at end of year

equity per share
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent at end of year

number of shares at end of year

share price, year average
shares traded (eUR)

shares traded (volume)

price per earnings per share (p/e)
share price at end of year

earnings per share (ePs)

price per equity per share
share price at end of year

equity per share attributable to equity holders of the parent

price per cash flow per share
share price at end of year

cash flow from operations per share

share turnover, %
number of shares traded x 100

weighted average number of shares
1) average
2) capital employed = net working capital + property, plant and equipment 
available for use + intangible assets + investments in associates

FINANCIAL FIGURES

interest-Bearing net liaBilities
interest-bearing liabilities - money market investments

 - cash and cash equivalents

equity ratio, %
total equity x 100

total assets - prepayments received

gearing, %
interest-bearing net liabilities x 100

total equity

interest cover
Operating profit + depreciation, impairments  
and reversal of impairments

net financial expenses

return on investment (roi), %
(Profit before taxes + interest expenses +  
other financial expenses) x 100

(total assets - interest-free liabilities) 1)

return on equity (roe), % 
net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent x 100

equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 1)

cash flow return on investment (cfroi), % 
cash flow from operations x 100

(total assets - interest-free liabilities) 1)

return on capital employed (roce), %
Operating profit + share of profit or loss of associates x 100

capital employed 1) 2)

capital turnover
Revenue

capital employed 1) 2)

interest-Bearing net liaBilities / eBitda
interest-bearing net liabilities

Operating profit + depreciation, impairments and reversal of 
impairments

net financial cost, %
(net financial expenses - dividend income  
- exchange rate differences) 

 interest-bearing net liabilities 1)
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cOnsOliDateD incOme statement (ifRs) 
(eUR million)

note 1.1.–31.12.2009 1.1.–31.12.2008

Revenue 2 2,500.1 2,832.7

Other operating income 3 15.0 51.5

cost of sales 4, 5, 6, 7 -2,241.4 -2,640.8

Depreciation, amortization, impairments and reversal of impairments 8, 14 -116.3 -169.4

Operating profit 157.4 74.0

financial income 9 202.8 208.7

financial expense 9 -252.6 -278.2

financial expenses, net 9 -49.8 -69.5

share of profit or loss of associates 2, 9 -4.7 -2.7

Profit before tax 102.9 1.8

income tax 10 -17.4 0.0

Net profit for the period 85.5 1.8

attriButaBle to:

equity holders of the parent 81.8 -1.8

minority interest 3.7 3.6

Net profit for the period 85.5 1.8

Earnings per share, basic and diluted, EUR 11 0.61 -0.01
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note 1.1.–31.12.2009 1.1.–31.12.2008

Net profit for the period 85.5 1.8

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:   

available-for-sale financial assets - change in fair value 21 3.7 35.3

exchange differences 28.1 -74.2

Hedge of net investment in foreign entities 21 -3.0 9.1

cash flow hedging 21 10.0 -22.0

Other changes -0.4 2.1

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 38.4 -49.7

Total comprehensive income 123.9 -47.9

attriButaBle to:   

equity holders of the parent 119.9 -49.4

minority interest 4.0 1.5

Total comprehensive income 123.9 -47.9

cOnsOliDateD statement Of cOmPReHensive incOme 
(eUR million)
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cOnsOliDateD Balance sHeet (ifRs)

ASSETS note 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

non-current assets

Goodwill 12 658.0 655.1

Other intangible assets 12 102.2 111.6

Property, plant and equipment 13 761.5 765.7

Holdings in associates 15, 33 131.1 135.6

available-for-sale investments 15, 17 166.2 159.8

Deferred tax assets 21 18.8 12.7

Other investments 13.2 11.5

Defined benefit pension receivables 26 35.3 54.0

Total non-current assets 1,886.3 1,906.0

current assets

inventories 16 246.5 319.3

interest-bearing receivables 17, 18 1.4 7.6

trade receivables and other receivables 17, 18 400.6 493.0

current tax asset  18 7.3 14.4

money market investments 32 202.1 87.1

cash and cash equivalents 32 72.5 32.3

Total receivables 930.4 953.7

Total assets 2,816.7 2,859.7

EQUITY ANd LIABILITIES note 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

equity

share capital 221.8 221.8

Other equity 1,027.7 741.0

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,249.5 962.8

minority interest 19.3 13.2

Total equity 1,268.8 976.0

non-current liaBilities

interest-bearing non-current liabilities 17, 20, 24, 25 512.6 609.2

Deferred tax liabilities 21 90.1 89.9

Pension liabilities 26 70.4 67.5

Provisions 22 55.6 61.8

Total non-current liabilites 728.7 828.4

current liaBilities

interest-bearing current liabilities 17, 23, 24, 25 437.6 559.3

trade payables and other liabilities 23 369.1 479.7

current tax liabilities 23 0.5 5.5

Provisions 22 12.0 10.8

Total current liabilities 819.2 1,055.3

Total liabilities 1,547.9 1,883.7

Total equity and liabilities 2,816.7 2,859.7

(eUR million)
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cOnsOliDateD statement Of casH flOw (ifRs)

CASH FLOW FROm OPERATING ACTIVITIES note 2009 2008

Profit for the period 81.8 -1.8

adjustments for

Depreciation, amortization, impairments and reversal of impairments 8 116.3 169.2

taxes 10 17.4 0.1

financial expenses, net 9 49.8 69.5

share of profit or loss of associates 9 4.7 2.7

Other non-cash income and expenses 18.7 -22.7

288.7 217.0

change in working capital

increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories 75.6 -38.4

increase (-) / decrease (+) in trade and other receivables 81.1 8.2

increase (+) / decrease (-) in trade payables and other liabilities -82.3 1.5

Change in net working capital 74.4 -28.7

interest and other financing cost paid -58.9 -92.5

interest and other income received 11.5 26.2

Realized exchange gains and losses -1.8 -8.9

Dividends received 0.2 1.0

income taxes paid -26.3 -23.9

-75.3 -98.1

Net cash generated from operating activities 287.8 90.2

CASH FLOW FROm INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 27 -3.7 -44.3

Purchases of associates - -136.5

Purchases of other shares -1.5 -10.1

Purchases of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets -80.7 -150.9

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed 27 0.6 232.5

Proceeds from sale of associates - 3.9

Proceeds from sale of other shares - 0.1

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 1.8 17.8

change in other investments -2.1 -

Net cash used in investing activities -85.6 -87.5

Cash flow before financing activities 202.2 2.7

CASH FLOW FROm FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from non-current interest-bearing liabilities 228.3 470.0

Repayments from non-current interest-bearing liabilities -249.7 -43.4

Payment of (-) / proceeds from (+) current interest-bearing liabilities -183.6 -282.1

Dividends paid -33.5 -64.2

Rights issue or other chargeable change in equity 200.0 -

Other financial items -11.3 -7.8

Net cash used in financing activities -49.8 72.5

Net increase (+) / decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents 152.4 75.2

cash and cash equivalents at end of period 274.6 119.4

exchange gains (+) / losses (-) on cash and cash equivalents -2.8 8.4

cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 119.4 52.6

Net increase (+) / decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents 152.4 75.2

the above figures cannot be directly derived from balance sheet. 

(eUR million)
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Shareholders' equity at January 1, 2008 221.8 257.9 68.2 - -41.1 -25.9 591.1 15.3 1,087.3

net profit for the period - - - - - - -1.8 3.6 1.8

Other comprehensive income, net of tax - - 12.7 - -63.5 - 3.3 -2.2 -49.7

total comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 12.7 - -63.5 0.0 1.5 1.4 -47.9

Dividends paid - - - - - - -60.6 -3.5 -64.1

share-based compensations - - - - - - 0.7 - 0.7

transfers in equity - - 0.5 - - - -0.5 - 0.0

shareholders' equity at December 31, 2008 221.8 257.9 81.4 - -104.6 -25.9 532.2 13.2 976.0

Shareholders' equity at January 1, 2009 221.8 257.9 81.4 - -104.6 -25.9 532.2 13.2 976.0

net profit for the period - - - - - - 81.8 3.7 85.5

Other comprehensive income, net of tax - - 13.8 - 24.7 - -0.3 0.2 38.4

total comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 13.8 - 24.7 0.0 81.5 3.9 123.9

Dividends paid - - - - - - -30.3 -3.2 -33.5

share issue - - - 196.3 - - - - 196.3

share-based compensations - - - - - - 0.8 - 0.8

changes due to acquisition - - - - - - - 5.3 5.3

transfers in equity - - 0.6 - - - -0.6 - 0.0

Shareholders' equity at december 31, 2009 221.8 257.9 95.8 196.3 -79.9 -25.9 583.6 19.2 1,268.8

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

changes in share volume

(1,000) shares outstanding treasury shares total

Jan. 1, 2008 121,191 3,854 125,045

treasury shares issued to the members of share-based incentive plan - - -

shares from the share-based arrangement given back - - -

dec. 31, 2008 121,191 3,854 125,045

Jan. 1, 2009 121,191 3,854 125,045

share issue 30,298 - 30,298

shares from the share-based arrangement given back -1 0 -

dec. 31, 2009 151,488 3,854 155,343

Kemira had in its possession 3,854,771 of its treasury shares at December 31, 2009. Of shares granted based on the share-based incentive 
program, 306 shares were returned to Kemira in 2009. the average share price of treasury shares was eUR 6.73 and they represented 2,5% of 
the share capital and the aggregate number of votes conferred by all shares. the aggregate par value of the treasury shares is eUR 5.5 million. 

the capital paid-in in excess of par value is a reserve accumulated through subscriptions entitled by the management stock option program 
2001. this non-changing reserve based on the finnish companies act (734/1978) which does no longer change. according to ifRs, the fair 
value reserve is a reserve accumulating based on available-for-sale financial assets (shares) measured at fair value and hedge accounting. 
Other reserves originate from local requirements of subsidiaries. the unrestricted equity reserve includes other equity type investments and the 
subscription price of share to the extent that it will not, based on the specific decision, be recognized in share capital. 

On november 23, 2009, the Board of Directors decided on a rights offering based on an authorization given by the extraordinary General 
meeting on the same day. as a result of the offering, Kemira’s total number of shares increased to 155,342,557 shares. the funds generated from 
the rights offering less the costs related to the offering amounting to eUR 196,3 million was included in the unrestricted equity reserve.

(eUR million)
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1. cOmpaNy pROfile

Kemira is an international chemicals group which had five business areas 

during the period under review:  paper, municipal & industrial, Oil & mining, 

tikkurila and Other. the municipal & industrial segment used to be called 

the Water segment. the name was changed in september. the group’s 

main clients are industries that use a lot of water. Kemira offers solutions 

for water quality and volume management that help improve customers’ 

energy, water and raw material efficiency. Kemira’s vision is to be a lead-

ing water chemicals company. tikkurila, which is responsible for Kemira’s 

paint and coating operations, has the objective to be the market leader in 

retail and construction paints and in certain wood and metal industry coat-

ings in selected market areas

the group’s parent company is Kemira Oyj.  the parent company is do-

miciled in Helsinki, finland, and its registered address is porkkalankatu 3, 

fi-00180 Helsinki, finland.  a copy of the consolidated financial statements 

is available for viewing at www.kemira.com. the Board of directors of Ke-

mira Oyj has approved the financial statements for publication at its meet-

ing of 8 february 2010. the annual general meeting can change the finan-

cial statements after their approval.

sUmmaRy Of siGNificaNt  
accOUNtiNG pOlicies

Basis Of pRepaRatiON

Kemira has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with ias and ifRs (international financial Reporting standards), issued 

by the iasB (international accounting standards Board), and the related 

sic and ifRic interpretations. in the finnish accounting act and its provi-

sions, the international financial Reporting standards refer to the approved 

standards and their interpretations under european Union Regulation No. 

1606/2002, regarding the application of the international financial Report-

ing standards applicable within the community. the standards in effect on 

31 december 2009 have been applied to the year 2009 and the compari-

son year 2008.

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on 

historical cost unless otherwise stated in the accounting policies below. 

among the items measured at fair value are available-for-sale financial 

assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 

and share-based payments on their grant date. the consolidated finan-

cial statements are presented in euro which is the parent company’s op-

erating currency.

as of 1 January 2009, the Group has applied the following standards and 

interpretations:

-  ifRs 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. standard amendment. the 

amendment requires additional information concerning the fair val-

ue of financial instruments and liquidity risks. the amendment has in-

creased the note information in these terms.

-  ifRs 8 Operating Segments. the new standard did not substantially 

change current segment reporting as the segment information pub-

lished by the Group was already previously based on the Group’s in-

ternal reporting structure. adoption of the standard mainly affects the 

way in which the segment information is presented in the notes. the 

segment information of the financial statements was changed from 

the beginning of 2009 due to reorganization of the Group. 

-  ias 23 Borrowing Costs. standard amendment. the amended standard 

requires that the borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset form part 

of the cost of that asset. the Group has previously recorded borrowing 

costs as costs during the financial year in which they have accumulat-

ed. adoption of the new standard means a change to the accounting 

principles of the consolidated financial statements. in 2009, the Group 

had no investments that fulfilled the recognition criteria. 

-  ias 1 amendment Presentation of Financial Statements. standard 

amendment. the amendment mainly changed the presentation 

method for the income statement and statement of changes in equity. 

-  ifRs 2 Share-based Payment – amendments to standard. the standard 

amendment specifies the financial reporting by an entity when it un-

dertakes a share-based payment transaction. in particular, it requires 

an entity to reflect in its profit or loss and financial position the effects 

of share-based payment transactions. the amendment had no effect 

on Group reporting. 

-  ias 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and ias 32 financial instru-

ments: presentation. standards amendments. Puttable Financial In-

struments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation. these amendments 

had no effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

-  ias 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement. amend-

ments for embedded derivatives when reclassifying financial instru-

ments. these amendments had no effect on the consolidated finan-

cial statements.

-  ifRic 16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation. the inter-

pretation clarifies the accounting policy for hedging of net investments 

in a foreign unit in the consolidated financial statements. the interpre-

tation has no effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

cONsOlidatiON aNd sUBsidiaRies

the consolidated financial statements include the parent company and its 

subsidiaries.  in these companies, the parent company holds, on the basis 

of its shareholdings, more than half of the voting rights directly or through 

its subsidiaries, or otherwise exercises control. divested companies are in-

cluded in the income statement until the date on which control ceases, and 

companies acquired during the year are included from the date on which 

control transfers to the Group.

all intra-Group transactions are eliminated. the purchase method is used 

to eliminate intra-Group shareholdings. the difference between the acqui-

sition costs over fair value of net assets acquired is partly allocated to the 

identifiable assets and liabilities. Resulting excess is recorded as goodwill. 

profit for the financial year attributable to the holders of parent compa-

ny equity and minority shareholders is presented in the income statement 

and other comprehensive income. the portion of equity attributable to mi-

nority shareholders is stated as an individual item (minority interest) under 

equity in the balance sheet.  minority shareholders’ share of accrued loss-

es is recognized up to the maximum amount of their investment.  any ex-
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cess is allocated against the share of majority shareholders, except to the 

extent that minority shareholders have a binding obligation to cover losses.  

assOciates

associated companies are companies over which the Group exercises sig-

nificant influence (shareholding of 20–50 percent). Holdings in associated 

companies are presented in the consolidated financial statements using 

the equity method.  the Group’s share of the associated companies’ net 

profit for the financial year is stated as a separate item in the consolidated 

income statement, in proportion to the Group’s holdings. 

if the Group’s share of an associate’s losses exceeds the carrying amount 

of the investment, the exceeding losses will not be consolidated unless the 

Group has a commitment to fulfill obligations on behalf of the associate.

JOiNt veNtURes

Joint ventures are companies over which the Group shares control with 

other parties. they are included in the consolidated financial statements 

line by line, using the proportionate consolidation method. 

fOReiGN sUBsidiaRies

in the consolidated financial statements, the income statements of foreign 

subsidiaries are translated into euros using the financial year’s average for-

eign currency exchange rates and their balance sheets using the exchange 

rates quoted on the balance sheet date. Recalculating the profit for the pe-

riod and the other comprehensive income using different exchange rates 

in the income statements and the balance sheet causes a translation dif-

ference recognized in equity in the balance sheet, the change in this trans-

lation difference is presented under other comprehensive income. Good-

will and fair value adjustments to assets and liabilities that arise upon the 

acquisition of a foreign entity are accounted for as part of the assets and 

liabilities of the acquired entity, and translated into euros at the rate quot-

ed on the balance sheet date.  

the “Hedge accounting” section describes hedging of net investment in 

the Group’s foreign units. in the consolidated financial statements, the ex-

change rate gains and losses of such loans and forward and currency swap 

contracts are credited or charged to equity, as required by hedge account-

ing requirements, against the translation differences arising from the trans-

lation of the shareholders’ equity amounts of the balance sheets of the 

subsidiaries.  these translation differences from hedge accounting are pre-

sented under other comprehensive income. Other translation differences 

affecting shareholders’ equity are stated as an increase or decrease in equi-

ty. When a subsidiary is divested in full or part, the accumulated translation 

difference is transferred into the sales gain or loss in the income statement.

items deNOmiNated iN fOReiGN cURReNcy 

in their day-to-day accounting, Group companies translate foreign currency 

transactions into their functional currency at the exchange rates quoted on 

the transaction date. in the financial statements, foreign currency-denomi-

nated receivables and liabilities are measured at the exchange rates quoted 

on the balance sheet date, and non-monetary items using the rates quot-

ed on the transaction date.  any foreign exchange gains and losses related 

to business operations are treated as adjustments to sales and purchases.  

exchange rate differences associated with the hedging of financing trans-

actions and the Group’s overall foreign currency position are stated in for-

eign exchange gains or losses under financial income and expenses.  sub-

sidiaries mainly hedge sales and purchases in foreign currencies, primarily 

using forward contracts taken out with the Group treasury as hedging in-

struments. the effects of subsidiaries’ hedging transactions are recognized 

as adjustments to business units’ revenue and purchases.

ReveNUe

Revenue includes the total invoicing value of products sold and services 

rendered less, as adjusting items, sales tax, discounts and foreign exchange 

differences in accounts receivable.

ReveNUe RecOGNitiON

the sale of goods is recognized as revenue in the income statement when 

major risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been transferred 

to the buyer. service and rent income account for a insignificant share of 

consolidated sales.

peNsiON OBliGatiONs

the Group has both defined contribution and defined benefit pension plans, 

in accordance with the local conditions and practices in the countries in 

which it operates. pension plans are generally funded through contribu-

tions to separate pension funds or insurance companies. contributions un-

der defined contribution plans are recognized in the income statement for 

the period when an employee has rendered service.

the Group calculates obligations under defined benefit plans separately 

for each plan. the amount recognized as a defined benefit liability (or as-

set) equals the difference between the present value of the defined ben-

efit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. the effect of possible past 

service costs and actuarial gains and losses are also taken into account in 

the net liability. defined benefit plans are calculated by using the projected 

Unit credit method to arrive at an estimate of the amount of benefit that 

employees have earned. pension costs are recognized as expenses over 

the employee’s service period, using actuarial calculations. the rate used to 

discount the present value of post-employment benefit obligations is de-

termined by reference to market yields on high quality corporate bonds. if 

the country in question does not have deep bond markets, the expected 

return of government bonds is used.

actuarial gains or losses are recorded to the income statement over the 

average remaining working lives of the participating employees to the ex-

tent that they exceed the higher of the following: 10% of the pension ob-

ligation or 10% of the fair value of plan assets, so-called corridor method.

the funded portion of the finnish system under the employees’ pensions 

act (tyel) and the disability portion are accounted for as a defined bene-
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fit plan in respect of the pension plans managed by the Group’s own pen-

sion fund in 2008. pension fund assets are measured in accordance with 

ias 19 (employee Benefits).  On december 31, 2009 the pension obliga-

tion of Kemira’s pension fund has been transferred to mutual pension in-

surance company varma. the tyel plans managed by insurance compa-

nies are treated as defined contribution plans.

sHaRe Based paymeNts 

stock options under the share-based incentive plan for key employees, as 

decided by the Board of directors, are measured at fair value on their grant 

date and expensed over the instrument’s vesting period. On each balance 

sheet date, the Group updates the assumed final number of shares and the 

amounts of the related cash payment.  Note 7 provides information on this 

arrangement and its measurement factors.

BORROWiNG cOsts

Borrowing costs are entered as expenses in the financial year in which they 

occur. the borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of a qualifying asset form part of the cost of that 

asset if the recognition requirements are met. 

iNcOme taxes

the income taxes presented in the consolidated financial statements in-

clude taxes based on the taxable profit of the Group companies for the fi-

nancial period, and changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities. if the taxes 

are directly connected to equity or items included in the other comprehen-

sive income, they are included in the said items.

deferred tax liability is calculated on all temporary differences arising be-

tween the carrying amount and the taxable value. deferred tax assets, re-

lated e.g. to confirmed losses, are recognized to the extent that it is prob-

able that taxable profit will be available in the future, against which the 

Group companies are able to utilize these deferred taxes. the tax bases in 

force on the date of the preparation of the financial statements, or adopt-

ed by the balance sheet date for the following financial year, are used in 

calculating deferred tax assets and liabilities.  

pROpeRty, plaNt aNd eqUipmeNt aNd  
iNtaNGiBle assets

Research costs are expensed in the income statement. development costs, 

whereby research findings are applied to a plan or design for the produc-

tion of new or substantially improved products and processes, are capi-

talized if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible 

and the Group has sufficient resources to complete its development and 

use or sell the intangible asset. since most of the Group’s development 

costs do not meet the above-mentioned capitalization criteria, they are 

expensed as annual costs. capitalized development costs are presented 

as separate item and amortized over the asset’s useful life of a maximum 

of eight years.  

Other intangible assets include for instance software and software li-

censes as well as brands and customer basis acquired in connection with 

acquisitions. 

Goodwill is generated in connection with acquisitions. Goodwill is the 

share of acquisition costs that exceeds the fair value of assets and liabili-

ties. Goodwill is measured at cost less any impairment losses.  

property, plant and equipment (ppe) and intangible assets (with defi-

nite useful lives) are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

amortization and any impairment losses.  the Group has not intangible as-

sets with a definite useful life.

depreciation/amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 

asset’s useful life. the most commonly applied depreciation/amortization 

periods according to the Group’s accounting policies are as follows:

 machinery and equipment   3–15 years

 Buildings and constructions       25 years

 intangible assets    5–10 years

the residual values and useful lives of all assets are checked at least at the 

end of each financial year. Gains and losses on the sale of non-current as-

sets are included in operating income and expenses, respectively.  the loan 

costs arising from the acquisition, construction or production of an asset 

that meets the requirements are activated as part of the acquisition costs 

of the asset in question when it is probable that they will generate future 

financial benefit and the costs can be reliably measured. the costs of major 

inspections or the overhaul of ppe performed at regular intervals and iden-

tified as separate components are capitalized and depreciated over their 

useful lives. depreciation on fixed assets discontinues when they are re-

classified as available for sale assets.

GOveRNmeNt GRaNts

Government grants related to the purchase of ppe are presented in the bal-

ance sheet by deducting the grant from the carrying amount of these as-

sets.  these grants are recognized in the income statement in the form of 

smaller depreciation during the asset’s useful life. Government grants re-

lated to research are deducted from expenses.

  

leases

leases involving tangible assets, in which the Group acts as a lessee, are 

classified as finance leases if substantially all of the risks and rewards of 

ownership transfer to the Group. 

Upon their inception, finance lease assets are recognized at the lower of 

the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum 

lease payments. finance leases and related rent obligations are present-

ed as part of non-current assets and interest-bearing liabilities. in respect 

of finance lease contracts, depreciation on the leased asset and interest 

expenses from the related liability are shown in the income statement.   

Rents paid based on other lease agreements are recognized as costs in 

equal amounts over the rent period.
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accrued expenses and prepaid income. any gains or losses arising from 

changes in fair value are recognized through profit or loss on the transac-

tion date in financial items. 

loans and receivables include long-term receivables carried at amor-

tized cost using the effective interest rate method and accounting for any 

impairment. 

available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value if it is con-

sidered that the fair value can be determined reliably.  Unrealized changes 

in value of assets available for sale are recognized in other comprehensive 

income and presented under equity in the fair value reserve taking into ac-

count the tax effect. accumulated changes in fair value are transferred to 

the income statement as a classification revision when the investment is 

divested or its value has been impaired to the extent that an impairment 

loss has to be recognized. available-for-sale financial assets include bond 

investments and shares in listed and non-listed companies, the sharehold-

ings in pohjolan voima Oy and teollisuuden voima Oy representing the 

largest investments. 

pohjolan voima Oy and its subsidiary teollisuuden voima Oyj electricity-

generating company owned by finnish manufacturing and power compa-

nies, to which it supplies electricity at cost.  pohjolan voima Group owns 

and operates two nuclear power plants in Olkiluoto in the municipality of 

eurajoki. Kemira Group has a and c series shares in tvO and a, B, c, G and i 

series shares in pvO.  different share series entitle the shareholder to elec-

tricity generated by different power plants. the owners of each share se-

ries are responsible for the fixed costs of the series in question regardless 

of whether they use their power or energy share or not, and for variable 

costs in proportion to the amount of energy used.

Kemira plc’s holding in pohjolan voima Group that entitles to electric-

ity from completed power plants is valued at fair value based on the dis-

counted cash flow resulting from the difference between the market price 

of electricity and the cost price. the spot price electricity published by the 

Nordic electricity exchange has been used as the market price for electric-

ity. the cost prices are share series specific.  future cash flow has been dis-

counted based on the limited useful life of the plants related to each share 

series. When calculating the discount rate the average weighted cost of 

capital that is determined annually has been used. the note on manage-

ment of financial risks discusses how changes in the evaluation assump-

tions affect fair values. 

the portion of the holding entitling to electricity from the nuclear power 

plant currently under construction in finland was re-measured in 2008. in 

earlier financial statements, these shares entitling to the nuclear power plant 

under construction were measured at cost. the re-measurement made in 

2008 was based on the market price of the shares, which was determined 

in may 2008 in an external third-party share transaction.  in the 2009 finan-

cial statements the measurement of shares related to nuclear power plant 

currently under construction was not changed.  according to an announce-

ment by the supplier the new plant will be completed during 2012.

cash, cash equivalents and money market investments consist of cash 

in hand, demand deposits and other short-term, highly liquid investments. 

items classified as cash and cash equivalents have a maximum maturity 

of three months from the date of purchase. Binding credit facilities are in-

cluded in current interest-bearing liabilities. 

When the Group is a lessor, it recognizes assets held under a finance 

lease as receivables in the balance sheet. assets held under other operat-

ing leases are included in ppe. 

in accordance with ifRic 4 (standard interpretation determining wheth-

er an arrangement contains a lease), the Group treats as leases arrange-

ments that do not take the legal form of a lease but which convey rights 

to use assets in return for a payment or series of payments. 

iNveNtORies

inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realization value. 

cost is determined on a first-in first-out (fifO) basis or using a weighted 

average cost formula, depending on the nature of the inventory. the cost 

of finished goods and work in progress include proportion of production 

overheads of normal level of activity. the net realization value is the sales 

price received in normal operations less the estimated costs for complet-

ing the asset and the sales costs. 

fiNaNcial assets, fiNaNcial liaBilities  
aNd deRivative cONtRacts

When financial assets or liabilities are initially accounted for on the trade 

date, they are measured at cost, which equals the fair value of the con-

sideration given or received. following their initial measurement, financial 

assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 

loans given by the company and other receivables, and available-for-sale 

financial assets.

category financial instruments measurement

financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss

forward contracts, currency 
options, currency swaps, forward 
rate agreements, interest rate 
futures, interest rate options, 
interest rate swaps, electricity 
forwards, natural gas hedges, 
propane futures, certificates of 
deposit, commercial papers, 
mutual funds, embedded 
derivatives

fair value

loans and other 
receivables

long-term loan receivables, bank 
deposits, trade receivables and 
other receivables

(amortized)
acquisition 
cost

available-for-sale 
financial assets

shares, bond investments fair value

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair val-

ue. fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged be-

tween knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. de-

rivative contracts not fulfilling the criteria set for hedge accounting under 

ias 39 are classified as financial assets held for trading. these are classified 

as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. in the balance sheet, 

these items are shown under prepaid expenses and accrued income and 
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the company assesses any impairment losses on its financial instru-

ments on each balance sheet date. an impairment of a financial asset oc-

curs when the company has identified an event with a negative effect on 

the future cash flows from the investment. for items measured at amor-

tized cost, the amount of the impairment loss equals the difference be-

tween the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 

future cash flows from the receivable. this is discounted at the financial 

asset’s original effective interest rate. for items measured at fair value, the 

fair value determines the amount of impairment.  impairment charges are 

recognized under financial items in the income statement. 

the Group sells certain trade receivables to finance companies within the 

framework of limits stipulated in the agreement. the credit risk associated 

with these sold receivables and contractual rights to the financial assets in 

question is transferred from the company on the selling date. the related 

expenses are charged to financial expenses.

financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss and other financial liabilities. financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit and loss include derivatives not fulfilling the criteria set for 

hedge accounting.

category financial instruments measurement

financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss

forward contracts, currency 
options, currency swaps, forward 
rate agreements, interest rate 
futures, interest rate options, 
interest rate swaps, electricity 
forwards,  natural gas hedges, 
propane forwards, embedded 
derivatives

fair value

Other liabilities short and long-term loans, 
pension loans, accounts payable

(amortized)
acquisition cost

the fair values of currency, interest rate and commodity derivatives and 

units in mutual funds as well as publicly traded shares are based on pric-

es quoted in active markets on the balance sheet date. the value of oth-

er financial instruments measured at fair value is determined on the basis 

of valuation models using information available in the financial market. for 

value determination, Kemira uses values calculated on the basis of market 

data entered in the twin treasury management system.

changes in the value of forward contracts are calculated by measuring 

the contracts against the forward exchange rates on the balance sheet 

date and comparing these with the countervalues calculated through the 

forward exchange rates on the date of entry into the forward contracts. 

the fair value of currency options is calculated using the Black & scholes 

valuation model for options as adapted to Kemira’s currency environment. 

input data required for valuation, such as the exchange rate of the destina-

tion country’s currency, the contract exchange rate, volatility and the risk-

free interest rate are based on public market information. moreover, the 

fair value of interest rate derivatives is determined using the market val-

ue of similar instruments on the balance sheet date. Other derivatives are 

measured at the market price on the balance sheet date. 

all of the derivatives open on the balance sheet date are measured at 

their fair value. as a rule, open derivative contracts at fair value are rec-

ognized through profit or loss under financial items in the consolidated fi-

nancial statements. the number of embedded derivatives used by the 

Group is low. 

Other liabilities are booked to balance sheet at original value of received 

net assets deducted with direct costs. later the financial liabilities are val-

ued to balance sheet at amortized acquisition cost and the difference of re-

ceived net assets and amortizations is booked to interest costs during the 

exercise period of the loan. 

HedGe accOUNtiNG

according to ias 39, hedge accounting refers to a method of accounting 

aimed at allocating one or more hedging instruments in such a way that 

their fair value offsets, in full or in part, changes in the fair value of the 

hedged item or cash flows. Hedge accounting is used to hedge against the 

interest rate risk and the currency risk associated with a net investment in 

a foreign unit, as well as the commodity risk. the hedge accounting mod-

els used include cash flow hedging and the hedging of a net investment 

in a foreign operation.

cash flow hedging is used to hedge against cash flow changes attrib-

utable to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability in 

the balance sheet or a highly probable future transaction. interest rate and 

commodity derivatives are used as investment instruments in cash flow 

hedging. the Group applies only selected hedging items to its cash-flow 

hedge accounting, as specified by ias 39.  changes in the fair value of deriv-

ative instruments associated with cash flow hedge are recognized in other 

comprehensive income (including the tax effect) and presented under eq-

uity, provided that they fulfill the criteria set for hedge accounting and are 

based on effective hedging.  the ineffective portion of the gain or loss on 

the hedging instrument is recognized under financial items in the income 

statement. derivatives not fulfilling the hedge accounting criteria are rec-

ognized in financial items through profit or loss.

a net investment made in a foreign operation is hedged against interest 

rate fluctuations by raising long-term loans in foreign currency and by en-

tering into forward rate agreements and currency swaps. changes in the 

value of the effective portion of the fair value of derivative contracts fulfill-

ing the criteria for hedging a net investment in a foreign operation are rec-

ognized under other comprehensive income and presented under equity 

including their tax effect. in forward exchange contracts, the interest rate 

difference to be left outside the change in value of the hedging relation-

ship is recognized as financial income or expenses. any gains or losses aris-

ing from hedging a net investment are recorded in the income statement 

when the net investment is sold. the ineffective portion of the hedging 

is recognized immediately under financial items in the income statement. 

Hedge effectiveness is monitored as required by ias 39. effectiveness 

refers to the capacity of a hedging instrument to offset changes in the fair 

value of the hedged item or cash flows from a hedged transaction, which 

are due to the realization of the risk being hedged. a hedging relationship 

is considered to be highly effective when the change in the fair value of 

the hedging instrument offsets changes in the cash flows attributable to 

the hedged risk in the range of 80–125 percent. Hedge effectiveness is as-
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sessed on an ongoing basis, prospectively and retrospectively. testing for 

hedge effectiveness is repeated on each balance sheet date.

Hedge accounting discontinues when the criteria for hedge accounting 

are no longer fulfilled. Gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive 

income and presented under equity are derecognized and transferred im-

mediately under financial income or expenses in the income statement, if 

the hedged item is sold or falls due. However, gains or losses arising from 

changes in the fair value of those derivatives not fulfilling the hedge ac-

counting criteria under ias 39 are reported directly in the income statement.

at the inception of a hedge, the Group has documented the existence of 

the hedging relationship, including the identification of the hedging instru-

ment, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged, 

the objectives of risk management and the strategy for undertaking hedg-

ing as well as a description of how hedge effectiveness is assessed. 

tReasURy sHaRes

purchases of own shares (treasury shares), including the related costs, are 

deducted directly from equity in the consolidated financial statements.

pROvisiONs

provisions are recognized in the balance sheet when the Group has a pres-

ent legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable 

that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a 

reliable estimate of the amount of this obligation can be made. a restruc-

turing provision is recognized only if a detailed and appropriate plan has 

been prepared for it and the plan’s implementation has begun or it has 

been notified to those whom the restructuring concerns. the amount rec-

ognized as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to 

settle the present obligation on the balance sheet date. if the time value 

of money is material, provisions will be discounted. 

NON-cURReNt assets Held fOR sale  
aNd discONtiNUed OpeRatiONs

Non-current assets held for sale and assets connected with discontinued 

operations are classified as held for sale, under ifRs 5. they are measured 

at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their 

carrying amount is recovered principally through a sale transaction rather 

than through continuing use. depreciation on these assets discontinues at 

the time of classification. a discontinued operation must be recognized as a 

separate business unit or a unit representing a geographical area. the prof-

it or loss of the discontinued operation is stated as a separate item in the 

consolidated income statement.

impaiRmeNt Of assets

On each balance sheet date, the Group’s assets are assessed to determine 

whether there is any indication of an asset’s impairment.  if any indication 

of an impaired asset exists, the recoverable amount of the asset or the 

cash-generating unit must be calculated on the basis of the value in use or 

the net selling price. annual impairment tests cover goodwill and intangible 

assets with indefinite useful lives, or intangible assets not yet ready for use. 

Kemira adopted a new organization in October 2008 and the shift to fi-

nancial reporting according to this new organization took place at the be-

ginning of 2009. the cash-generating unit has been defined as the custom-

er segment.  the level of a customer segment is one notch down from a 

segment. compared to earlier years, the organizational level at which test-

ing takes place did not change at Kemira.

Goodwill impairment is tested by comparing the customer segment’s 

recoverable amount with its carrying amount. Kemira does not have ma-

terial intangible assets with indefinite useful lives other than goodwill. all 

goodwill has been allocated to the customer segments. 

the recoverable amount of a customer segment is defined as its value 

in use, which consists of the discounted future cash flows to the unit. es-

timates of future cash flows are based on continuing use of an asset and 

on the latest three-year forecasts by the business unit’s management. the 

growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows subsequent to the forecast pe-

riod is assumed to be zero. cash flow estimates do not include the effects 

of improved asset performance, investments or future reorganizations. the 

Kemira corporate center’s expenses are allocated to the strategic business 

units in proportion to revenue.

an impairment loss is recognized in the income statement, whenev-

er the carrying amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount. impairment loss is recognized in the income state-

ment. Note 14 provides more detailed information on impairment testing. 

if there has been a positive change in the estimates used to determine 

an asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recog-

nized, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 

carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined if no impairment loss had been recognized. an impair-

ment loss for goodwill is never reversed. 

emissiONs allOWaNces

Kemira holds assigned emissions allowances, under the eU emissions trad-

ing system, only at its Helsingborg site in sweden. carbon dioxide allow-

ances are accounted for as intangible assets measured at cost. carbon di-

oxide allowances received free of charge are measured at their nominal 

value (zero). provisions for the fulfillment of the obligation to return allow-

ances must be recognized if free-of-charge allowances are not sufficient 

to cover actual emissions. Kemira’s balance sheet shows no items relat-

ed to emissions allowances when the volume of actual emissions is lower 

than that of the free-of-charge emissions allowances and the Group has 

not bought allowances in the market. Note 31, environmental Risks and li-

abilities, provides information on emissions allowances.

Key assUmptiONs aNd pOlicies;  
Necessity Of maNaGemeNt JUdGemeNt 

preparing the financial statements requires the company’s management 

to make certain future accounting estimates and assumptions, and actual 

results may differ from these estimates and assumptions. 
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the impairment tests of goodwill and other assets include determining 

future cash flows which, with regard to the most significant assumptions, 

are based on gross margin levels, discount rates and the projected period. 

major adverse developments in cash flows and interest rates may neces-

sitate the recognition of an impairment loss.

Kemira’s investments include non-listed shares, holdings in pohjolan  

voima Group representing the largest of these. Kemira’s shareholding in 

the company is measured at fair value, based on the discounted cash flow 

resulting from the difference between the market price of electricity and 

the cost price. developments in the actual fair value may differ from the 

estimated value, due e.g. to electricity prices, the forecast period or the 

discount rate.  

determining pension liabilities under defined benefit pension plans in-

cludes assumptions, and significant changes in these assumptions may af-

fect the amounts of pension liabilities and expenses. actuarial calculations 

include assumptions by the management, such as expected long-term re-

turn on assets in pension funds, the discount rate and assumptions of sal-

ary increases and the termination of employment contracts. actual share 

price changes in the market, among other things, may differ from the man-

agement’s assumptions.

Recognizing provisions requires the management’s estimates, since the 

precise euro amount of obligations related to provisions is not known when 

preparing the financial statements. 

for the recognition of tax losses and other deferred tax assets, the man-

agement assesses the probability of a future taxable profit against which 

unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilized. actual profits may 

differ from the forecasts and, in such a case, the change will affect the tax-

es in future periods.

cHaNGes tO tHe accOUNtiNG pOlicies  
afteR decemBeR 31, 2009

the following standards, the use of which is not mandatory for the finan-

cial year starting on January 1, 2009, but which may be applied prior to their 

effective date, have not been applied by the Group:

-  ifRs 3 Business Combinations (valid for financial years that started on 

July 1, 2009 or later). the amended standard still requires using the pur-

chase method when combining business, however, with some major 

changes like recognizing transaction costs as costs. in addition all costs 

related to acquiring business operations must be recognized at cur-

rent value at the time of acquisition and conditional payment must be 

recognized at current value through profit or loss after the acquisition. 

Goodwill can be calculated based on the parent company’s relative 

share of net assets and it can contain goodwill allocated at the share 

of owners with no control in the company.  the change has effect on 

goodwill amounts of business combinations and on sale profits. the 

change effects also items booked to income statements at the acqui-

sition year and to years’ when additional acquisition prices are paid or 

additional acquisitions are made.

-  ias 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (amended 

2008)(valid for financial years that started on July 1, 2009 or later).  

the amended standard requires that any changes in subsidiary hold-

ings are recognized directly in the Group’s equity when the control is 

not changed. if the control is lost, the remaining investment is mea-

sured at fair value through profit or loss. a similar approach will in the 

future also be applied to shares in associated companies (ias 28) and 

joint ventures (ias 31). as a result of the amendment subsidiary loss-

es can be allocated to the minority even when it exceeds the amount 

of investments made by the minority.

-  ifRic 17 Distributions of non-cash assets to owners (valid for financial 

years that started on July 1, 2009 or later). the change of the interpre-

tation has effect on future financial statements in those cases when 

dividends are distributed to owners in some other form than cash.

the Group estimates that the adoption of the following standards and in-

terpretations will have no effect on future financial statements:

-  ias 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and measurement – standard 

amendment (Items accepted as hedge items) (valid for financial years 

that started on July 1, 2009 or later).  

-  amendments to ifRs 2 Share-based payment – Share-based opera-

tions in a Group paid as cash (valid for financial years that started on 

January 1, 2010 or later). the standard amendment provides addition-

al guidelines for the accounting treatment of share-based operations 

between Group companies. the amended standard has not yet been 

approved to be applied in the eU. 

-  ifRic 18 Transfers of assets from customers (valid for financial years 

that started on July 1, 2009 or later). the interpretation clarifies the re-

quirements for agreements in which an entity receives from a cus-

tomer an item of property, plant, and equipment that the entity must 

then use either to connect the customer to a network (e.g. electrical 

network) or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply 

of goods or services.
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2. OpeRatiNG seGmeNt iNfORmatiON

the new strategy announced in June 2008 resulted in some changes to 

Kemira’s business structure. financial reporting reflects the new structure 

from the beginning of 2009. Kemira’s business is divided into customer-

oriented segments with p/l responsibility: paper, municipal & industrial, Oil 

& mining, tikkurila and Other.

paper provides customers in the pulp and paper industry with products 

and product packages that improve their profitability, raw material and en-

ergy efficiency, and promote sustainable development. 

the municipal & industrial segment offers water treatment chemicals 

for municipal and industrial water treatment. the strengths are high-level 

process know-how, a comprehensive range of water treatment chemicals, 

and reliable customer deliveries. the segment was renamed municipal & 

industrial in september. the name replaced the previous name “Water”. 

the new name describes the segment’s customer base, which ranges 

from small municipalities to big cities and various industries.

the Oil & mining segment offers a large selection of innovative chemi-

cal extraction and process solutions for the oil and mining industries, where 

water plays a central role. Utilizing its expertise, the segment enables its 

customers to improve efficiency and productivity.

tikkurila’s product range consists of decorative paints and coatings for 

the wood and metal industries. tikkurila provides consumers, professional 

painters and industrial customers with branded products and expert ser-

vices.

the Other segment consists of organic salts and acids of the chemso-

lutions operations and the Group expenses not charged to the segments 

(some research and development costs and the costs of ceO Office).

the comparison data has been adjusted to correspond with the new 

segment division. 

the market-based principle has been applied to transfer pricing between 

Group companies. 

the assets and liabilities of segments comprise assets and liabilities 

which can be allocated, directly or justifiably, to the segment in question. 

the assets of the segments include property, plant and equipment, intan-

gible assets, interest in associated companies, inventories and interest-free 

receivables. current interest-free liabilities are included in the liabilities of 

the segments. 
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2009 paper
municipal  

& industrial Oil & mining tikkurila Other eliminations Group

Income statement

external revenue 905.2 607.3 234.4 530.2 223.0 - 2,500.1

intra-Group revenue 1.2 0.2 0.6 - 77.4 -79.4 0.0

Total revenue 906.4 607.5 235.0 530.2 300.4 -79.4 2,500.1

Operating profit 40.1 59.8 19.9 47.7 -10.1 - 157.4

financial income and expenses, net -49.8

share of profit or loss of associates -4.7

Profit before tax 102.9

income tax -17.4

Net profit for the period 85.5

depreciation, amortization -49.4 -26.4 -9.5 -18.8 -15.4 - -119.5

impairments and reversal of impairments 2.5 -5.5 6.2 - - - 3.2

Other non-cash items 7.3 1.8 0.5 - 9.5 - 19.1

capital expenditure -37.8 -21.0 -4.7 -17.2 -5.2 - -85.9

other InformatIon

Capital employed by segments (net) 768.1 333.8 147.0 288.8 356.8 - 1,894.5

assets by segments 890.1 420.1 175.2 363.0 277.1 -16.4 2,109.9

Holdings in associates 0.5 0.7 - 0.8 129.1 - 131.1

available-for-sale investments 166.2

deferred tax assets 18.8

Other investments 13.2

defined benefit pension receivables 35.3

Other assets 67.6

money market and bond investments 202.1

cash and cash equivalents 72.5

Consolidated assets, total - - - - - - 2,816.7

liabilities by segments 122.5 86.3 28.2 75.0 50.2 -16.4 345.8

interest-bearing non-current liabilities 512.6

interest-bearing current liabilities 437.6

Other liabilities 251.9

Consolidated liabilities, total 1,547.9
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2008 paper
municipal & 

industrial Oil & mining tikkurila Other eliminations Group

Income statement

external revenue 987.6 582.2 273.3 648.1 341.5 - 2,832.7

intra-Group revenue 15.7 1.5 2.1 - 73.3 -92.6 0.0

Total revenue 1,003.3 583.7 275.4 648.1 414.8 -92.6 2,832.7

Operating profit -2.6 5.3 1.9 59.2 10.1 0.1 74.0

financial income and expenses, net      -69.5

share of profit or loss of associates  -2.7

Profit before tax  1.8

income tax  0.0

Net profit for the period  1.8

depreciation and amortization -49.5 -24.3 -10.4 -19.0 -27.7 - -130.9

impairments and reversal of impairments -22.6 -11.4 -3.0 - -1.5 - -38.5

Other non-cash items -19.8 -5.9 -5.6 - -4.2 - -35.5

capital expenditure -67.1 -51.8 -10.6 -36.4 -175.9 - -341.8
 

other InformatIon

Capital employed by segments (net) 813.8 347.7 154.4 288.4 391.6 - 1,995.9

assets by segments 976.6 452.9 193.7 364.6 319.3 -19.9 2,287.2

Holdings in associates 0.5 0.5 - 0.9 133.7 - 135.6

available-for-sale investments 159.8

deferred tax assets 12.7

Other investments 11.5

defined benefit pension receivables 54.0

Other assets 79.5

money market and bond investments 87.1

cash and cash equivalents 32.3

Consolidated assets, total 2,859.7

liabilities by segments 163.3 105.7 39.3 77.1 61.4 -19.9 426.9

interest-bearing non-current liabilities 609.2

interest-bearing current liabilities 559.3

Other liabilities 288.3

Consolidated liabilities, total 1,883.7
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2009 2008

Gains on sale of property, plant and equipment 0.5 24.8

Rental income 2.6 3.1

insurance compensation 0.6 0.6

consulting 1.7 9.6

services 4.3 0.1

sale of scrap and waste 0.1 0.7

income from royalties, know-how and licences 0.3 0.4

Other income from operations 4.9 12.2

Total 15.0 51.5

3. OtHeR OpeRatiNG iNcOme

Gains on sale of property, plant and equipment in 2009 do not include gains on sale of subsidiaries and associated companies (eUR 15.4 million) 
nor gains on sale of property and production facilities.

the revenue of geographical areas is based on the location of customers and the total carrying amount of assets is based on the geographical 
location of assets. 

GeOGraPhiCal iNfOrmaTiON 2009 2008

revenue

finland 378.4 444.3

Other europe, middle east and africa 1,252.1 1,486.3

North america 578.3 648.6

south america 149.8 136.5

asia pacific 141.5 117.0

Total  2,500.1 2,832.7

non-current assets

finland 785.2 804.8

Other europe, middle east and africa 627.4 640.0

North america 240.3 241.0

south america 154.8 145.8

asia pacific 20.6 3.6

Total  1,828.3 1,835.2
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2009 2008

change in inventories of finished goods (inventory increase + / decrease -) -61.8 15.5

Own work capitalised 1) -1.8 -2.5

materials and services

materials and supplies

purchases during the financial year 1,349.9 1,515.3

change in inventories of materials and supplies (inventory increase + / decrease -) -11.2 -7.3

external services 36.4 40.7

Total materials and services 1,375.1 1 548.7

personnel expenses 409.4 442.8

Rents 47.1 57.6

loss on sales of property, plant and equipment 0.8 0.5

Other expenses 472.4 578.3

Total 2,241.2 2,640.9

4. cOst Of sales

1) Own work capitalised comprises mainly wages, salaries and other personnel expenses and changes in inventories relating to self-constructed property, plant and equipment 
for own use. 

in 2009 income statement included a net decrease in non-current and current provisions amounting to eUR 5.0 million (increase eUR 47.5 million).

fees aNd serviCes Of audiTOrs
fees Paid TO KPmG 2009 2008

audit fees 1.6 2.2

ancillary audit services 0.0 0.1

tax services 0.3 0.3

Other services 0.8 1.7

Total 2.7 4.3

the audit fees relate to statutory audit or other common audit related services. the tax service fees relate to tax advising and planning.  
 
fees for services paid to auditing companies other than KpmG amounting to eUR 2.5 million (eUR 2.3 million) were mainly consultation not related 
to statutory audit.

5. ReseaRcH aNd develOpmeNt expeNses

2009 2008

research and development expenses total 47.0 71.1

the total research and development expenses for 2009 include eUR 3.4 million (eUR 4.7 million) of depreciations on capitalized research and 
development expenses. the research and development costs are reduced by eUR 1.6 million (eUR 1.2 million) with received subsidies.

2009 Research and development expenses do not include one-time items. in 2008 one-time items amounted to eUR 11.0 million due to 
restructuring. the amount included both personnel related and other restructuring costs.  
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6. emplOyee BeNefits aNd NUmBeR Of peRsONNel 

2009 2008

emoluments of boards of directors and managing directors 14,2 18,3

Wages and salaries 296.4 336.3

pension expenses for defined benefit plans 22.8 -1.1

pension expenses for defined contribution plans 25.8 29.7

Other personnel expenses 50.2 59.6

Total 409.4 442.8

the personnel of joint ventures consolidated according to the proportionate method of accounting totalled an average of 14 (14).

employee benefits include personnel related restructuring costs eUR 3.9 million (eUR 23.1 million). 
On december 31, 2009 Kemira Oyj’s statutory employees’ pension insurance (tyel) was transferred from Kemira’s pension fund to varma mutual 
pension insurance company. the transfer has no effect on the level of employees’ pension security or its coverage. due to the transfer Kemira 
recorded nonrecurring expenses of eUR 13.7 million in its October-december result. 

Personnel, average

europe, middle east and africa 6,678 7,746

North america 1,325 1,465

south america 410 263

asia pacific 430 480

Total 8,843 9,954

personnel in finland, average 1,929 2,659

personnel outside finland, average 6,914 7,295

Total 8,843 9,954

Personnel at year end 8,493 9,405
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2009 2008

Outstanding at the beginning of the period, number of shares 134,415 241,815

Granted - -

Returned -306 -

exercised -134,109 -107,400

Outstanding at the end of period, number of shares 0 134 415

exPenses arIsIng from share-based Payments

share component 1.1 1.0

cash component and personnel expenses 1.5 1.6

Total 2.6 2.6

liabilities arising from share-based payments, dec. 31 1.1 0.0

aNNual share-based iNCeNTive PlaNs / GraNT daTes share price (eUR)  
at grant date

Number of shares   
recognized for three years

share-based plan in 2006: share transfer in 2007 / may 2, 2006 17.98 144,143

the performance period of the plan ends may 1, 2009.

there are 9.728 returned shares. 

7. sHaRe-Based paymeNts

in 2004, Kemira Oyj’s Board of directors decided on a share-based incen-

tive plan designed for key employees as Group’s incentive schemes. this 

scheme was divided into three one-year performance periods. the perfor-

mance periods of schemes for the years 2004, 2005 and 2006 have al-

ready ended. in february 2006, Kemira Oyj’s Board of directors decided on 

a share-based incentive plan for key employees, the performance periods 

of which were the years 2007, 2008 and 2009. 

Bonus payments are contingent on meeting the set financial targets. 

any bonuses payable comprise two components: Kemira shares and cash. 

the value of these shares is determined by their closing price quoted on the 

grant date (at the price quoted on the date of agreeing on the share-based 

payment). if the requirement of holding the granted shares for two years 

following their transfer is not fulfilled, they must be returned to Kemira Oyj. 

all of the granted shares and cash payments are accounted for over 

three years within the vesting period. expected dividends are not taken in-

to account in the fair value measurement. cash bonus payments are mea-

sured at fair value on the basis of the share price on the balance sheet date, 

and the bonus is approximately 1.1-fold the value of transferred shares. 

the actual amount of bonuses will reflect to what extent set targets were 

achieved.  

in february 2009, Kemira Oyj’s Board of directors decided to introduce 

a new share-based incentive plan aimed at strategic management Board 

members. the plan is divided into three one-year performance periods: 

2009, 2010, and 2011. the plan also has a three-year long term goal. 

the actual amount of bonuses will reflect to what extent set targets are 

achieved. possible compensations are paid as Kemira shares and taxes 

as extensive fund units in accordance with how set targets are met. the 

combined value of shares and cash payments paid out in the course of 

the three-year share-based incentive plan may not exceed the individual’s 

gross salary for the same period. the members of the strategic manage-

ment Board are now excluded from the share-based incentive plan aimed 

at key personnel that has been in use since 2004. 

 the incentive plans involved 79 employees on december 31, 2009 

(77). Bonuses payable in shares are charged to personnel expenses and 

recognised as an addition to equity. accounting basis of share-based in-

centive plan designed for key employees is 149.800 shares in 2009 fi-

nancial statement. the valuation of shares is based on fair value of 4.82 

euros of grant date february 24, 2009. the accounting of share-based in-

centive plan aimed at strategic management Board members is based on 

annual salaries. cash bonus payments are charged to personnel expens-

es and recognised as liabilities. the final decision of share-based incentive 

plans will be made by Board in february 2010. for the share-based plan 

of 2007 and 2008, there were no expenses recognised as the set targets 

were not reached.
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8. depReciatiON, amORtizatiON, impaiRmeNts aNd ReveRsal Of impaiRmeNts

dePreCiaTiON aNd amOrTizaTiON aCCOrdiNG TO PlaN 2009 2008

IntangIble assets

intangible assets 22.6 21.2

ProPerty, Plant and equIPment

Buildings and construction 18.4 21.2

machinery and equipment 75.4 84.6

Other property, plant and equipment 3.1 3.8

Total 119.5 130.8

imPairmeNTs

IntangIble assets

intangible assets - 1.4

Goodwill 5.0 2.3

ProPerty, Plant and equIPment

land and water - 0.6

Buildings and construction - 8.0

machinery and equipment 0.3 24.4

Other tangible assets 0.4 1.9

Total 5.7 38.6

depreciation, amortization and impairments total 125.2 169.4

reversal Of imPairmeNTs

ProPerty, Plant and equIPment

land and water - -

Buildings and construction - -

machinery and equipment -8.9 -

Other tangible assets - -

Total -8.9 -

depreciation, amortization, impairments and reversal of impairments total 116.3 169.4

for more information on impairments and reversal of impairments see note 14.
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9. fiNaNcial iNcOme aNd expeNses
2009 2008

fInancIal Income 

dividend income 0.2 0.1

interest income

interest income from loans and other receivables 1.9 4.7

interest income from financial assets valued through profit or loss 5.7 18.1

interest income from hedge accounting instruments, ineffective portion - -

Other financial income 0.5 1.8

exchange gains

exchange gains from financial assets valued through profit or loss 143.9 128.1

exchange gains from financial liabilities valued through profit or loss - -

exchange gains from other liabilities 50.6 55.9

exchange gains from loans and other receivables - -

Total 202.8 208.7

fInancIal exPenses

interest expenses

interest expenses from other liabilities -36.2 -62.8

interest expenses from financial assets valued through profit or loss -15.8 -18.1

interest expenses from hedge accounting instruments, ineffective portion - -

Other financial expenses -4.1 -4.3

exchange losses

exchange losses from financial assets valued through profit or loss - -

exchange losses from financial liabilities valued through profit or loss -142.4 -149.0

exchange losses from other liabilities -54.1 -44.0

exchange losses from loans and other receivables - -

Total -252.6 -278.2

Total financial income and expenses -49.8 -69.5

Net financial expenses as a percentage of revenue 2.0 2.4

Net interests as a percentage of revenue 1.8 2.1

change In comPrehensIve Income statement from hedge accountIng Instruments

Hedge of net investments in foreign entitites * -3.0 9.1

cash flow hedge accounting: amount booked in comprehensive income statement 10.0 -22.0

Total 7.0 -12.9

exchange gaIns and losses

Realised -15.3 8.3

Unrealised 13.4 -17.2

Total -1.9 -8.9

share of ProfIt or loss of assocIates

share of profit of associates 0.1 0.3

share of loss of associates -4.8 -3.0

Total -4.7 -2.7

*  the exchange rate differences on foreign currency loans and foreign currency derivatives have been credited or charged directly to shareholders´ equity and hedged against 
the translation differences arising from the consolidation of foreign subsidiaries according to the so called hedge of investment in foreign entities method.

financial income and expenses do not include income or expenses from associated companies. 

eUR -2.0 million (eUR 2.0 million) has been recorded as an income related to embedded derivatives 2009.
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10. iNcOme tax

11. eaRNiNGs peR sHaRe

2009 2008

income taxes, current year 20.6 10.5

income taxes, previous years 6.4 5.3

change in deferred tax -9.6 -15.8

Total 17.4 0.0

tax rate reconcIlIatIon

profit before taxes 102,9 1,8

income taxes at finnish tax rate on consolidated profit before tax, 26% 26.7 0.5

effect on different tax rates outside finland 1.3 -

Non-deductible expenses and tax exempt profits -6.9 -4.4

tax effect on current year's losses for which no deferred tax benefit is recognized 9.6 8.0

tax effect on utilized losses for which no deferred tax assets in prior years -8.0 -8.7

changes in the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets from prior years -10.0 0.0

tax effect of net results of associated companies -1.4 -0.7

impact of the changes in the tax rates on deferred tax balances -0.3 -

taxes from prior years 6.4 5.3

Total 17.4 0.0

total taxes are significantly lower than the finnish tax rate, because tax losses from previous years, when deferred tax benefits have not been recog-

nized, were utilized as well as deferred tax assets were recorded. subsidiaries have still tax losses of eUR 191,6 million (eUR 223,7 million), of which no 

deferred tax assets have been recorded.

2009 2008

earnIngs Per share, basIc

profit before tax 102.9 1.8

income tax for the financial year -17.4 0.0

Net profit for the period 85.5 1.8

attributable to minority interest -3.7 -3.6

attributable to equity holders of the parent 81.8 -1.8

Weighted average number of shares 1) 2) 134,824,130 121,190,535

earnings per share, basic, eur 0.61 -0.01

earnIngs Per share, dIluted 3)

Weighted average number of shares 1) 2) 134,824,130 121,190,535

treasury shares possibly subject to emission 

in share based system 260,478 -

Weighted average number of shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 135,084,608 121,190,535

earnings per share, diluted, eur 0.61 -0.01

1) Weighted average number of shares outstanding, excluding the number of shares bought back.
2) Rights offering restatement
3)  in 2008 there were no adjustments for the effect of dilution which would have impacted weighted average number of shares. 

presentation methodology of tax reconciliation has been changed and comparison figures of the last year have been presented according to the 
new methodology.
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12. iNtaNGiBle assets

Goodwill internal 
development

intangible assets Prepayments 2009 total

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 661.6 30.3 206.9 2.8 901.6

acquisition of subsidiaries 0.4 - 2.0 - 2.4

additions - - 6.9 4.4 11.3

additions – internal development - 0.3 - - 0.3

disposal of subsidiaries - - - - 0.0

decreases - - -2.4 - -2.4

Other changes - - -3.1 - -3.1

Reclassifications - - - - 0.0

exchange rate differences 8.4 - 1.0 - 9.4

Acquisition cost at end of year 670.4 30.6 211.3 7.2 919.5

Accumulated amortization at beginning of year -6.5 -2.1 -126.3 - -134.9

accumulated amortization relating  
to decreases and transfers - - 2.3 - 2.3

amortization during the financial year - -3.8 -18.8 - -22.6

impairments -5.0 - - - -5.0

exchange rate differences -0.9 - 1.8 - 0.9

Accumulated amortization at end of year -12.4 -5.9 -141.0 - -159.3

Net carrying amount at end of year 658.0 24.7 70.3 7.2 760.2

Goodwill internal 
development

intangible  
assets

Prepayments 2008  
total

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 630.8 1.3 213.6 14.3 860.0

acquisition of subsidiaries 32.3 - 4.0 - 36.3

additions - - 6.1 2.0 8.1

additions – internal development - 16.2 - - 16.2

disposal of subsidiaries -4.6 - - - -4.6

decreases - - -4.3 - -4.3

Other changes -1.0 - -1.0 -0.6 -2.6

Reclassifications - 12.8 - -12.8 0.0

exchange rate differences 4.1 - -11.5 -0.1 -7.5

Acquisition cost at end of year 661.6 30.3 206.9 2.8 901.6

Accumulated amortization at beginning of year -4.2 - -116.9 - -121.1

accumulated amortization relating  
to decreases and transfers - - 9.5 - 9.5

amotization during the financial year - -2.1 -19.1 - -21.2

impairments -2.3 - -1.4 - -3.7

exchange rate differences - - 1.6 - 1.6

Accumulated amortization at end of year -6.5 -2.1 -126.3 - -134.9

Net carrying amount at end of year 655,1 28,2 80,6 2,8 766,7

there was no goodwill related to associated companies in 2009 and 2008. a part from goodwill, the Group does not have intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives.
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13. PROPeRtY, PlaNt aNd eQUiPmeNt

land and 
water

Buildings and 
constructions 

machinery 
and 

equipment

Other property, 
plant and 

equipment

Prepayments and 
non-current assets 
under construction

2009  
total

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 48.2 433.3 1 169.1 36.1 56.0 1,742.6

acquisition of subsidiaries - - 0.1 - - 0.1

increases 0.2 27.9 49.4 2.3 -3.7 76.1

disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - 0.0

decreases - -6.5 -29.4 -2.1 - -38.0

Non-current assets held for sale - - - - - 0.0

Other changes - 0.7 5.1 -0.1 -7.5 -1.8

Reclassifications - - - - - 0.0

exchange rate differences 1.1 7.9 20.6 1.5 -0.9 30.2

Acquisition cost at end of year 49.5 463.3 1,214.9 37.7 43.9 1,809.2

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year -8.3 -214.7 -734.5 -19.4  - -976.9

accumulated depreciation  
relating to decreases and transfers  - 6.0 28.0 2.0 - 36.0

depreciation during the financial year  - -18.5 -75.6 -3.0 - -97.1

impairments - - -0.3 -0.4 - -0.7

Reversal of impairments - - 8.9 - - 8.9

Other changes  - - 0.1 0.2 - 0.3

exchange rate differences  - -4.3 -13.4 -0.5 - -18.2

Accumulated depreciation at end of year -8.3 -231.5 -786.8 -21.1 - -1,047.7

Net carrying amount at end of year 41.2 231.8 428.1 16.6 43.9 761.5

land and 
water

Buildings and 
constructions 

machinery 
and 

equipment

Other property. 
plant and 

equipment

Prepayments and 
non-current assets 
under construction

2008 
total

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 51.2 501.8 1,463.6 36.9 138.0 2,191.4

acquisition of subsidiaries - 0.9 3.8 1.6 - 6.3

increases 3.3 17.9 91.8 5.8 9.1 127.9

disposal of subsidiaries -1.5 -69.7 -325.1 -6.1 -36.6 -439.0

decreases -0.2 -10.7 -52.8 -2.0 -0.4 -66.1

Non-current assets held for sale - 4.9 12.9 - - 17.8

Other changes -0.2 -4.8 -4.6 1.9 -0.1 -7.8

Reclassifications 0.2 12.7 33.2 -0.3 -48.7 -2.9

exchange rate differences -4.6 -19.7 -53.7 -1.7 -5.3 -85.0

Acquisition cost at end of year 48.2 433.3 1 169.1 36.1 56.0 1,742.6

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year -7.7 -237.6 -942.8 -19.0 - -1,207.1

accumulated depreciation  
relating to decreases and transfers  - 40.0 280.7 4.1 - 324.8

depreciation during the financial year  - -21.2 -84.6 -3.8 - -109.6

impairments -0.6 -8.0 -24.4 -1.9 - -34.9

Other changes  - 0.2 -0.1 0.7 - 0.8

exchange rate differences  - 11.9 36.7 0.5 - 49.1

Accumulated depreciation at end of year -8.3 -214.7 -734.5 -19.4 - -976.9

Net carrying amount at end of year 39.9 218.6 434.5 16.7 56.0 765.7

there were no long-term construction projects in the group which interest for construction period was capitalized in 2009.
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fiNaNce lease assets

Property, plant and equipments include assets acquired using finance lease agreements as follows:

2009 2008

acquisition cost 7.3 6.8

accumulated depreciations -2.7 -2.0

Carrying amount 4.6 4.8

14. imPaiRmeNt testiNG

the Group’s accounting Policies set  out the principles and process of test-

ing assets for impairment. 

in the impairment testing performed on september 30, 2009 no need to 

record impairment losses were identified. after the impairment testing no 

material changes in cash generating units nor assumptions used in impair-

ment testing have realized. the segments are Paper, municipal & indus-

trial, Oil and mining, tikkurila and Other. in the new business structure Ke-

mira has defined its customer segments as a cash generating units. the 

level of a customer segment is one notch down from a segment. there 

are twelve customer segments in the group. Other basis for testing are the 

same as in previous years. 

the carrying amounts of non-current assets and goodwill are the fol-

lowing:

forecasts for cash flow growth reflect the management’s perception of de-

velopments in sales and cost items during the forecast period. the growth 

rate used to extrapolate cash flows subsequent to the three-year forecast 

period was assumed to be zero. 

discount rates were based on group’s adjusted weighted average cost 

of capital (Wacc). New risk-adjusted Wacc rate was determined to ev-

ery segment.

DisCouNt rAtes by segmeNts, % 2009 2008

Paper 9 9

municipal & industrial 10 10

Oil & mining 9 10

tikkurila 9 9

Other 10 10

the sensitivity analyses was made under the assumption that there would 

be a decline in the cash flows’ growth rate both during and after the fore-

casting period. a general increase in interest rates has also been taken in-

to consideration as well as a decrease in profitability. a decrease of 10% in 

generated cash flow or an increase of 1% in discount rate would not result 

any impairment losses to be recorded on the customer segment level. if 

the discount rate would increase by 2%, impairment losses are required to 

be recorded only to one customer segment. this impairment loss would 

constitute approximately 6% of the goodwill recorded in the group.

the Group’s recoverable amount is nearly double the carrying amount. 

impairment testing did not reveal any need to recognize impairment 

losses.

imPaiRmeNts RecOGNised ON decemBeR 31, 2009

the fair value of an finnish entity, which designs systems and devices was 

estimated to be substantially lower than its carrying value.  the fair value 

was determined based on a value in use. therefore, in the financial state-

ment for the year ended december 31, 2009 an impairment loss of eUR 5.0 

million concerning this business operation was recorded. the entity is part 

of municipal & industrial segment and the fair value was estimated based 

on the revised strategy of the segment.

a production plant was closed in Brazil based on the plan scheduled ear-

lier. due to this, an impairment loss of eUR 0.7 million was recorded in the 

financial statement for the year 2009.

ReveRsal Of imPaiRmeNt RecOGNised  
ON decemBeR 31, 2009

the closing the polymer plant located in columbus North america has been 

cancelled. therefore, the impairment loss recorded in 2008 has been re-

versed partially and eUR 8.9 million reversal has been recorded in the finan-

seGmeNt ON 
decemBeR 31, 2008 carrying amount of which goodwill

Paper 679 306

municipal & industrial 272 122

Oil & mining 116 50

tikkurila 211 68

Other 176 109

total 1,454 655

segmeNt oN 
DeCember 31, 2009

Carrying amount of which goodwill

Paper 663 308

municipal & industrial 283 123

Oil & mining 113 50

tikkurila 213 68

Other 167 109

total 1,439 658
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cial statement of the year 2009. in the note 8 the allocation of the reversal 

of impairment to the assets has been presented in more detail.

imPaiRmeNts RecOGNised ON decemBeR 31, 2008

due to the cost savings program Kemira booked approximately eUR 38.6 

million impairment for the last quarter of 2008.  the effect of the write-

downs on segments were as follows: Paper eUR 22.6 million, municipal & 

industrial eUR 11.5 million, Oil & mining eUR 3.0 million and Other eUR 1.5 

million. 

there were four classes of impaired assets:

-  the productions lines are closed in the following sites: longview and 

mobile in the United states, Brazil, Krems in austria and vaasa in fin-

land. the total impairment of these sites was eUR 9.6 million.  

-  the following sites are closed down: Kemira (Yixing) co., ltd and Ke-

mira Water solutions (chongqing) co., ltd sites in china are considered 

not having a fair value. the fair value of columbus site in the Unites 

states is based on future cash flows that is generated from on-going 

operations until the site closes at the end of 2009. the total impairment 

of these three sites was eUR 16.2 million.    

-   the fair value of Hydrogen peroxide site in maitland canada was lower 

than its carrying value due to declining markets in North america due 

to structural changes in the customer industry. the impairment of this 

site was eUR 7.4 million.

-   Other smaller impairments due to closures of sites and decreased fair 

values amounted to eUR 5.4 million. these impairments were in can-

ada, in the Netherlands, in spain and in finland. 

 

 Personnel related restructuring costs eUR 23.1 million were related to 

above mentioned impairments. see note 6.

15. iNvestmeNts

16. iNveNtORies

2009
Holdings in 
associates

Available-
for-sale 

investments

Carrying amount at  
beginning of year 135.6 159.8

share of profit or loss of associates -4.7 -

increases - 1.5

decreases - -

change in fair value - 5.0

exchange rate differences 0.2 -0.1

Net carrying amount  
at end of year 131.1 166.2

2009 2008

materials and supplies 84.7 95.9

Work in process 1.9 2.1

finished goods 158.1 219.9

Prepayments 1.8 1.4

total 246.5 319.3

2008
Holdings in 
associates

available-
for-sale 

investments

Carrying amount at 
beginning of year 5.5 102.2

share of profit or loss of associates -2.7 -

increases 136.5 10.1

decreases -2.7 -

change in fair value - 47.7

exchange rate differences -1.0 -0.2

Net carrying amount at end of year 135.6 159.8

associated companies are specified in note 33.

available-for-sale financial assets include shares in Pohjolan voima Group, 

their valuation principles is described in the consolidated accounting princi-

ples. the discount rate used to calculate the current value is an annually de-

fined average weighted capital cost. the discount rate in 2009 was 7.31%.   

available-for-sale financial assets include also shares entitling to elec-

tricity from a nuclear power plant currently under construction in finland. 

in may 2008, the market price of these nuclear power plant shares was 

determined by an external third party share trading transaction. in 2008, 

the Group booked a revaluation of the shares based on the market trans-

action. in the 2009 financial statements the measurement of shares relat-

ed to nuclear power plant currently under construction was not changed. 

available for sale financial assets do not include listed shares.

in the financial year, eUR 4.4 million (eUR 2.3 million) of inventory value 
was recognized as expense in order to decrease the carrying value of 
inventories to correspond with their net capitalization value.     
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17. caRRYiNG amOUNts Of fiNaNcial assets aNd liaBilities BY measURemeNt cateGORies

2009 Note

financial 
instruments 

under hedge 
accounting

financial 
assets at  
fair value 

through profit 
and loss

loans 
and other 

receivables

available-
for-sale 

investments
Other 

liabilities

total 
carrying 

amounts 
by balance 
sheet item

total 
fair 

value

NoN-curreNt fiNaNcial assets

investments

available-for-sale investments 15   166.2 166.2 166.2

Other investments  8.9 8.9 8.9

curreNt fiNaNcial assets  

Receivables  

interest-bearing receivables 18 1.4 1.4 1.3

interest-free receivables 18

trade receivables 344.3 344.3 344.3

Other receivables 1.1 5.3 6.4 6.4

money market investments 193.2 193.2 193.2

cash and cash equivalents 72.5 72.5 72.5

total 1.1 198.5 418.2 175.1 0.0 792.9 792.9

NoN-curreNt fiNaNcial 
liabilities

interest-bearing  
non-current liabilities 20, 24

loans from financial institutions 494.2 494.2 494.2

Pension loans 11.3 11.3 11.3

Other non-current liabilities 7.1 7.1 7.1

curreNt fiNaNcial liabilities

interest-bearing current liabilities 23, 24

loans from financial institutions 338.8 338.8 338.8

Pension loans 16.5 16.5 16.5

current portion of  
the non current liabilities 66.5 66.5 66.5

Other interest-bearing  
current liabilities 15.8 15.8 15.8

interest-free current liabilities

trade payables 160.3 160.3 160.3

Other liabilities 7.6 9.3 16.9 16.9

interest-free current liabilities 0.0 0.0

total 7.6 9.3 0.0 0.0 1,110.5 1,127.4 1,127.4
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17. caRRYiNG amOUNts Of fiNaNcial assets aNd liaBilities BY measURemeNt cateGORies

2008 Note

financial 
instruments 

under hedge 
accounting

financial  
assets at  
fair value 

through profit 
and loss

loans 
and other 

receivables

available-
for-sale 

investments
Other 

liabilities

total 
carrying 

amounts  
by balance 
sheet item

total 
fair 

value

NoN-curreNt fiNaNcial assets

investments

available-for-sale investments 15 159.8 159.8 159.8

Other investments 2.0 2.0 2.2

curreNt fiNaNcial assets

Receivables

interest-bearing receivables 18 7.6 7.6 7.6

interest-free receivables 18

trade receivables 396.5 396.5 396.5

Other receivables 0.2 24.1 24.3 24.3

money market investments 85.0 85.0 85.0

cash and cash equivalents 32.3 32.3 32.3

total 0.2 109.1 436.4 161.8 0.0 707.5 707.7

NoN-curreNt fiNaNcial 
liabilities

interest-bearing  
non-current liabilities 20, 24

loans from financial institutions 567.2 567.2 567.2

Pension loans 37.2 37.2 37.2

Other non-current liabilities 4.8 4.8 4.8

curreNt fiNaNcial liabilities  

interest-bearing current liabilities 23, 24

loans from financial institutions 508.3 508.3 508.3

Pension loans 0.7 0.7 0.7

current portion of  
the non-current liabilities 34.9 34.9 34.9

Other interest-bearing  
current liabilities 15.3 15.3 15.3

interest-free current liabilities

trade payables 240.1 240.1 240.1

Other liabilities 18.4 16.3 34.7 34.7

interest-free current liabilities 0.0 0.0

total 18.4 16.3 0.0 0.0 1,408.5 1,443.2 1,443.2

the Group does not have investments in listed shares. 
      
the carrying amount of receivables represents the maximum credit risk. 
      
Other receivables and liabilities are financial assets at fair value through profit and loss or financial instruments under hedge accounting.
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HierarcHy level 1 level 2 level 3 total net level 1 level 2 level 3 total net

available-for-sale financial assets - - 166.2 166.2 - - 159.8 159.8

Other investments - 8.9 - 8.9 - 2.0 - 2.0

currency instruments - -2.3 - -2.3 - 6.1 - 6.1

interest rate instruments 0.2 -9.4 - -9.2 - -7.0 -0.1 -7.1

Other instruments - 1.0 - 1.0 - -9.4 - -9.4

money market instruments - 193.2 - 193.2 - 85.1 - 85.1

total 0.2 191.4 166.2 357.8 - 76.8 159.8 236.5

level 1: exchange traded securities    

level 2: fair value determined by discernable parameters    

level 3: fair value determined by non discernable parameters    
 

level 3 specificatioN
Level 3,  

total net

iNstrumeNt

Balance value 31.12.2008 159.8

Realized gain/loss -0.1

Result impact 5.0

Purchased 1.5

sold -

Unrealized result impact -

balance value 31.12.2009 166.2

2009 2008
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18. ReceivaBles

2009 2008

iNterest-beariNg receivables

loan receivables 0.2 0.2

finance lease receivables 0.3 0.8

Other receivables 0.9 6.6

total interest-bearing receivables 1.4 7.6

trade aNd otHer receivables

trade receivables 344.3 396.5

Prepayments 5.6 3.9

accrued income 39.4 77.0

Other receivables 11.3 15.6

total trade and other receivables 400.6 493.0

Current tax asset 7.3 14.4

total receivables 409.3 515.0

items that are due over one year, include trade receivables of eUR 3.0 million (eUR 4.9 million), prepaid expenses and accrued income of eUR 2.9 
million (eUR 4.0 million) and other interest-free receivables of eUR 1.1 million (eUR 0.1 million) as well as loan receivables of eUR 0.1 million (eUR 
0.2 million), finance lease receivables of eUR 0.1 million (eUR 0.4 million) and other interest-bearing receivables of eUR 0,6 million (eUR 1.0 million).

fiNaNce lease receivables - total miNimum leases 2009 2008

Within one year 0.2 0.4

after one year but no more than five years 0.1 0.4

total 0.3 0.8

fiNaNce lease receivables - tHe preseNt value of miNimum lease paymeNts

Within one year 0.2 0.4

after one year but no more than five years 0.1 0.4

total 0.3 0.8

future finance income - -

total finance lease receivables 0.3 0.8
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19. Related PaRties disclOsURe

Parties are considered belonging to each other’s related parties if one par-

ty is able to exercise control over the other or substantial influence in deci-

sion-making concerning its finances and business operations. the Group’s 

related parties include the parent company, subsidiaries, associated com-

panies, joint-ventures and pension funds. Related parties also include the 

members of Board of directors and the Group’s management Boards, the 

ceO and his deputy and their near family members. Key management per-

sons are the members of the Group management Boards. 

empLoyee beNefits  
of key mANAgemeNt persoNNeL 2009 2008

Wages, salaries and other short-term 
employee benefits 3.9 3.6

Post-employment benefits - 0.7

share-based payments - -

total 3.9 4.3

the emolument of Kemira Oyj’s managing director was eUR 734,730 

(656,832), including bonuses of eUR 79,278 (7,380). the emolument of 

Kemira Oyj’s deputy managing directors were eUR 360,835 (322,760), in-

cluding bonuses eUR 23,889. (in 2008, no bonuses.).

No loans had been granted to management in the end of 2009 and 

2008, nor were there any contingency items and contingent liabilities on 

behalf of key personnel. Persons belonging to the company’s key man-

agement, including parties closely associated with them, are not involved 

in substantial business relationships with the company.

management’s share-based incentive plan is specified in Note 7.

maNaGemeNt’s PeNsiON cOmmitmeNts  
aNd teRmiNatiON BeNefits

Kemira Oyj’s Board of directors appointed Harri Kerminen as the new man-

aging director of Kemira Oyj as of January 1, 2008. Harri Kerminen’s con-

tract period is until 2013, when he will be 62 years old. Jyrki mäki-Kala was 

appointed new deputy ceO as of september 1, 2009. the former deputy 

ceO esa tirkkonen retired from Kemira on august 31, 2008.  

the maximum remuneration for the managing director, Harri Kermi- 

nen,  is 66% of the pension-based salary. Both age of retirement and 

amount of pension are based on voluntary pension fund’s (closed to new 

members since January 1, 1991) benefits. the voluntary pension fund ben-

efits concern all the personnel who have been in service before the year 

1991. the pension fund’s benefits concern all the personnel whose years 

of service and other conditions for granting of pension have been fulfilled. 

similar arrangements have been made in other Group companies.

the period of notice of Kemira Oyj’s managing director is 6 months. in 

case the company would give notice to the managing director, he will re-

ceive an emolument equaling 12 months’ salary. the respective periods for 

the deputy managing director are 6 months and 6 months.

boArD of DireCtors  
emoLumeNts, eur 2009 2008

members of tHe board of directors

Pekka Paasikivi, chairman 75,000 73,219

Jukka viinanen, vice chairman  
(since march 19, 2008) 50,400 40,768

eija malmivirta, vice chairman  
(until march 19, 2008) - 11,550

elizabeth armstrong 60,000 66,555

Wolfgang Buchele (since april 8, 2009) 34,100  

Juha laaksonen 43,200 42,905

Ove mattson (until april 8, 2009) 17,640 53,355

Kaija Pehu-lehtonen 43,800 42,305

markku tapio (until march 19, 2008) - 10,050

Jarmo väisänen, (since march 19, 2008) 43,800 34,174



20. NON-cURReNt iNteRest-BeaRiNG liaBilities — NOtes tO cONsOlidated fiNaNcial statemeNts

105

NOtes tO cONsOlidated fiNaNcial statemeNts
(eUR million)

OtHeR Related PaRtY disclOsURe

sales and purchases of goods and services to and from associates as well 

as receivables from associates are specified in note 33.  the amount of con-

tingent liabilities on behalf of associates are presented in note 29.

Kemira has finnish pension funds (Kemira’s Pension fund and Pension 

fund Neliapila) that are legal units of their own. On december 31, 2009, 

Kemira transferred its tyel pension obligation from Kemira’s Pension fund 

to varma mutual Pension insurance company. Kemira’s Pension fund will 

be liquidated during 2010. 

Pension fund Neliapila manages part of the pension assets of the 

Group’s personnel in finland. the assets include Kemira shares represent-

ing 0.15% of the company’s outstanding shares.  

Pension fund Neliapila owns 2.6% of Pohjolan voima’s shares. Kemira 

Oyj buys electricity from Pohjolan voima in proportion to pension fund’s 

share of ownership for Group use and also for selling it to external par-

ties. the shareholders can buy electricity from the company at a price that 

covers its production expenses. this price has been clearly below the av-

erage market price.

trANsACtioNs witH otHer 
reLAteD pArties 2009 2008

sales 96.7 35.3

Purchases 72.4 41.0

financial income and expenses -1.3 1.3

Receivables 19.5 34.0

liabilities 43.8 55.9

20. NON-cURReNt iNteRest-BeaRiNG liaBilities
2009 2008

loans from financial institutions 494.3 567.2

loans from pension institutions 11.2 37.2

Other non-current liabilities to others 7.1 4.8

total 512.6 609.2

NoN-curreNt iNterest-beariNg liabilities maturiNg iN

2011 (2010) 81.1 81.6

2012 (2011) 72.9 59.0

2013 (2012) 53.4 31.1

2014 (2013) 59.5 63.9

2015 (2014) or later 245.7 373.6

total 512.6 609.2

iNterest-beariNg liabilities maturiNg iN 5 years or loNger period of time

loans from financial institutions 245.7 356.8

loans from pension institutions - 14.2

Other non-current interest-bearing liabilities - 2.6

total 245.7 373.6

the foreign currency breakdown of non-current loans is presented in note 32, management of financial risks.

the Group’s liabilities include neither debentures nor convertible or other bonds.
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21. defeRRed taX liaBilities aNd assets

2009
Jan. 1, 
2009

Recognised 
in the income 

statement

Recognized 
in the other 

comprehensive 
income

Recognised  
in equity

acquired / 
disposed 

subsidiaries
Dec. 31, 

2009

deferred tax liabilities

cumulative depreciation in excess of / less than plan 51.1 7.4  - - - 58.5

available-for-sale investments 33.7 0.2  1.3  - - 35.2

Pensions 13.8 -5.6  - - - 8.2

fair value of acquired subsidiaries 1) 15.0 -3.3  - - - 11.7

Other 6.9 -3.8  3.7 -1.3 - 5.5

total 120.5 -5.1  5.0 -1.3 - 119.1

tax assets deducted 2) -30.6 -29.0

total deferred tax liabilities in the balance sheet 89.9 90.1

deferred tax assets

internal stock margin 2.5 -0.7  - - - 1.8

Provisions 12.3 -3.5  - - - 8.8

tax losses 21.6 10.4  - - - 32.0

Pensions 3.2 -1.0  - - - 2.2

Other 3.7 -0.7 - - - 3.0

total 43.3 4.5 - - - 47.8

deferred tax liabilities deducted 2) -30.6 -29.0

Deferred tax assets in the balance sheet 12.7 18.8

2008
Jan. 1, 
2008

Recognised 
in the income 

statement

Recognized 
in the other 

comprehensive 
income

Recognised  
in equity

acquired / 
disposed 

subsidiaries
dec. 31,  

2008

deferred tax liabilities

cumulative depreciation in excess of / less than plan 72.4 -4.8 - - -16.5 51.1

available-for-sale investments 20.7 - 13.0 - - 33.7

Pensions 10.7 3.1 - - - 13.8

fair value of acquired subsidiaries 1) 19.0 -5.0 - - 1.0 15.0

Other 23.9 -9.9 -7.1 - - 6.9

total 146.7 -16.6 5.9 - -15.5 120.5

tax assets deducted 2) -41.2 -30.6

total deferred tax liabilities in the balance sheet 105.5 89.9

deferred tax assets

internal stock margin 2.2 0.3 - - - 2.5

Provisions 5.2 9.4 - - -2.3 12.3

tax losses 25.2 -3.6 - - - 21.6

Pensions 5.0 -1.8 - - - 3.2

Other 8.8 -5.1 - - - 3.7

total 46.4 -0.8 0.0 - -2.3 43.3

deferred tax liabilities deducted 2) -41.2  -30.6

Deferred tax assets in the balance sheet 5.2 12.7

1) the increase in deferred taxes relating to the fair value measurement of acquired subsidiaries was recognised under goodwill.
2) Netting of receivables and liabilities has been applied.
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22. PROvisiONs

23. cURReNt liaBilities

Personnel related 
provisions

Restructuring 
provisions

environmental and 
damage provisions

Other 
provisions 

2009  
total

NoN-curreNt provisioNs

Balance at beginning of year 2.4 6.6 18.8 34.0 61.8

exchange rate differencies - - - - -

increase in provisions 0.1 0.4 0.1 1.5 2.1

Provisions used during the period - -0.9 -2.5 - -3.4

Provisions released during the period -1.3 -0.3 - -1.4 -3.0

Reclassification -0.1 -1.6 -0.2 - -1.9

balance at end of year 1.1 4.2 16.2 34.1 55.6

curreNt provisioNs

Balance at beginning of year 7.2 1.2 0.6 1.8 10.8

exchange rate differencies 0.3 - - 0.3 0.6

increase in provisions 3.9 0.3 4.6 - 8.8

Provisions used during the period -6.4 -0.8 -0.2 - -7.4

Provisions released during the period -1.8 -0.2 -0.3 - -2.3

Reclassification -0.2 1.5 0.2 - 1.5

balance at end of year 3.0 2.0 4.9 2.1 12.0

2009 2008

iNterest-beariNg curreNt liabilities

loans from financial institutions 267.8 417.3

loans from pension institutions 16.5 0.7

current portion of other non-current loans 14.8 13.7

finance lease liabilities 4.2 4.6

Other interest-bearing current liabilities 134.3 123.0

total interest-bearing current liabilities 437.6 559.3

trade payables aNd otHer liabilities

Prepayments received 3.0 0.7

trade payables 160.3 240.1

accrued expenses 179.7 202.5

Other interest-free current liabilities 26.1 36.4

total trade payables and other liabilities 369.1 479.7

Current provisions 12.0 10.8

Current tax liabilities 0.5 5.5

total current liabilities 819.2 1 055.3

accrued expeNses

Personnel expenses 63.1 47.1

items related to revenues and purchases 51.1 67.5

interest 15.7 25.3

exchange rate differences 6.7 17.7

Other 43.1 44.9

total 179.7 202.5

Other provisions relate mainly to the establishment of an associated company in 2008. there are more information about environmental 
provisions in note 31, environmental risks and liabilities.

finance lease liabilities include items that are due over one year of eUR 3.4 million (eUR 3.8 million).
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24. fiNaNce lease liaBilities - matURitY

25. Net liaBilities

26. defiNed BeNefit PeNsiON PlaNs

2009 2008

fiNaNce lease liabilities - miNimum lease paymeNts

Within one year 0.9 0.8

after one year but no more than five years 1.9 2.2

Over five years 1.4 1.6

total 4.2 4.6

fiNaNce lease liabilities - preseNt value of miNimum lease paymeNts

Within one year 0.7 0.6

after one year but no more than five years 1.7 2.0

Over five years 1.4 1.6

total 3.8 4.2

future finance charges 0.4 0.4

total finance lease liabilities 4.2 4.6

2009 2008

interest-bearing non-current liabilities 512.6 609.2

interest-bearing current liabilities 437.6 559.3

money market and bond investments -202.1 -87.1

cash and cash equivalents -72.5 -32.3

total 675.6 1 049.1

the Group has various pension plans in accordance with the local conditions 

and practices of the countries in which it operates. Under defined benefit 

plan, pension benefits are determined by salary, retirement age, disability, 

mortality or termination of employment. the funded portion of the finnish 

system under the employees’ Pensions act (tyel) and the disability por-

tion were treated as a defined benefit plan in respect to the pension plans 

managed by the Group’s own pension funds in 2008. the pension liability 

of Kemira’s Pension fund was transferred to varma mutual Pension insur-

ance company on december 31, 2009. the tyel plans managed by insur-

ance companies are treated as defined contribution plans.

the “corridor” method is used to account for any actuarial gains and 

losses.

the following table shows the effect both of the defined benefit and 

defined contribution plans on the Group’s income statement and balance 

balaNce sHeet 2009 2008

liability for defined contribution plans 0.8 0.6

liability for defined benefit plans 69.6 66.9

total liability for defined benefit and 
contribution plans 70.4 67.5

Receivable for defined benefit plans -35.3 -54.0

Net liability for defined benefit and 
contribution plans 35.1 13.5

sheet. Pension liabilities, plan assets and actuarial gains and losses of the 

businesses acquired and divested have changed obligations and assets.  



26. defiNed BeNefit PeNsiON PlaNs — NOtes tO cONsOlidated fiNaNcial statemeNts

109

NOtes tO cONsOlidated fiNaNcial statemeNts
(eUR million)

DefiNeD beNefit pLANs 2009 2008

balaNce sHeet

liability for defined benefit plans 69.6 66.9

Receivable for defined benefit plans -35.3 -54.0

Net liability for defined benefit plans 34.3 12.9

iNcome statemeNt

defined benefit pension plans -22.8 -1.1

amouNts recogNized iN tHe balaNce sHeet

Present value of funded obligations 295.4 346.0

Present value of unfunded obligations 71.8 66.2

fair value of plan assets -363.6 -427.8

Net asset (-) / liability (+) 3.6 -15.6

Unrecognized past service costs -0.5 -0.8

Unrecognized actuarial gains (+) and losses (-) 31.2 29.3

Net liability  (+) for defined benefit plans 34.3 12.9

movemeNts iN tHe preseNt value of defiNed beNefit obligatioNs

liability at the beginning of year 412.1 573.4

current service costs 6.7 11.4

interest costs 23.4 22.4

actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) 37.6 -49.6

exchange rate differences on foreign plans 4.8 -9.2

the effect of companies acquired and divested during the period - -112.7

Benefits paid -24.5 -23.5

curtailments -96.0 -

settlements - -0.9

Past service costs 3.0 0.8

Liability at the end of year 367.2 412.1

movemeNts iN tHe fair value of plaN assets

Plan assets at the beginning of year 427.8 622.9

expected return on plan assets 21.4 27.6

employer contribution 3.1 17.4

actuarial gains (+) / losses (-) 30.1 -93.6

exchange differences on foreign plans 1.6 -2.7

effect of companies acquired and divested during the period - -120.5

Benefits paid -24.5 -23.5

settlements -95.9 0.2

plans assets at the end of year 363.6 427.8
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2009 2008

amouNts recogNized iN tHe iNcome statemeNt

current service cost 6.7 11.4

interest cost 23.4 22.4

expected return on plan assets -21.4 -27.5

Past service costs 3.0 0.8

Net actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) for financial year 0.4 -7.8

curtailments 10.7 -0.4

income statement (-) / expense (+) 22.8 -1.1

the above amount, eUR 22.8 million (eUR -1.1 million), is included in the employee benefits in the income statement.

ACtuAL returN oN pLAN Assets 2009 2008

actual income (+) / expense (-) on plan assets  51,5 -66,2

priNcipal actuarial assumptioNs, % 

discount rate 4.0–5.8 3.8–6.2 

expected return on plan assets 2.8–7.5 4.5–5.8 

inflation 1.5–3.6 2.0–4.5 

future salary increases 1.5–4.3 2.0–4.5 

future pension increases 0.5–3.8 1.3–4.0 

plaN assets coNsist of:

equity instruments 198.0 195.1

debt finance instruments 31.4 173.2

assets in insurance companies *) 119.1 8.6

Kemira Oyj treasury shares 1.2 0.5

Real estate in Group use 14.0 14.0

Other - 36.4

total 363.6 427.8

* funds managed by insurance companies, under the defined benefit pension plan, form part of the investment assets of the insurance companies, which bear the associated 
investment risk. for this reason, more detailed information on the individual plans’ asset allocation is not available.

the total expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is 5.0%. this rate of return is based on the portfolio as a whole and not on the sum of 
the returns on individual asset categories. the return is based exclusively on historical returns, without adjustments. 

expected contributions to the post-employment benefit plans for 2010 total eUR 2.7 million.

31.12. 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Present value of defined benefit obligation 367.2 412.2 573.4 536.8 526.9

fair value of plan assets 363.6 427.8 622.9 552.3 543.3

surplus / deficit 3.6 -15.6 -49.5 -15.5 -16.4

experience adjustments on plan liabilities 0.1 -3.4 -3.4 4.0 -9.1

experience adjustments on plan assets 31.6 -88.2 45.9 19.5 1.6
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27. sUPPlemeNtaRY casH flOW iNfORmatiON

ACquisitioN AND DisposAL of subsiDiAries 2009 2008

acquisitioN of subsidiaries

acquisition cost 3.7 48.5

cash and cash equivalents at acquisition date 0.0 -4.2

Cash flow on acquisition net of cash acquired 3.7 44.3

acquired assets aNd liabilities

Net working capital 1.1 4.7

Property, plant and equipment 2.1 10.0

interest-bearing receivables, cash and cash equivalents deducted - -

Other interest-bearing receivables - 1.6

interest-bearing liabilities - -0.1

interest-free liabilities -0.4 -5.8

minority interest 0.5 -

Goodwill on acquisition 0.4 33.9

total assets and liabilities of acquired subsidiaries 3.7 44.3

proceeds from tHe disposals of subsidiaries

Proceeds from the disposals 2.0 234.1

cash and cash equivalent in disposed companies -1.4 -1.6

total cash flow on disposals of subsidiaries 0.6 232.5

assets aNd liabilities disposed

Net working capital 1.6 61.2

Property, plant and equipment - 176.5

shares - -

interest-bearing receivables, excluding cash - 10.5

Other interest-free receivables - 2.0

interest-bearing liabilities -1.2 -26.2

interest-free liabilities 0.1 -26.0

Gain / loss on disposal 0.1 34.5

total assets and liabilities of disposed subsidiaries 0.6 232.5
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2009: tiKKURila JUB ROmaNia

tikkurila announced its intentions to acquire the 50% stake of the slove-

nian JUB coatings company in the trading company tikkurila JUB Romania 

s.R.l..Ownership was transferred on september 1, 2009, with 100% own-

ership now by tikkurila. the name of the company was changed to tikku-

rila s.R.l..  acquisition was not significant to the Group and no goodwill was 

recorded.  

2009: aKzO NOBel

Kemira acquired akzo Nobel’s iron coagulant business in the Nordic coun-

tries (sweden, Norway and denmark). iron coagulants are used in water 

treatment. the transaction represents approximately 20% of the swedish 

iron coagulant markets. the agreement took force on November 2, 2009. 

No personnel or production facilities were transferred under the agree-

ment. acquisition was not significant to the Group and no goodwill was 

recorded. 

2009: acQUistiON Of sHaRes fOR  
NON-cONtROlliNG iNteRest

the Group acquired the shares of a non-controlling interest relating to the 

acquisition in 2007. a goodwill of eUR 0.4 million was recorded for this  

acquisition. fair values
recorded on 

business 
combination

carrying
amounts prior 

to business
combination

Property, plant and equipment 5.5 5.5

Other investments 0.7 0.7

inventories 1.5 1.4

trade receivables and other receivables 5.3 5.3

cash and cash equivalents 3.3 3.3

total 16.3 16.2

deferred tax liabilities - -

Other liabilities 6.8 6.8

total liabilities 6.8 6.8

Net assets 9.5 9.4

cost of business combination (net) 39.4

goodwill 29.9

acquisition cost 39.4

cash and cash equivalents in 
subsidiary acquired -3.3

Cash outflow on acquisition total 36.1

2008 NHeel QUimica ltda

Kemira acquired the entire share capital of the Brazilian Nheel Quimica lt-

da in a transaction confirmed on November 15, 2008. Nheel Quimica ltda 

is Brazil’s second largest manufacturer of iron salts and the largest manu-

facturer of aluminum salts used in water treatment. Nheel Quimica ltda 

has a production facility in Rio claro, in the state of são Paolo. the com-

pany primarily serves companies in the municipal water treatment and 

waste water treatment sectors. as a result of increasingly stringent envi-

ronmental legislation, the use of coagulants is growing rapidly in the larg-

est Brazilian cities. 

the purchase price was eUR 39.4 million, which was paid in cash and 

financed with the Group’s existing financing agreements. the estimated 

capitalized acquisition costs directly attributable to combination were eUR 

0.3 million.

the revenue of the acquired business in the period from date of pur-

chase to december 31, 2008 was eUR 6.5 million and operating profit eUR 

1.1 million.

a total of eUR 0.1 million of the eUR 39.4 million acquisition cost was al-

located to inventories of finished goods. the acquisition therefore gener-

ated eUR 29.9 million of goodwill. Goodwill is based on future earnings ex-

pectations and significant synergy benefits. 

28. BUsiNess cOmBiNatiONs
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fair values
recorded on 

business 
combination

carrying
amounts prior 

to business
combination

Other intangible assets 4.0 0.0

Property, plant and equipment 0.4 0.4

Other investments 0.1 0.1

inventories 1.3 1.3

trade receivables and other receivables 0.6 0.6

cash and cash equivalents 0.9 0.9

total assets 7.3 3.3

deferred tax liabilities 1.0 -

Other liabilities 0.9 0.9

total liabilities 1.9 0.9

Net assets 5.4 2.4

cost of business combination (net) 6.5

goodwill 1.0

acquisition cost 6.5

Unpaid acquisition cost -1.1

cash and cash equivalents in 
subsidiaries acquired -0.9

Cash outflow on acquisition 4.5

2008 aGGReGate Of BUsiNess acQUisitiONs

Kemira made the following acquisitions in 2008: finncolor slovakia s.r.o. 

(100%) and färggädje målerbutiken i alvik aB (100%).

these business combinations are individually immaterial. 

effect Of BUsiNess cOmBiNatiONs  
ON ReveNUe aNd PROfit 

Kemira’s revenue for 2008 would have been eUR 2,871 million and operat-

ing profit eUR 80 million if all of the business combinations carried out dur-

ing the period had been completed on January 1, 2008.    
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29. cOllateRal aNd cONtiNGeNt liaBilities

2009 2008

Loans secured by mortgages in the baLance sheet and 

for which mortgages are given as coLLateraL

loans from financial institutions 0,5 0,4

mortgages given 1,0 0,9

loans from pension institutions 27,8 37,1

mortgages given 35,7 41,5

Other loans 0,3 0,7

mortgages given 0,8 0,9

Total mortgage loans 28.6 38.2

Total mortgages given 37.5 43.3

contingent LiabiLities

assets pledged 

On behalf of own commitments 5.5 5.2

Guarantees

On behalf of own commitments 45.2 14.1

On behalf of associates 1.0 1.2

On behalf of others 9.2 5.5

Operating leasing liabilities

maturity within one year 26.0 20.9

maturity after one year but within five years 64.9 47.6

maturity after five years 72.4 67.4

Other obligations

On behalf of own commitments 1.7 2.6

On behalf of associates 1.8 1.9

majOR Off-BalaNce sheet  
iNvestmeNt cOmmitmeNts

there were no contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, 

plant and equipment on december 31, 2009.

litiGatiON

On august 19, 2009, Kemira Oyj received a summons stating that cartel 

damage claims hydrogen Peroxide sa (cdc) had filed a claim against six 

hydrogen peroxide manufacturers, including Kemira, for violations of com-

petition law applicable to the hydrogen peroxide business. in its claim, car-

tel damage claims hydrogen Peroxide sa seeks a decision from the Re-

gional court of dortmund in Germany to obtain an unabridged and full 

copy of the decision of the european commission, dated may 3, 2006, 

and demands that the defendants, including Kemira, are jointly and sev-

erally ordered to pay damages together with accrued interest on the ba-

sis of such decision.

cartel damage claims hydrogen Peroxide sa states that it will specify 

the amount of the damages at a later stage after the full copy of the deci-

sion of the european commission has been obtained by it. in order to pro-

vide initial estimation as to the amount of such damages, cartel damage 

claims hydrogen Peroxide sa presents in its claim a preliminary calculation 

of the alleged overcharge having been paid to the defendants as a result of 

the violation of the applicable competition rules by the parties which have 

assigned and sold their claim to cartel damage claims hydrogen Peroxide 

sa. such alleged overcharge, together with accrued interest until decem-

ber 31, 2008, is stated to be approximately eUR 641.3 million. the process 

is currently pending in the Regional court of dortmund, Germany, and Ke-

mira’s response to the claim of cartel damage claims hydrogen Peroxide 

sa is due to be submitted by the end of april 2010. 
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30. deRivative iNstRUmeNts

NomiNal values  < 1 year > 1 year Total < 1 year > 1 year total

currency instruments

forward contracts 549.5 - 549.5 427.8 - 427.8

of which hedges of net 

investment in a foreign operation - - - - - -

currency options - - - - - -

Bought - - - - - -

sold - - - - - -

currency swaps 29.3 - 29.3 - 27.6 27.6

interest rate instruments

interest rate swaps 69.0 285.7 354.7 21.6 317.2 338.8

of which cash flow hedge 52.1 255.7 307.8 14.4 290.0 304.4

interest rate options - - - - 110.0 110.0

Bought - 10.0 10.0 - 110.0 110.0

sold - - - - - -

Bond futures - 10.0 10.0 - 10.0 10.0

of which open - 10.0 10.0 - 10.0 10.0

other instruments

electricity forward contracts, bought (GWh) 630.7 526.0 1,156.7 811.7 619.8 1,431.5

of which cash flow hedge (GWh) 525.6 526.0 1,051.6 759.1 619.8 1,378.9

electricity forward contracts, sold (GWh) - - - 52.6 - 52.6

of which cash flow hedge (GWh) - - - - - -

Propane swap contracts (k tons) - 14.8 14.8 1.0 14.6 15.6

of which cash flow hedge (k tons) - 14.8 14.8 1.0 14.6 15.6

salt derivatives (k tons) 160.0 - 160.0 160.0 52.8 212.8

Nominal values of the financial instruments do not necessarily correspond to the actual cash flows between the counterparties and individual 
items do not therefore give a fair view of the Group’s risk position.

2009 2008

Kemira intends to defend vigorously against the claim of cartel damage 

claims hydrogen Peroxide sa. however, Kemira is currently not in a position 

to make any estimate regarding the duration or the likely outcome of the 

process. No assurance can be given as to the outcome of the process, and 

an unfavorable judgment against Kemira could have a material adverse ef-

fect on Kemira’s business, financial condition or results of operations. 

due to its extensive international operations the Group, in addition to the 

cdc claim, is involved in a number of other legal proceedings incidental to 

these operations and it does not expect the outcome of these other cur-

rently pending legal proceedings  to have materially adverse effect upon 

its consolidated results or financial position
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Fair values
assets  
gross

liabilities  
gross

Total  
net

assets  
gross

liabilities
 gross

total  
net

currency instruments

forward contracts * 5.0 -3.4 1.6 20.8 -9.1 11.7

of which hedges of net 

investment in a foreign operation - - - - - -

currency options * - - - - - -

Bought - - - - - -

sold - - - - - -

currency swaps - -3.9 -3.9 - -5.6 -5.6

interest rate instruments   

interest rate swaps - -9.4 -9.4 0.3 -7.2 -6.9

of which cash flow hedge - -7.4 -7.4 0.2 -6.7 -6.5

interest rate options - - - - -0.1 -0.1

Bought - - - - -0.1 -0.1

sold - - - - - -

Bond futures 0.2 - 0.2 - - -

of which open 0.2 - 0.2 - - -

other instruments  

electricity forward contracts, bought 2.0 -0.8 1.2 - -10.7 -10.7

of which cash flow hedge 1.9 -0.8 1.1 - -9.7 -9.7

electricity forward contracts, sold - - - 1.2 - 1.2

of which cash flow hedge - - - - - -

Propane swap contracts - -0.2 -0.2 - -2.0 -2.0

of which cash flow hedge - -0.2 -0.2 - -2.0 -2.0

salt derivatives - - - 2.0 - 2.0

2009 2008

* includes also closed foreign exchange positions. the open position is shown in the hedging section of the currency risk table, note 32.
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* includes also closed foreign exchange positions. the open position is shown in the hedging section of the currency risk table, note 32.    
    

 2009   2008

assets gross liabilities gross assets gross liabilities gross

Fair values  < 1 year > 1 year < 1 year > 1 year < 1 year > 1 year < 1 year > 1 year

currency instruments 

forward contracts * 5.0 - -3.4 - 20.8 - -9.1 -

of which hedges of net 

investment in a foreign operation - - - - - - - -

currency options * - - - - - - - -

Bought - - - - - - - -

sold - - - - - - - -

currency swaps - - -3.9 - - - - -5.6

interest rate instruments

interest rate swaps - - -1.3 -8.1 - 0.3 -0.2 -7.0

of which cash flow hedge - - -1.0 -6.4 - 0.2 -0.1 -6.6

interest rate options - - - - - - - -0.1

Bought - - - - - - - -0.1

sold - - - - - - - -

Bond futures - 0,2 - - - - - -

of which open - 0,2 - - - - - -

other instruments

electricity forward contracts, bought (GWh) 0.1 1.9 -0.8 - - - -7.3 -3.4

of which cash flow hedge (GWh) - 1.9 -0.8 - - - -6.3 -3.4

electricity forward contracts, sold (GWh) - - - - 1.2 - - -

of which cash flow hedge (GWh) - - - - - - - -

Propane swap contracts (k tons) - - - -0.2 - - -0.2 -1.8

of which cash flow hedge (k tons) - - - -0.2 - - -0.2 -1.8

salt derivatives (k tons) - - - - 1.5 0.5 - -
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32. maNaGemeNt Of fiNaNcial RisKs

the Group treasury manages financial risks in accordance with the trea-

sury policy in force. approved by the Board of directors, the treasury policy 

defines treasury management principles. the Board of directors approves 

the annual treasury plan and the maximum permissible financial risk levels.

financial risk management aims to protect the company from unfavor-

able changes in financial markets, thus contributing to safeguarding the 

company’s profit performance and shareholders’ equity. Kemira employs 

various financial instruments within the set limits. the Group uses only in-

struments whose market values and risks can be monitored continuously 

and reliably. it uses derivative instruments only for hedging purposes, not 

for speculative gain. management of foreign exchange and interest rate 

risk is centralized in the Group treasury.

fOReiGN exchaNGe RisK

foreign currency transaction risk arises from net currency flows denomi-

nated in currencies other than the domestic currency within and outside 

the eurozone. the Group’s most significant transaction currency risk aris-

es from the U.s. dollar, mainly as a result of U.s. dollar denominated ex-

ports  from the euro area to overseas. at the end of the year, the U.s. dol-

lar denominated 12-month exchange rate risk had an equivalent value of 

approximately eUR 38 million. On average, 34 %  of this transaction expo-

sure was hedged. in addition, Kemira is exposed to smaller transaction risks 

in relation to the canadian dollar and the swedish krona with the annual 

exposure in both of these currencies being approximately eUR 15 million.

Kemira mainly uses forwards and currency options in hedging against 

foreign exchange risks, which had less than a one year maturity at the end 

of 2009. at Group level, the impact of the subsidiaries’ hedging operations 

are eliminated. the table below shows an estimate of the largest group-

level foreign currency cash flow risks.

TraNsacTioN aNd TraNslaTioN exposure 2009 

seK usd other

Operative net cash flow* -13.8 42.3 189.2

Net lending ** -59.8 127.3 42.8

derivatives, transaction hedging 13.8 -37.5 -63.8

derivatives, balance sheet hedging 59.8 -126.9 -32.2

Total 0.0 5.2 135.9

loans, translation hedging -75.1 -28.5 -11.3

TraNsacTioN aNd TraNslaTioN exposure 2008 

seK Usd Other

Operative net cash flow* -31.0 9.5 71.6

Net lending** -55.5 128.3 73.6

derivatives, transaction hedging 26.4 -2.9 -20.3

derivatives, balance sheet hedging 55.5 -127.6 -55.4

Total -4.6 7.3 69.5

loans, translation hedging -70.9 -29.5 -10.5

* Based on 12 months operative cash flow forecast

** does not include hedging of a net investment in a foreign entity

31. eNviRONmeNtal RisKs aNd liaBilities

the bulk of Kemira’s business is in the chemical industry, whose products 

and operations are governed by numerous international agreements and 

regional and national legislation all over the world. the Group treats its en-

vironmental liabilities and risks in financial statements in accordance with 

ifRs and observes established internal principles and procedures.

divestments  and acquisitions did not change the Group’s environmen-

tal liabilities considerably. Provisions for environmental remediation totaled 

eUR 21.1 million (19.4).  the major provisions apply to the closing of the 

former waste piling area in Pori, and limited reconditioning of the sedi-

ment of a lake adjacent to the vaasa plant. these remediation projects 

were launched in 2009 in accordance with the environmental permits. in 

helsingborg, a project for demolishing old plant buildings was started and 

a provision was made for this.

emissiONs allOWaNces

the Group holds assigned emissions allowances under the eU emissions 

trading system at one site in sweden. in net volumes, these allowances at 

Group level showed a surplus of 2,037 (2,230) carbon dioxide tons in 2009.  
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at the turn of 2009/2010, the foreign currency operative cash flow fore-

cast for 2010 was eUR 159.8 million, 39% of which was hedged (41%). the 

hedge ratio is monitored daily. in hedging the total cash flow risk, a neutral 

level is achieved when 50% of the forecast net foreign currency cash flow 

is hedged. a minimum of 30% and a maximum of 100% of the forecast 

flow must always be hedged. a 10% fall in foreign exchange rates against 

the euro, based on the exchange rates quoted on the balance sheet date, 

and without hedging would reduce earnings before taxes by about eUR 

8.9 million (4.6).

since Kemira’s consolidated financial statements are compiled in euros, 

Kemira is also subject to currency translation risk to the extent that the in-

come statement and balance sheet items of subsidiaries located outside 

finland are reported in some other currencies than the euro. Kemira’s main 

equity items denominated in foreign currencies are in the swedish krona, 

the Us dollar, the Brazilian real, the Polish zloty the canadian dollar and the 

Russian ruble. the objective is to hedge the balance sheet risk by main-

taining a balance between foreign currency denominated liabilities and as-

sets, currency by currency. Kemira hedges foreign currency equity items 

with long-term loans.

in hedging the net investment in its units abroad, Kemira monitors the 

equity ratio. in accordance with the Group’s policy, Kemira must take eq-

uity hedging measures if a change of +/-5.0% in foreign exchange rates 

causes a change of more than 1.5 percentage points in the equity ratio.

On the balance sheet date, part of the equity denominated in the swed-

ish krona, the Us dollar and the British pound was hedged. at the end of 

2009, the nominal amount of hedges of net investments in foreign oper-

ations totaled eUR 114.8 million (110.8). all in all, these transactions cor-

respond to a 9% hedge ratio (2008: 11%). at the end of 2009 all net in-

vestments in foreign entities were hedged with long-term loans, which 

was also the case at the end of 2008. a 10% fall in foreign exchange rates 

against the euro, based on the exchange rates quoted on the balance sheet 

date, would have a positive impact on the valuation of equity hedging in-

struments of about eUR 10.4 million in equity (before taxes).

iNteRest Rate RisK

interest rate risk is associated with the Group’s loan portfolio management. 

in accordance with the treasury policy, the benchmark of the Group’s inter-

est rate risk is the duration of the loan portfolio, which must be in the range 

of 6–24 months. the Group may borrow by way of either fixed or floating 

rate instruments and use both interest rate swaps and interest rate options 

as well as forward rate agreements and interest rate futures, in order to 

meet the goal set under the related policy.

the duration of the Group’s interest-bearing loan portfolio was 19 

months at the end of 2009 (17 months). excluding interest rate deriva-

tives, the duration is 12 months (9 months). at the end of 2009, 70% 

of the Group’s entire net debt portfolio, including derivatives and pension 

loans, consisted of fixed-interest borrowings (47%). Pension loans are clas-

sified as fixed rate loans. the net financing cost of the Group’s loan portfolio 

stands at around 4.65% (5.65%). this figure is attained by dividing yearly 

net interest and other financing expenses excluding exchange rate differ-

ences and dividends by the average interest bearing net debt figure for 

the corresponding period. the most significant impact on the net financing 

cost arises from variation in the interest rate levels of the euro, the Us dol-

lar and the swedish krona.

fixed-interest financial assets and liabilities are exposed to price risks 

arising from changes in interest rates. floating rate financial assets and li-

abilities, whose interest rate changes alongside market interest rates are 

exposed to cash flow risks due to interest rates 

the table below shows the time to interest rate fixing of the loan port-

folio.

Time To iNTeresT raTe FixiNg dec. 31, 2009 
(eUR million) <1 year 1-5 years >5 year Total

floating net liabilities 201 201

fixed net liabilities 83 297 95 475

Total 284 297 95 676

Time To iNTeresT raTe FixiNg dec. 31, 2008
(eUR million) <1 year 1-5 years >5 year total

floating net liabilities 552 552

fixed net liabilities 73 320 104 497

Total 625 320 104 1,049
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Kemira’s salt purchase agreement from 2009 includes an embedded de-

rivative. the variable pricing component is dependent on the development 

of lfsO (low sulphur fuel Oil) index in euros, thus there is an exposure both 

to the oil price and the eUR/Usd exchange rate. a 10% increase in the eu-

ro value of the lfsO index would impact the valuation of the embedded 

derivative in the result (before taxes) by approximately eUR 0.1 million.

cRedit aNd cOUNteRPaRty RisK

the Group’s treasury policy defines the credit rating requirements for coun-

terparties to investment activities and derivative agreements as well as 

the related investment policy. the Group seeks to minimize its counterpar-

ty risk by dealing solely with counterparties which are financial institutions 

with a good credit rating as well as by spreading agreements among them.

Group treasury approves the new banking relationships of subsidiaries. 

at present, there are 15 approved financial institution counterparties, all of 

which have a credit rating of at least a, based on standard & Poor’s credit 

rating information. a counterparty with a credit rating below a or an unrat-

ed counterparty requires the separate approval of the Board of directors. 

the maximum risk assignable to the Group’s financial institution counter-

parties on the balance sheet date amounted to eUR 281.0 million on the 

balance sheet date (143.6). Kemira monitors its counterparty risk on a 

monthly basis by defining the maximum risk associated with each coun-

terparty, based on the market value of receivables. for each financial insti-

tution, Kemira has defined an approved limit. credit risks associated with 

financing transactions did not result in credit losses during the financial year.

the counterparty risk in treasury operations is due to the fact that a 

contractual party to a financing transaction is not necessarily able to ful-

fill its contractual obligations. Risks are mainly related to investment activi-

ties and the counterparty risks associated with derivative contracts. Group 

treasury may invest a maximum of eUR 150 million in liquid assets in the 

commercial papers of finnish companies. the maximum investment in a 

single company totals eUR 30 million for a period of up to six months. the 

Group’s credit risk equals the amount of its financial receivables on de-

cember 31, 2009.

Kemira has a Group wide credit policy in place. Products are sold only to 

companies whose credit information does not indicate payment irregulari-

ties. the Group does not have any significant credit risk concentrations be-

cause of its extensive customer base spread across the world. credit limits 

apply to most customers and are monitored systematically. in some cases, 

documentary payments are in use, such as letters of credit. the age dis-

tribution of trade receivables outstanding at the end of 2009 is shown in 

the following table.

ageiNg oF Trade receivables 2009 2008

Undue trade receivables 285.8 299.1

trade receivables 1–90 days overdue 44.6 77.7

trade receivables more than 91 days overdue 13.9 19.7

Total 344.3 396.5

impairment loss of trade receivables amounted to eUR 9.6 million  
(eUR 6.4 million).

the proportion of fixed-interest loans in the loan portfolio has been in-

creased by means of interest rate derivatives. as a consequence of this 

treasury policy, the Group’s average interest rate is generally higher than 

short-term market interest rates when low rates prevail and, on the other 

hand, lower than market interest rates when high rates prevail. if interest 

rates rose by one percentage point on january 1, 2009, the resulting inter-

est expenses before taxes incurred by the Group over the next 12 months 

would increase by about eUR 1.6 million (5.0 million). during 2010, Kemira 

will re-price 40% (59%) of the Group’s net debt portfolio, including deriva-

tives. the Group’s average interest rate maturity is 21 months (16 months). 

Kemira will price floating rate instruments when the next interest rate re-

view is conducted, and the interest rate maturity for fixed-interest instru-

ments is the same as their remaining maturity.

On the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding interest rate de-

rivatives with a market value of eUR -9.4 million (-6.9). some of the interest 

rate swaps are used to hedge the Group’s loan portfolio, and are account-

ed for in accordance with the principles of hedge accounting set out in ias 

39. the market value of the interest rate swaps designated as cash flow 

hedge accounting instruments was -7.4 million at the end of 2009 (-6.5). 

the Group’s accounting policies section describes the Group policy regard-

ing hedge accounting. a one percentage point increase in interest rates 

would result in a positive impact of eUR 2.6 million (2.0) in equity (before 

taxes) from hedge accounting interest rate swaps.

PRice RisK

the price of electricity varies greatly according to the market situation. Ke-

mira Group takes hedging measures with respect to its electricity purchas-

es in order to even out raw material costs. in line with its hedging policy, 

the Group hedges its existing sales agreements in such a way that the 

hedges cover the commitments made. the company, primarily uses elec-

tricity forwards on the power exchange as hedging instruments. currency 

and regional price risks connected with hedges are fully hedged by mak-

ing agreements in heleUR amounts. the majority of outstanding electricity 

derivatives are treated in accordance with cash flow hedge accounting, as 

discussed above. the forecast physical deliveries of the underlying asset, or 

purchases, are not recorded until the delivery period. a 10% increase in the 

price of electricity hedging contracts would impact the valuation of these 

contracts in equity (before taxes) by eUR 4.6 million (4.4).

Kemira has an exposure to the price of natural gas in conjunction with 

raw material purchases. Pricing of Natural Gas is based on fuelOil and Gas-

Oil. a portion of this risk is hedged with commodity swap contracts with to-

tal hedge volumes of 6610 metric tons fuelOil and 8210 metric tons of Gas-

Oil over the years 2010–2013, the valuation of which is subject to cash flow 

hedge accounting. a simultaneous 10% change in fuelOil and GasOil price 

would result in a eUR 0.7 million change in the market value of the swaps 

in equity (before taxes) assuming eURUsd levels of december 31, 2009.

Kemira Oyj owns shares in Pohjolan voima Group (PvO). the fair value 

of PvO shares is based on the discounted cash flow resulting from the dif-

ference between the market price and the production cost of electricity. a 

decrease in the electricity market spot price of 10% would lower fair val-

ue of shares by approximately 20%. a one percentage point change in the 

discounted rate would change the fair value by 9.4%.
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liqUidity aNd RefiNaNciNG RisKs

in order to safeguard its liquidity, the Group uses account overdrafts, mon-

ey market investments and a revolving credit facility. the Group’s cash and 

cash equivalents at the end of 2008 stood at eUR 274.6 million (119.3), of 

which short-term and long-term investments accounted for eUR 202.1 mil-

lion (87) and bank deposits eUR 72.5 million (32.3). the unused revolving 

credit facility was eUR 548.7 million (354.5).

the Group diversifies its refinancing risk by raising financing from various 

sources in different markets. the Group has bank loans, pension loans, in-

surance company loans as well as short-term domestic commercial paper 

program, with the objective of balancing the maturity schedule of the loan 

portfolio and maintaining a sufficiently long maturity for long-term loans.

in accordance with the Group treasury policy, the average maturity of 

outstanding loans should always be at least 3 years. the Group must have 

committed credit facilities to cover planned funding needs, the current por-

tion of long term debt, commercial paper borrowings and other uncommit-

ted short-term loans in the next 12 months. moreover, the maturity pro-

file of the long term debt portfolio and refinancing should be planned so 

that a maximum of 30% of the total debt portfolio will mature during the 

next 12 month period. the average maturity of debt at the end of 2009 

was 5.3 years.

the Group has a eUR 600 million domestic commercial paper program 

enabling it to issue commercial papers with a maximum maturity of one 

year. at the end of 2009 the amount raised from commercial paper mar-

kets was eUR 125.4 million. simultaneously the group had eUR 202.1 mil-

lion of outstanding liquid short- and long-term investments. in addition, 

the Group has a 750 million euro revolving credit facility, which matures in 

2012. at the turn of the year 2009/2010, eUR 201.3 million of revolving 

credit facility was in use (395.5). the revolving credit facility allows for bor-

rowing at terms specified in the original agreement from 2005 and rep-

resents a flexible form of both short-term and long-term financing with a 

predictable fee-structure. 

in its current structure the Group will not have any significant refinanc-

ing needs in 2010 as the current loan arrangements cover its financing 

needs. in the following table, debt drawn from the revolving credit facility 

is shown as maturing in 2012.

2009 2008

interest-bearing liabilities 950.2 1,168.5

cash and cash equivalents 274.6 119.4

interest-bearing net liabilities 675.6 1,049.1

equity 1,268.8 976.0

total assets 2,816.7 2,859.7

Gearing 53% 107%

equity ratio 45% 34%

maturity spLit of net debt

eUR million
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caPital stRUctURe maNaGemeNt
 

the Group’s long-term objective is to maintain the gearing ratio in the 

range of 40 to 80 percent. to calculate the gearing ratio, interest-bearing 

net liabilities (interest-bearing liabilities less cash and cash equivalents) are 

divided by shareholders’ equity.

 Besides gearing, the revolving credit facility and certain other bilateral 

loan agreements contain a covenant according to which the company rep-

resents and warrants that its financial standing will remain such that the 

consolidated shareholders’ equity is always at least 25 percent of the con-

solidated total assets (equity ratio).

Kemira Oyj’s Board of directors proposes to the annual General meet-

ing to be held on march 16, 2010 that dividend on the basis of the adopted 

balance sheet for the financial year ended december 31, 2009 shall be paid 

in tikkurila Oyj’s shares as follows: each four Kemira’s shares entitle their 

holder to receive one share of tikkurila Oyj as a dividend. Kemira shall dis-

tribute to its shareholders as dividend an aggregate of 37.933.097 shares 

of tikkurila, which represents 86% of the shares in tikkurila and the num-

ber of voting rights carried by them. 

the distribution of the dividend is conditional upon the approval of tik-

kurila’s shares to trading on the official list of the helsinki stock exchange 

by may 31, 2010. if this condition is not fulfilled, the decision to distribute 

dividend will lapse. 

in addition, Kemira Oyj’s Board of directors proposes to the annual Gen-

eral meeting on march 16, 2010 that the annual General meeting autho-

rize the Board to decide upon a dividend payable in cash on the basis of 

the adopted balance sheet for the financial year ended december 31, 2009 

under the following terms and conditions:

* Under the authorization, the Board of directors may decide upon a div-

idend payable in cash of a maximum of eUR 0.27 per share.

* the Board of directors will decide upon the other terms related to the 

dividend payable in cash in accordance with the Rules of the helsinki stock 

exchange and euroclear finland ltd. the authorization to decide upon a div-

idend payable in cash is valid until may 31, 2010. 
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         2009       2008

cash aNd cash equivaleNTs book value Fair value Book value fair value

cash and cash equivalents 72.5 72.5 32.3 32.3

money market investments 193.2 193.2 85.1 85.1

Bond investments 8.9 8.9 2.0 2.2

Total 274.6 274.6 119.4 119.6

the fair value of money market investments has been discounted from book value using effective interest rate.

     31.12.2009                maturity

curreNcy Fair value book value 2010* 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015-

eUR* 457.5 451.9 227.0 31.3 16.8 16.1 16.0 144.7

seK 75.5 75.1 39.0 36.1 - - - -

Usd 256.0 254.9 8.9 9.0 56.1 37.3 43.6 100.0

Other 29.9 29.8 24.3 4.8 - - - 0.7

Total 818.9 811.7 299.2 81.2 72.9 53.4 59.6 245.4

        31.12.2008                maturity

curreNcy fair value Book value 2009* 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014-

eUR* 673.6 663.6 405.9 28.3 6.3 21.8 5.9 195.4

seK 72.5 70.9 - 36.8 34.0 0.1 - -

Usd 278.1 273.5 9.2 9.7 9.2 9.2 58.0 178.2

Other 32.6 32.3 16.0 6.8 9.5 - - -

Total 1,056.8 1,040.3 431.1 81.6 59.0 31.1 63.9 373.6

NoN-curreNT iNTeresT-beariNg loaNs aNd amorTizaTioNs oF NoN-curreNT iNTeresT-beariNg loaNs

* includes eUR 201.3 million (395.5) raised from the revolving credit facility which matures in 2012, but has been reported as a short term loan.

figures include the amortizations planned for 2010 (2009) excluding commercial papers, finance lease liabilities and other current loans.
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     31.12.2009                 maturity

loaN Type drawn undrawn 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015-

long term interest-bearing liabilities 610.3 - 97.8 81.2 72.9 53.4 59.6 245.4

financial expenses 1.7 1.4 1.3 0.9 1.0 4.3

Revolving credit facility 201.3 548.7 201.3

financial expenses 1.7

finance lease liabilities 4.2 - 4.2

financial expenses 0.3

commercial paper programme 125.4 474.6 125.4

financial expenses 1.4

Other interest-bearing current loans 9.0 - 8.8

financial expenses 0.4

interest-bearing loans 950.2 1,023.3 443.0 82.6 74.2 54.3 60.6 249.7

trade payables 160.3 160.3

derivatives

derivative liabilities -550.9 -550.9

derivative assets 552.5 552.5

Other derivatives* -12.1 -5.8 -4.3 -1.2 -0.5 -0.3 0.2

Trade payables and derivatives 149.8 0.0 156.1 -4.3 -1.2 -0.5 -0.3 0.2

Total 1,100.0 1,023.3 599.1 78.3 73.0 53.8 60.3 249.9

Guarantees 9.2

      31.12.2008                 maturity

loaN Type drawn Undrawn 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014-

loans from financial institutions 644.8 - 35.6 81.6 59.0 31.1 63.9 373.6

financial expenses 1.4 3.3 2.4 1.2 2.5 14.9

Revolving credit facility 395.5 354.5 395.5

financial expenses 1.6

finance lease liabilities 4.6 - 4.6

financial expenses 0.3

commercial paper programme 112.8 487.2 112.8

financial expenses 2.2

Other interest-bearing current loans 10.8 - 10.8

financial expenses 0.6

interest-bearing loans 1,168.5 841.7 565.4 84.9 61.4 32.3 66.4 388.5

trade payables 240.1 240.1

derivatives

 derivative liabilities 408.8 408.8

 derivative assets -420.5 -420.5

Other derivatives* 22.1 5.0 9.8 4.2 1.5 1.0 0.6

Trade payables and derivatives 250.5 0.0 233.4 9.8 4.2 1.5 1.0 0.6

Total 1,419.0 841.7 798.8 94.7 65.6 33.8 67.4 389.1

Guarantees 5.5

cash flOW fROm all fiNaNcial liaBilities

* interest rate swaps, currency swaps and electricity forwards
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33. assOciated cOmPaNies

Group holding %

BNh Nya hembutikerna aB stockholm sweden 45.1

ekomuovi Oy lahti finland 22.4

fc energia Oy ikaalinen finland 34.0

fc Power Oy ikaalinen finland 34.0

Galvatek technology Oy lahti finland 39.9

haapaveden Puhdistamo Oy haapavesi finland 40.5

haapaveden ymparistöpalvelut Oy haapavesi finland 40.5

honkalahden teollisuuslaituri Oy joutseno finland 50.0

Kemwater Phil., corp. manila Philippines 40.0

PPhU Polifarb sp.z.o.o. Gliwice Poland 20.4

sachtleben Gmbh frankfurt am main Germany 39.0

White Pigment llc Princeton Nj United states 39.0

2009 2008

assets 676.1 883.4

liabilities 614.6 516.9

Revenue 486.1 187.0

Net profit for the period -5.3 -7.4

The FollowiNg TraNsacTioNs TooK place wiTh associaTed compaNies:

sale of goods 96.5 35.1

Total sales 96.5 35.1

Purchase of goods 67.2 24.4

Total purchases 67.2 24.4

No services were sold to associates in 2009, nor were any services acquired from associates.

Receivables from associates in 2009 were eUR 19.5 million (eUR 33.8 million) and liabilities for associates were eUR 16.0 million (eUR 16.7 million).  
 

summarised FiNaNcial iNFormaTioN oF associaTes (compaNies’ ToTal amouNTs)
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NOtes tO cONsOlidated fiNaNcial statemeNts
(eUR million)

34. jOiNt veNtURes — NOtes tO cONsOlidated fiNaNcial statemeNts

34. jOiNt veNtURes

the Group’s joint venture on december 31, 2009 was alcro-Parti aB. tikkurila jUB Romania s.R.l. was a joint venture until august 31, 2009. OOO 
sto-tikkurila was divested in 2008. the Group has a 50% voting right in joint ventures. the consolidated financial statements include shares of the 
joint ventures’ assets, liabilities, income and expenses as follows:    

2009 2008

Non-current assets -

current assets 0.9 1.4

Total assets 0.9 1.4

Non-current liabilities 0.1 0.1

current liabilities 0.3 0.9

Total liabilities 0.4 1.0

Revenue 3.2 3.5

costs -3.1 -3.5

depreciation - -

income taxes - -

Net profit for the period 0.1 0.0

35. chaNGes iN GROUP stRUctURe 2009

36. eveNts afteR the BalaNce sheet date

the Group has no significant events after the balance sheet date.

acqUisitiONs Of GROUP cOmPaNies,  
aNd NeW sUBsidiaRies that have BeeN fOUNded

•    Kemira Oyj and Yanzhou Tiancheng Chemical Co., Ltd. established  

a new jv company Kemira-tiancheng chemicals (yanzhou) co., ltd.

•    Tikkurila bought the rest 30% of the shares of Dickursby Holding AB.  

in may.

•    Tikkurila bought the rest of the shares (50%) of Tikkurila JUB Romania 

s.R.l. in august. tikkurila jUB Romania s.R.l. became 100% owned by 

tikkurila. 

•    Kemira established a new company Kemira Chemicals (Nanjing) Co., 

ltd. in October.

•    Kemira established a new company Kemira Operon Oy in October.

•    Kemira established two new companies: Kemira ChemSolutions B.V. 

and Kemira finance solutions B.v. in Netherlands in december.

divestmeNts Of GROUP cOmPaNies

•   Kemira Water Solutions (Chonging) Co. Ltd. was sold in July.

•  Galvatek Sweden AB was sold in May.

•  Kemira sold Kemira (Yixing) Co., Ltd. in December.

chaNGes iN hOldiNGs iN GROUP cOmPaNies  
WithiN the GROUP

•   Kemira Oyj sold the shares of Kemira Water Solutions Inc. to Kemira 

specialty chemicals inc. in september.

Name chaNGes

Old name:  New name:

finnish chemicals Oy Kemira chemicals Oy

as tikkurila vivacolor as tikkurila

sia tikkurila vivacolor sia tikkurila

UaB tikkurila vivacolor UaB tikkurila

tikkurila jUB Romania s.R.l. tikkurila s.R.l.

Kemira chemsolutions B.v. Kemira chemsolutions Production B.v.
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KEMIRA OYJ INCOME STATEMENT (FAS)
(EUR million)

1.1.–31.12.2009 1.1.–31.12.2008

Revenue 296.9 285.3

Change in inventories of finished goods 5.0 5.8

Own work capitalised 0.1 1.3

Other operating income 59.3 114.5

Materials and services -183.9 -160.4

Personnel expenses -60.4 -78.8

Depreciation -28.1 -32.9

Other operating expenses -74.8 -96.9

Operating profit / loss 14.1 37.9

Financial income and expenses -14.9 -16.9

Profit / loss before extraordinary items -0.8 21.0

Extraordinary items 19.5 36.1

Profit / loss before appropriations and taxes 18.7 57.1

Appropriations 5.1 0.9

Income tax -0.6 -3.3

Net profit / loss for the period 23.2 54.7

Kemira has sent a copy of the full official financial statements to the Trade Register. The official financial statements are also available on Kemira's 
internet pages.
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(EUR million)

KEMIRA OYJ bAlANCE ShEET (FAS)

ASSETS 31.12.2009 31.12.2008

NoN-curreNt assets

Intangible assets 41.1 43.3

Property, plant and equipment 98.6 113.4

Investments

holdings in subsidiaries 1,344.9 1,346.8

holdings in associates 137.5 137.5

Other shares and holdings 32.7 31.2

Total investments 1,515.1 1,515.5

Total non-current assets 1,654.8 1,672.2

curreNt assets

Inventories 20.2 26.8

Non-current receivables 355.1 275.2

Current receivables 182.6 189.4

Money market investments - cash equivalents 186.6 68.4

Cash and cash equivalents 56.1 5.6

Total current assets 800.6 565.4

Total assets 2,455.3 2,237.6

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

equity

Share capital 221.8 221.8

Capital paid-in in excess of par value 257.9 257.9

Reserve for unrestricted capital invested 200.0 0.0

Retained earnings 171.0 146.6

Net profit / loss for the period 23.2 54.7

Total equity 873.8 681.0

Appropriations 36.1 41.1

Obligatory provisions 47.1 52.5

LiabiLities

Non-current liabilities 485.1 479.1

Current liabilities 1,013.2 983.9

Total liabilities 1,498.3 1,463.0

Total equity and liabilities 2,455.3 2,237.6
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KEMIRA OYJ CASh FlOw STATEMENT (FAS)

CASh fLOw fROm OPERATINg ACTIvITIES 2009 2008

Operating result 23.2 54.7

Adjustments to operating result

Depreciation 28.1 33.0

Taxes 1.2 3.3

Financial expenses 14.9 16.9

Other non-cash income and expenses -9.3 -95.7

Interest paid -74.7 -86.5

Interest received 14.4 41.3

Realized exchange rate differencies -10.5 8.5

Dividend received 49.2 31.6

Income taxes paid -0.6 2.7

Total funds from operations 35.9 9.8

chaNge iN Net workiNg capitaL

Change in inventories 6.7 -5.4

Change in current receivables 21.8 -12.8

Change in interest-free current liabilities -20.4 8.4

Change in net working capital, total 8.1 -9.8

Total cash flows from operations 44.0 0.0

CASh fLOw fROm INvESTINg ACTIvITIES

Acquisitions of subsidiaries -6.5 -35.2

Acquisitions of associated companies, and other shares -1.5 -146.6

Purchase of intangible assets -5.4 0.0

Purchase of other plant, property and equipment -5.7 -45.9

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries 1.0 180.5

Proceeds from sale of other plant, property and equipment and intangible assets 0.1 8.3

Change in loan receivables net (decrease +, increase -) -130.0 71.4

Total capital expenditure -148.0 32.5

Cash flow before financing -104.0 32.5

CASh fLOw fROm fINANCINg ACTIvITIES

Increase in non-current loans (+) 328.6 349.6

Decrease in non-current loans (-) -327.7 -76.2

Change in current loans (increase +, decrease -) 67.1 -229.3

Dividends paid -30.3 -60.6

Rights issue 200.0 0,0

Other 35.0 48.7

Net cash used in financing activities 272.7 32.2

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (increase+, decrease-) 168.7 64.7

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 74.0 9.3

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 242.7 74.0

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (increase+, decrease-) 168.7 64.7

(EUR million)
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KEMIRA OYJ STATEMENT OF ChANgES IN EqUITY (FAS)

31.12.2009 31.12.2008

Share capital at Jan. 1 221.8 221.8

Share capital at Dec. 31 221.8 221.8

Capital paid-in in excess of par value at Jan. 1 257.9 257.9

Capital paid-in in excess of par value at Dec. 31 257.9 257.9

Reserve for unrestricted capital invested at Jan. 1 - -

Share issue at Dec. 30 200.0 -

Reserve for unrestricted capital invested at Dec. 31 200.0 -

retained earnings at Jan. 1 201.3 207.2

Net profit / loss for the period 23.2 54.7

Dividends paid -30.3 -60.6

Retained earnings and net profit for the period at Dec. 31 194.2 201.3

Total equity at Dec. 31 873.8 681.0

The company owns 3,854,771 treasury shares, the acquisition costs of which total EUR 25.9 million.

ChANgE IN TREASURY ShARES EUR million shares

Acquisition cost / no. of shares Jan. 1 25.9 3,854,465

Change 0.0 306

Acquisition cost / no. of shares Dec. 31 25.9 3,854,771

(EUR million)
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ShARES AND ShARE CAPITAl

On December 31, 2009, Kemira Oyj’s share capital amounted to EUR 221.8 

million and the number of shares was 155,342,557. Each share entitles to 

one vote at the general meeting. Kemira Oyj’s shares are registered in the 

book-entry system maintained by Euroclear Finland ltd.

ShAREhOlDERS

At the end of 2009, Kemira Oyj had 26,495 registered shareholders (De-

cember 31, 2008: 21,333). Foreign shareholders held 10.9 per cent of the 

shares (12.8), including nominee registered holdings. households owned 

15.5% of the shares (12.4). At the year-end, Kemira held 3,854,711 trea-

sury shares (3,854,465), representing 2.5% (3.1) of all company shares. A 

list of Kemira’s largest shareholders that is updated monthly can be found 

on the company website at www.kemira.com > investors.

lISTINg AND TRADINg

Kemira Oyj’s shares are listed on NASDAq OMX helsinki ltd. The trading 

code for the shares is KRA1V and the ISIN code is FI0009004824.

Kemira Oyj’s share closed at EUR 10.39 at the NASDAq OMX helsinki ltd 

at the end of 2009 (2008: 5.40. Due to the rights offering, NASDAq OMX 

helsinki has adjusted the historical prices prior to November 24, 2009 with 

the following calculation formula: old price / 1.1). The share price rose 92 

per cent during the year while OMX helsinki Cap index rose 36 per cent. 

Shares registered a high of EUR 11.63 (EUR 13.43) and a low of EUR 3.87 

(EUR 4.93). The average share price was EUR 7.64 (7.91). The company’s 

market capitalization, excluding treasury shares, was EUR 1,574 million at 

the year-end (720 million).

In 2009, Kemira Oyj’s share trading volume on NASDAq OMX helsinki 

ltd totaled 77.2 million (117.4 million) and was valued at EUR 634.2 mil-

lion (EUR 1,028.4 million). The average daily trading volume was 307,657 

(464,022) shares.

Up-to-date information on Kemira’s share price is available on the com-

pany’s website at www.kemira.com > Investors.

DIVIDEND POlICY AND  
DIVIDEND DISTRIbUTION

Kemira Oyj’s board of Directors proposes to the Annual general Meeting to 

be held on March 16, 2010 that dividend on the basis of the adopted bal-

ance sheet for the financial year ended December 31, 2009 shall be paid 

in Tikkurila Oyj’s shares as follows:

Each four Kemira’s shares entitle their holder to receive one share of Tik-

kurila Oyj as a dividend. Kemira shall distribute to its shareholders as divi-

dend an aggregate of 37.933.097 shares of Tikkurila, which represents 86% 

of the shares in Tikkurila and the number of voting rights carried by them.

 The dividend payable in Tikkurila’s shares will be paid to each sharehold-

er who is registered in the Company’s Shareholder Register maintained by 

Euroclear Finland ltd on the record date, March 19, 2010. The board of Di-

rectors proposes that the dividend be paid on March 26, 2010.

The distribution of the dividend is conditional upon the approval of Tik-

kurila’s shares to trading on the official list of NASDAq OMX helsinki by 

May 31, 2010. If this condition is not fulfilled, the decision to distribute div-

idend will lapse.

BOARD PROPOSAL fOR DIvIDEND AUThORIzATION 

Kemira Oyj’s board of Directors proposes to the Annual general Meeting 

on March 16, 2010 that the Annual general Meeting authorize the board 

to decide upon a dividend payable in cash on the basis of the adopted bal-

ance sheet for the financial year ended December 31, 2009 under the fol-

lowing terms and conditions:

-  Under the authorization, the board of Directors may decide upon a div-

idend payable in cash of a maximum of EUR 0.27 per share. 

-  The board of Directors will decide upon the other terms related to the 

dividend payable in cash in accordance with the Rules of the helsinki 

Stock Exchange and Euroclear Finland ltd. The authorization to decide 

upon a dividend payable in cash is valid until May 31, 2010.

In 2008 the dividend was EUR 0.25 per share. The dividend record date 

was April 15, 2009, and the payment (totaling EUR 30.3 million) date was 

April 22, 2009.

Kemira’s aim is to distribute 40-60% of the operative net profit as div-

idend. 

RIghTS OFFERINg

On November 23, 2009, the board of Directors decided on a rights offering 

based on an authorization given by the Extraordinary general Meeting on 

the same day. Kemira’s shareholders were able to subscribe for one new 

share for every four shares held on the record date on November 26, 2009. 

The subscription price was EUR 6.60 per share and the subscription period 

was between December 1 and 18, 2009. As a result of the rights offering 

Kemira’s total number of shares rose to 155,342,557 shares. The shares 

subscribed for in the rights offering entitle to any possible dividends and 

profit distribution and generate all other shareholder rights.

Trading with temporary shares corresponding with the shares subscribed 

for with the subscription rights began as its own series on December 21, 

2009. The temporary shares were combined with Kemira shares on De-

cember 30, 2009 and trading with the new shares commenced.

Kemira raised net capital of approximately EUR 196 million from the 

rights offering. The proceeds of the rights offering are to support Kemira’s 

growth strategy and vision to be a leading water chemistry company, to 

enable the separation and listing of Tikkurila and to strengthen Kemira’s 

balance sheet.

bOARD AUThORIzATIONS

The Annual general Meeting on April 8, 2009 authorized the board to de-

cide upon the repurchase of a maximum of 2,395,229 treasury shares 

(“Share repurchases authorization”). Shares will be repurchased by us-

ing unrestricted equity either through a direct offer with equal terms to 

all shareholder at a price determined by the board of Directors or other-

wise than in proportion to the existing shareholdings of the Company’s 

shareholders in public trading on the NASDAq OMX helsinki ltd (“Stock Ex-

change”) at the market price quoted at the time of the repurchase. Shares 

ShARES AND ShAREhOlDERS
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shall be acquired and paid for in accordance with the Rules of Stock Ex-

change and Euroclear Finland ltd. Shares may be repurchased to be used in 

implementing or financing mergers and acquisitions, developing the Com-

pany’s capital structure, improving the liquidity of the Company’s shares or 

implementing the Company’s share-based incentive plans. In order to re-

alize the aforementioned purposes the shares acquired may be retained, 

transferred further or cancelled by the Company. The board of Directors 

will decide upon other terms related to share repurchase. The Share repur-

chase authorization is valid until the end of the next Annual general Meet-

ing. The board had not exercised its authorization by December 31, 2009.

Furthermore, the Annual general Meeting authorized the board to de-

cide to issue a maximum of 12,500,000 new shares and transfer a max-

imum of 6,250,000 treasury shares held by the Company (“Share issue 

authorization”). The new shares may be issued and the Company’s own 

shares held by the Company may be transferred either against payment 

or, as part of the implementation of the Company’s share-based incentive 

plans, without payment. Said new shares may be issued and said Compa-

ny's own shares held by the Company may be transferred to the Compa-

ny’s shareholders in proportion to their current shareholdings in the Com-

pany, or through a directed share issue if the Company has a weighty 

financial reason to do so, such as financing or implementing mergers and 

acquisitions, developing its capital structure, improving the liquidity of the 

Company’s shares or if this is justified for the purpose of implementing the 

Company’s share-based incentive plans. The directed share issue may be 

carried out without payment only in connection with the implementation 

ShARES AND ShAREhOlDERS

of the Company’s share-based incentive plan. The subscription price of 

new shares shall be recognized under unrestricted equity capital fund. The 

consideration payable for Company's own shares shall be recognized un-

der unrestricted equity capital fund. The board of Directors will decide up-

on other terms related to share issue. The Share issue authorization is valid 

until the end of the next Annual general Meeting. The board had not ex-

ercised its authorization by December 31, 2009.

MANAgEMENT ShAREhOlDINg

The members of the board of Directors as well as the President and CEO 

and his Deputy held 1,209,413 Kemira Oyj shares on December 31, 2009, 

or 0.78% (0.68%) of all outstanding shares and voting rights (including 

treasury shares and shares held by the related parties and controlled cor-

porations).  harri Kerminen, President and CEO, held 158.252 shares on De-

cember 31, 2009 (17,167). board members are not covered by the share-

based incentive plan. Members of the Management boards, excluding the 

President and CEO and his Deputy, held a total of 488,255 shares on De-

cember 31, 2009 (39,122 on 31 December 2008), representing 0.31% 

(0.03) of all outstanding shares and voting rights (including treasury shares 

and shares held by the related parties and controlled corporations). Up-

dated information regarding the shareholdings of the board of Directors 

and management is available at Kemira’s website at www.kemira.com >  

Investors.
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ShARES AND ShAREhOlDERS

lARgEST ShAREhOlDERS JANUARY 31, 2010

ShAREhOlDINg bY NUMbER OF ShARES hElD JANUARY 31, 2010

ShAREhOLDER Number of shares % of shares and votes

1 Oras Invest Oy 25,933,622 16.69

2 Solidium Oy 25,896,087 16.67

3 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 15,185,836 9.78

4 Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 9,153,495 5.89

5 Mandatum life 2,601,155 1.67

6 Tapiola Mutual Pension Insurance Company 2,295,625 1.48

7 The State Pension Fund 1,855,113 1.19

8 OP-Delta Investment Fund 1,716,522 1.10

9 Kaleva Mutual Insurance Company 802,337 0.52

10 Veritas Pension Insurance Company 787,500 0.51

11 Oy Nextstone 781,532 0.50

12 wate Oy 781,532  0.50

13 Oy Finow 781,531 0.50

14 OP-Suomi Arvo Investment Fund 640,000 0.41

15 Nordea Fennia Investment Fund 600,000 0.39

16 Mutual Insurance Company Pension Fennia 506,250 0.33

17 gyllenberg Finlandia Investment Fund 485,397 0.31

18 Yara Finland Pension Fund 483,450 0.31

19 Etera 462,373 0.30

20 Finnfoam Oy 382,815 0.25

Kemira Oyj 3,854,771 2.48

Nominee-registered shares 13,215,724 8.51

Others, total 46,139,890 29.71

Total 155,342,557 100.00

NUmBER Of ShARES Number of shareholders % of shareholders Shares total % of shares and votes

1 - 100 3,651 13.43 216,564 0.14

101 - 500 11,481 42.23 3,070,223 1.98

501 - 1,000 5,149 18.94 3,715,185 2.39

1,001 - 5,000 5,826 21.43 11,419,091 7.35

5,001 - 10,000 546 2.01 3,838,346 2.47

10,001 - 50,000 382 1.41 7,602,380 4.89

50,001 - 100,000 63 0.23 4,250,343 2.74

101,000 -500,000 67 0.25 15,012,790 9.66

500,001 - 1,000,000 8 0.03 5,680,682 3.66

1,000,001 - 11 0.04 100,536,953 64.72

Total 27,184 100.00 155,342,557 100.00

Including nominee-registered shares 12 13,215,724 8.51
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bOARD PROPOSAl FOR PROFIT DISTRIbUTION

On December 31, 2009, Kemira Oyj's distributable funds totaled EUR 

394,164,178 of which net profit for the period accounted for EUR 23,172,560.

No material changes have taken place in the company's financial posi-

tion after the balance sheet date.

Kemira Oyj’s board of Directors proposes to the Annual general Meet-

ing to be held on March 16, 2010 that dividend on the basis of the adopt-

ed balance sheet for the financial year ended December 31, 2009 shall be 

paid in Tikkurila Oyj’s shares as follows:

helsinki, February 8, 2010

Pekka Paasikivi

Jukka Viinanen

Elizabeth Armstrong 

wolfgang büchele

Juha laaksonen 

Kaija Pehu-lehtonen

Jarmo Väisänen

harri Kerminen
CEO

 Each four Kemira’s shares entitle their holder to receive one share of 

Tikkurila Oyj as a dividend. Kemira shall distribute to its shareholders as 

dividend an aggregate of 37.933.097 shares of Tikkurila, which represents 

86% of the shares in Tikkurila and the number of voting rights carried by 

them.

 The distribution of the dividend is conditional upon the approval of Tik-

kurila’s shares to trading on the official list of the helsinki Stock Exchange 

by May 31, 2010. If this condition is not fulfilled, the decision to distribute 

dividend will lapse.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

helsinki, February 8, 2010
KPMg OY Ab

Pekka Pajamo
Authorized Public Accountant

TO ThE ANNUAl gENERAl MEETINg  
OF KEMIRA OYJ

we have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, the re-

port of the board of Directors, and the administration of Kemira Oyj for the 

year ended on December 31, 2009. The financial statements comprise the 

consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income statement, statement of 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash 

flows and notes to the consolidated financial statements, as well as the 

parent company's balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement 

and notes to the financial statements.

ThE RESPONSIbIlITY OF ThE bOARD OF  
DIRECTORS AND ThE PRESIDENT AND CEO

The board of Directors and the President and CEO are responsible for the 

preparation of the financial statements and the report of the board of Di-

rectors and for the fair presentation of the consolidated financial state-

ments in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IF-

RS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for the fair presentation of the parent 

company’s financial statements and the report of the board of Directors in 

accordance with laws and regulations governing the preparation of the fi-

nancial statements and the report of the board of Directors in Finland. The 

board of Directors is responsible for the appropriate arrangement of the 

control of the company’s accounts and finances, and the President and CEO 

shall see to it that the accounts of the company are in compliance with the 

law and that its financial affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIbIlITY

Our responsibility is to perform an audit in accordance with good auditing 

practice in Finland, and to express an opinion on the parent company’s fi-

nancial statements, on the consolidated financial statements and on the 

report of the board of Directors based on our audit. good auditing practice 

requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements 

and the report of the board of Directors are free from material misstate-

ment and whether the members of the board of Directors of the parent 

company and the President and CEO have complied with the limited lia-

bility Companies Act.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the report 

of the board of Directors. The procedures selected depend on the audi-

tor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstate-

ment of the financial statements or of the report of the board of Directors, 

whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the au-

ditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements and the report of the board of Di-

rectors in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the cir-

cumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of ac-

counting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 

the financial statements and the report of the board of Directors.

The audit was performed in accordance with good auditing practice in 

Finland. we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION ON ThE CONSOlIDATED  
FINANCIAl STATEMENTS

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair 

view of the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows of the 

group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

as adopted by the EU.

OPINION ON ThE COMPANY’S FINANCIAl 
STATEMENTS AND ThE REPORT  
OF ThE bOARD OF DIRECTORS

In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the board of Di-

rectors give a true and fair view of both the consolidated and the parent 

company’s financial performance and financial position in accordance with 

the laws and regulations governing the preparation of the financial state-

ments and the report of the board of Directors in Finland. The information 

in the report of the board of Directors is consistent with the information in 

the financial statements.

OPINION ON ThE DISChARgE FROM lIAbIlITY 
AND DISPOSAl OF DISTRIbUTAblE FUNDS

The consolidated financial statements and the parent company’s financial 

statements can be adopted and the members of the board of Directors 

and the President and CEO of the parent company can be discharged from 

liability for the period audited by us. The proposal by the board of Directors 

regarding the disposal of distributable funds is in compliance with the lim-

ited liability Companies Act.
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2009 2008

1–3 4–6 7–9 10–12 Total 1–3 4–6 7–9 10–12 Total

reveNue

Paper 225.0 221.6 230.2 229.6 906.4 247.7 241.1 267.7 246.8 1,003.3

Municipal & Industrial 150.7 160.7 155.5 140.6 607.5 136.3 144.4 156.0 147.0 583.7

Oil & Mining 54.4 55.2 56.0 69.4 235.0 67.5 66.8 74.5 66.6 275.4

Tikkurila 111.2 162.4 158.1 98.5 530.2 145.2 205.7 193.7 103.5 648.1

Other 67.4 51.0 46.0 56.6 221.0 86.9 83.5 88.1 63.7 322.2

Total 608.7 650.9 645.8 594.7 2,500.1 683.6 741.5 780.0 627.6 2,832.7

operatiNg profit 

Paper 7.5 8.0 14.8 9.8 40.1 12.4 7.6 10.9 -33.5 -2.6

Municipal & Industrial 10.4 18.2 24.9 6.3 59.8 6.6 4.7 7.3 -13.3 5.3

Oil & Mining 2.0 3.2 3.5 11.2 19.9 3.8 2.4 3.4 -7.7 1.9

Tikkurila 4.0 22.1 26.3 -4.7 47.7 11.7 29.7 30.4 -12.6 59.2

Other including eliminations 4.2 -0.1 -4.2 -10.0 -10.1 -1.5 -5.1 17.8 -1.0 10.2

Total continuing operations 28.1 51.4 65.3 12.6 157.4 33.0 39.3 69.8 -68.1 74.0

Financial income and expenses, net -16.1 -10.6 -11.0 -12.1 -49.8 -11.2 -13.9 -20.7 -23.7 -69.5

Share of profit or loss of associates -3.8 -1.2 -0.5 0.8 -4.7 0.1 0.2 -0.3 -2.7 -2.7

Profit before tax 8.2 39.6 53.8 1.3 102.9 21.9 25.6 48.8 -94.5 1.8

Income tax -2.1 -10.1 -13.2 8.0 -17.4 -5.9 -6.7 -13.4 26.0 0.0

Net profit for the period 6.1 29.5 40.6 9.3 85.5 16.0 18.9 35.4 -68.5 1.8

attributabLe to:

Equity holders of the parent 5.7 28.4 39.3 8.4 81.8 14.8 17.6 34.4 -68.6 -1.8

Minority interests 0.4 1.1 1.3 0.9 3.7 1.2 1.3 1.0 0.1 3.6

Net profit for the period 6.1 29.5 40.6 9.3 85.5 16.0 18.9 35.4 -68.5 1.8

Earnings per share, diluted, EUR 0.04 0.21 0.30 0.06 0.61 0.11 0.13 0.27 -0.52 -0.01

Capital employed, rolling 1,963.3 2,062.8

Return on capital employed (ROCE), % 7.8,% 3.5,%

qUARTERlY EARNINgS PERFORMANCE
(EUR million)

(The figures are unaudited)
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FINANCIAl REPORTS IN 2010

Kemira will publish three interim reports in 2010.

April 29, 2010 Interim report for January–March

July 29, 2010  Interim report for January–June

October 28, 2010  Interim report for January–September

The interim reports and related presentation material are available on Ke-

mira’s website at www.kemira.com. here you can also find Kemira's press 

releases, Annual Reports, Environmental Report and other investor infor-

mation. On this site, visitors can register to receive press releases by e-mail 

and order the company’s Annual Reports. Annual Reports can also be or-

dered from Kemira Oyj, group Communications, tel. +358 10 8611.

INVESTOR RElATIONS

The purpose of Kemira’s investor relations is to provide capital markets 

with information on the company and its operating environment, and to 

serve Kemira’s shareholders and other operators in the capital markets. In 

these activities, the objective is to provide reliable and up-to-date infor-

mation on a regular and equal basis in order to give those operating in the 

markets a factual view of Kemira as an investment.

Kemira’s investor relations function is responsible for investor relations 

and daily communications. The group’s top management is actively in-

volved in investor relations and regularly meets with capital market repre-

sentatives. In 2009, Kemira’s representatives met with investors in helsinki, 

Tampere, Turku, Amsterdam, Edinburgh, Frankfurt, geneva, zürich, Copen-

hagen, london, Oslo, Paris, Stockholm, boston and New York. Kemira’s an-

nual Capital Markets Day was held in helsinki, Finland, and focused on Ke-

mira’s water strategy. 

The company observes a 30-day closed period before it publishes its fi-

nancial statements bulletin and interim reports. During this period, Kemira’s 

management does not discuss the result or factors affecting the result with 

capital market representatives.

Contact information of analysts monitoring Kemira is listed on the com-

pany website at www.kemira.com > Investors > Share Information >  

Analysts.

ANNUAl gENERAl MEETINg

Date:  Tuesday March 16, 2010 at 1:00 pm

Venue:  Marina Congress Center, Katajanokanlaituri 6, helsinki, Finland.

Attendance is open to shareholders who have been entered in Kemira 

Oyj’s Shareholder Register, maintained by Euroclear Finland ltd, by March 

4, 2010. Shareholders wishing to attend the meeting must register their 

attendance by 4 p.m. Finnish time on March 11, 2010, using one of the fol-

lowing means:

– On Kemira’s website at www.kemira.com,

–  by letter to the address Kemira Oyj, Tea Salminen,  

P.O. box 330, FI-00101 helsinki;

– by fax +358 (0)10 862 1197 or

–  by telephone +358 (0)10 862 1703 on weekdays between 9:00 am 

and noon, and between 1:00 and 4:00 pm.

Shareholders wishing to be represented by proxy are requested to provide 

a Power of Attorney together with their registration.

Any shareholder has the right to submit an issue pertaining to the Com-

pany’s industry and a statutory issue for discussion by the shareholders’ 

meeting, if (s)he requests this in writing from the board of Directors well 

in advance, so that the issue can be incorporated into the Notice of Meet-

ing. Kemira will release a stock exchange release on the Annual general 

Meeting’s decisions immediately after the meeting.

DIVIDEND DISTRIbUTION

Dividend proposal, please see page 130.

ChANgE OF ADDRESS

Kemira’s shareholders are kindly requested to report any change of ad-

dress to the bank or brokerage firm in which they have their book-entry 

account. This will also update information in registers, maintained by Eu-

roclear Finland ltd, which Kemira uses to send mail to its shareholders. If 

the book-entry account is held by Finnish Central Securities Depository ltd, 

changes of address should be reported there directly.

INVESTOR RElATIONS

Päivi Antola, Senior Manager,  

Investor Relations and Financial Communications

tel. +358 10 862 1140, e-mail: paivi.antola@kemira.com

bASIC ShARE INFORMATION 

listed on:  NASDAq OMX helsinki ltd
Trading code:  KRA1V
ISIN code:  FI0009004824
Industry group:  Materials
Industry:  Chemicals
Number of shares, 
December 31, 2009:  155,342,557
listing date:  November 10, 1994
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PARIS, FRANCE

EAU DE PARIS
The river Seine and its tributaries the Marne 
and the Oise are one of the main sources of drinking 
water for Parisians. Chronically polluted, the rivers’ 
water is not easily transformed into potable water 
of excellent quality. As the partner of SEDIF, the 
largest public water service in France, Kemira’s 
products ensure the availability of clean drinking 
water for four million people living in the suburbs 
of Paris. The second plant to which Kemira supplies 
chemicals is located in Neuilly-sur-Marne and 
provides water for 1.6 suburbans.

CARIOCA, BRAZIL

CATCH EVERY DROP

NEW YORK CITY, UNITED STATES

HAVE A HOT DOG
Kemira has developed a cost-effective 
solution which reduces microbial growth 
as a safeguard against meat products’ 
early expiration. Provian is a functional 
composition based on the combination of 
two different organic salts that include anti-
microbial properties. The product not only 
ensures food safety and extends shelf life but 
bene� ts the cut of processed meats as well.

GÖTEBORG, SWEDEN

PAINT 
WATERED DOWN
Water is a sustainable alternative to a conventional 
solvent. Water-borne paints are weather resistant, 
pliable, easy to use, odor-free and do not � ake 
over time. Tikkurila’s in-house environmental 
management program sets the guidelines for 
product development, and the company was one of 
the � rst companies in the world to adopt a tinting 
system that minimizes environmental impact.

AMAZING 
WORLD 
TEXT KATI HEIKINHEIMO PHOTOS ISTOCKPHOTO AND PÅL ALLAN
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CEO’S INTERVIEW An overview of the past, a vision of the future.

PAPER 
PROFITABILITY FIRST
The updated business model adds to the 

profitability of the segment and its customers. 

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT
EVERYTHINGS STEMS 
FROM INNOVATION
Commercially-viable innovations 

are the precondition of growth.

MUNICIPAL & INDUSTRIAL 
MEGATRENDS 
PROMISE GROWTH 
Both municipalities and industries are now 

investing in water treatment, all over the world.

OIL & MINING 
A GROWING THIRST FOR 
WATER CHEMICALS
Water-intensive extraction industries 

need sustainable solutions.
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58 RISK MANAGEMENT
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PRODUCER: SANOMA MAGAZINES FINLAND 

CUSTOM PUBLISHING PRINTER: ERWEKO

SHANGHAI, CHINA

WHAT GOES 
AROUND, 
COMES AROUND
The most important raw material in the 
pulp and paper industry is used paper. 
Recovered printing and writing paper, 
brown grades and mixed wastepaper grades 
can be turned into � ber and used to produce 
printing paper. Kemira offers a broad range 
of chemicals to provide solutions that 
help produce quality recycled � ber in an 
ef� cient, cost effective, and environmentally 
responsible manner. One of the company’s 
important market areas, China, is the 
world’s biggest user of recycled � ber.

The movie classic Giant portrays a freshly 
found oil source, gushing black gold to 
the sky. When the greatest pressure has 
evened out, the oil will need to be retrieved 
from the caves by using pressurized water. 
The problem with using water lies in its 
friction-proneness. Kemira has succeeded 
in developing a line of friction-reducing 
chemicals remarkably more ef� cient than 
average. These products combine ef� cient 
friction reduction properties and excellent 
dissolutions rates. 

CHARLOTTE, NORTH CAROLINA, UNITED STATES

GOOD-BYE TO SMELLIES
In 2007, a paper mill in North Carolina was in trouble. 
Some of its neighbors had complained to the Charlotte 
County Environmental Agency about the industrial 
odors, and the factory faced the risk of having to shut 
down. To determine an effective and economical way of 
eliminating the odor caused by volatile fatty acids (VFAs), 
the manufacturer turned to Kemira for help. The chlorine 
dioxide program chosen as the solution yielded dramatic 
and permanent results. The smell was dispelled and 
neighborliness returned.

MOSCOW, RUSSIA

THE POWER 

OF ATTRACTION 

Interested in a whole new dimension 

for home or of� ce décor? Tikkurila’s 

convenient magnetic special paint 

turns a wall into a surface that allows 

you to use magnets to put up posters, 

drawings, memos or, say, recipes.

is the average daily per capita 

consumption of domestic water 

in India. The corresponding 

figure for France is 287 liters 

and 594 liters for USA.

SOURCE: HOEKSTRA & CHAPAGAIN (2008)
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wATEr
Kemira’s vision is to become a leading water

chemistry company, focused on serving customers

in water intensive industries.

cuSTOMEr-OrIENTED
customers can increasingly benefit from Kemira’s broad

water-related expertise. All of Kemira’s operations are centered

on the customer, and the profound understanding of their water

treatment needs.

GLOBAL
The company operates in about 40 countries

and has nearly 8,500 employees.

SuccESfuL
Kemira’s operating profit in 2009, excluding non-recurring

items, was Eur 175 million. The operating profit percent,

excluding non-recurring items, increased from 4.7 percent

to 7 percent, while gearing decreased from 107 percent

to 53 percent.

4 fAcTS ABOuT KEMIrA

ANNuAL rEPOrT 2009

Kemira Oyj
POrKKALANKATu 3

P.O. BOX 330
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